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Past Performance and Forward Looking Statements

The performance and the results of operations of ZH International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) as set out in this
annual report are historical in nature and past performance is not a guarantee of future performance. This annual report may contain forward-looking statements and
opinions (including statements, figures, plans, images and other information) that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may also differ materially from expectations
discussed in such forward-looking statements and opinions. Neither the Group nor any of its directors, employees or agents shall assume any obligations or liabilities in
the event that any forward-looking statements or opinions does not materialise or turns out to be incorrect.
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ZH International Holdings Limited

EEREERERAE

CORPORATE PROFILE
AREN

The Company was founded in 1965 and has been listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 1972.

The headquarter of the Company is located in Hong Kong, and has
offices in Japan and the United States (“U.S.” or “USA”). It also owns
a sizeable portfolio of properties in Singapore, Hong Kong, Japan,
the U.S. and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC” or “China”).
The Group is principally engaged in property development, property
investment and management, hotel operations and securities trading
and investment in the PRC, Hong Kong and overseas. The Group
is currently pursuing twin engines of growth — expansion in property
development in the PRC and the Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”)
ownership and management strategy (“REIT strategy”) in the U.S..
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With the change of controlling shareholder of the Company since
July 2015, a number of immediate benefits have been brought to the
Group, such as (i) introduction of highly experienced new members
to our management team and the board (“Board”) of directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) in property development industry with
decades of experience in China; (i) provision for strong financial
support for the growth of the Group; and (iii) engagement with
certain qualified competent construction contractors for the property
development projects of the Group. With the synergistic effects from
these significant resources and networks in China, the Group expects
to be able to leverage for its future development in the property
development sector. From the midst of 2015 and up to 2018, the
Group has successfully completed 77 land acquisitions for property
development in the PRC business through listings for sale processes
with different local governmental land bureaus in public auctions and
counterparties in Henan Province, Beijing and Hubei Province, the
PRC, and obtained financial support for property development of
certain of these land parcels.

Following the Group’s strategy in expanding its business operation
in the PRC, the Board will continue to identify new property
development projects and bid for land use rights of selective land
parcels in the PRC with focus on Zhengzhou City, Henan Province
and other first and second tier cities in the PRC in the coming years.

With the Group’s continuous drives on REIT strategy, one of its U.S.
REITs, Global Medical REIT, Inc. (“GMR”), successfully completed
the offering of its share and migration listing from Over-The-Counter
(“OTC”) to New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) in the U.S. during the
year of 2016. The Group has continued providing REIT management
services and receiving recurring management fees directly to and
from GMR under the management agreement. In December 2018,
the Group has increased its shareholding in GMR from approximately
12% to approximately 14% by way of share subscription in a GMR’s
public offering.

Another U.S. REIT subsidiary, American Housing REIT, Inc. (“AHR”),
owns a portfolio of single family rentals primarily in Texas, Florida
and Georgia, USA. Further to the single-family housing, AHR have
diversified its investment and successfully acquired two senior
housing communities in order to seize the potential opportunity for
the current strong demand on retirement communities and elderly
care industry in the USA for higher-than-average annualised yield
during the year of 2017.

The Company will make use of the Group’s financial, human and
technological resources to enhance its portfolio, asset base, brand
image as to creating new sustainable revenue streams and enhancing
shareholder value.
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ZH International Holdings Limited

EEREERERAE

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
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Dear shareholders,
It is a great honor for me, on behalf of the Board, to

present the annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018 (the “Year”) to our shareholders.
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RANE T4
Mr. Zhang Jingguo

TE - ITEFRTHAEH
Chairman, Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer
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Looking back to 2018, the Group had made further development with
high-quality construction achieving remarkable results as they were
highly recognized by customers and business partners. During the
financial year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately RMB601.5 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 45% over last year, and gross profit of approximately
RMB275.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately 25%
over last year. With the Group’s prevailing development strategy of
providing “High quality (& f&)” products to the customers, where
most of the Group’s property development projects are designed to
be delivered with full refurbishment. As such, there was no delivery
of newly completed property development projects for the Group
in 2018 as a longer development schedule was required for full
refurbishment arrangement. In spite of the decrease in the Group’s
revenue and gross profit in 2018, our management remains full
confidence in our performance in 2019, as certain property projects
are expected to be completed and delivered in the year of 2019.
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ZH International Holdings Limited

FEBRRZERERAS

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

With our solid business foundation basis, the Group has successfully
diversified its access in the capital market in 2018. In February 2018,
the Group completed the private issuance of its first US$200 million
7.5% bonds with tenure of 360-days in Hong Kong. Thereafter, in July
2018, the Group issued asset-backed securities which are backed by
the account receivables for the balance payment of properties sold
at the aggregate size of RMB1.6 billion in China with coupon rate of
7.2% and tenure of 30-months. These successful issuance not only
represented the Group’s new milestone achievement in the capital
market, also revealed the investors’ confidence in and support to our
Group.

The PRC

At present, the economic development in China is facing with
complicated internal and external situations. Though it is expected
to have ease on real estate control policy, the overarching theme
on “housing is for people to live in, not for speculation (B{FT
)", to establish long-term mechanism of housing control policies
and to stabilize the development of the real estate market remains
unchanged. As indicated by the government at the Central Economic
Work Conference held at the end of 2018, apart from financial
market, the real estate market was one of the important areas as
to prevent and eliminate risks. The real estate industry is no longer
experiencing a rapid growth after the current control policies on
real estate were launched for over two years, being the longest-
lasting control policies since the housing reform implemented in
1998. In light of increasingly excessive land supply and housing
inventory in the real estate market, the soaring house prices and
significant land appreciation will be rarely seen. By reference to the
sales performance of the top 100 real estate developers in China,
the threshold to and the concentration of real estate developers in all
groups were further enhanced.

The Group continued with its strategy of and stepped up its efforts
to the development and provide high-quality projects. The delivery
of high-quality construction, premium ancillary facilities as well as
excellent services have undergone drastic changes, enabling the
Group to make some achievements and gain recognition from the
customers and business partners. Therefore, the Group maintained
satisfactory contracted sales performance despite tightening controls
and increasingly fierce competitions. In addition, the Group has
successfully proceeded projects with new breakthroughs. During
2018, the two projects acquired at Beilong Lake in Zhengzhou
City marked the Group as a developer with the most residential
projects at Beilong Lake, while the newly acquired project in Wuhan
City, being selected another priority development cites, has laid
a solid foundation for the Group’s development in Wuhan. The
abovementioned efforts reflected the Group’s expansion strategy
of “Focusing on cities based on Zhengzhou (37 B ZM| - )",
which is also a testament to the Group’s capability to expand its
presence and enhance its influence.
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During the Year, the Group cautiously acquired land backed with
market analysis and risk assessment. For the Group’s sustainable
development and growth, the Group completed 51 land acquisitions
at an aggregated consideration of approximately RMB1.37 billion,
bringing an increment of aggregated GFA of approximately 4.89
million sg.m. to the land reserves.

To maintain the Group’s healthy and sustainable development, our
management team will continue to improve the efficient operating
mechanism, and has adopted refined management and established
standardized process and management system, resulting in
an efficient value chain system from land acquisition, design,
construction, sales to services. Our design department strictly
adheres to the standardized and zero-defect-design principles.
Meanwhile, our procurement department vigorously advocates our
strategic cooperation with high-quality suppliers and strengthens
its management to the suppliers to assure that our procurement
requirements of each project are satisfied in a timely manner.
The Group will continue to supervise projects and construction
quality with high standard to achieve high-quality products. We will
continue to improve the competitiveness of the Group and enhance
the awareness and brand image of our properties in the PRC.
By adhering to our core work plan of “High quality with business
expansion (B@E - ##H18)”, we are committed to establishing the
Group’s high-quality image and maximizing the Group’s results of
operations.

2019 is not only a year linking the past with the future for the Group,
but also a year that the Group continued to deepen and promote
high-quality construction. Our core work plan in 2019 is “transforming
from the pursuit of speed-oriented quality to the pursuit of efficiency-
oriented quality”, meaning that we shall implement strict control
of risks, promote reduction of waste and enhance efficiency and
effectiveness on the premise of high-quality; ramp up our sales and
recovery efforts; as well as preventing various risks with focus on
the safeguard and elimination of investment-and-land-related risks.
Confronted with the new situation and challenge, we are required to
rigorously carry out the procedure to make investment decision and
execute on a prudent basis, while intensifying the management and
control over the construction process to ensure construction quality.
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ZH International Holdings Limited

FEBRRZERERAS

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

The U.S.

In the U.S., the Group now owns interests in two REITs, namely
GMR (listed on NYSE) and AHR, which are both managed by our
85%-owned Inter-American Management, LLC (“IAM”), led by a
specialised team of highly experienced professionals with in-depth
knowledge in the U.S. real estate market, and is committed to
constantly exploiting potential business opportunities for the Group’s
U.S. operations.

GMR

GMR has been focusing on acquisition of state-of-the-art, purpose-
built with contemporary technology, licensed and specialised
medical facilities in the U.S., and currently owns 83 specialised
medical and healthcare facilities, with approximately 2.08 million net
leasable square feet. The Group expects that GMR will continue to
grow rapidly with its robust property portfolio in the future years.
Accordingly, the Group has subscribed approximately US$10 million
for additional equity interest in GMR in December 2018. This share
subscription will increase the Group’s sharing of the income growth
of GMR, thus achieving the long-term capital appreciation for the
Group’s investment. As at 31 December 2018, the Group has
approximately 14% equity interest in GMR, and receives management
fee income through IAM based on 1.5% of the GMR’s net assets
annually and quarterly dividends. Under its prosperous operational
performance, GMR will continue to accelerate its acquisition of
potential medical projects in the future to enlarge its asset and capital
base and gain recognition in the U.S. capital market. With expansion
of GMR, our management company, IAM, will also enjoy higher
management fee income.

AHR

AHR is currently 99%-controlled by the Group. Now, AHR owns
two senior housing communities, namely Oxford Derby in Kansas
and Oxford Mckinney in Texas, and 16 single-family rentals in
several states in the U.S.. We will closely monitor the local market
environment and flexibly adjust the business strategy.
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Other Overseas Operations

The Group owns 28 SOHO portfolios of commercial and residential
units and 5 quality residential property portfolios in Singapore for the
purpose of rental and capital appreciation. We will regularly review
the Singapore property market to explore business opportunities in
the market and development opportunities in the foreseeable future.
For the non-core Japan hotel business, the Group actively sought
potential buyers to dispose of the hotels or operation in 2018 and
completed the sale of The Hamilton Hotel located in Sapporo, Japan
at consideration of JPY700 million in December 2018. The Group will
reallocate net sales proceeds to suitable businesses so as to meet
the development of the Group.

Appreciation

The Group experienced significant challenges and opportunities
in 2018. The Group has been growing stronger in face of market
regulation and fierce competitions and developed in a steady manner.
On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our wholehearted gratitude to all shareholders, partners and
customers of the Company. In the future, we will stride ahead and
operate our business diligently, in return, to enhance our profitability
and dedicate to create the best returns to our shareholders and
investors.

Mr. Zhang Jingguo
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 28 March 2019
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ZH International Holdings Limited

EEEREZERERAE

HONG KONG AND OVERSEAS

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
BRERBINIFAS

The Group owns a diverse range of residential, commercial properties
and quality hotel located in Singapore, Japan, Hong Kong and the
U.s..

AEEHETRBENEE  BEMEARBLEE - B0
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SINGAPORE PROPERTIES
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The Group’s Singapore property portfolio is concentrated in locations
near Mass Rapid Transit (MRT) stations, Singapore’s railway system,
ensuring convenience and connectivity. The Group owns a portfolio
of SOHO units at Southbank which features high-ceilings and
duplexes. These units are uniquely zoned for both residential and
commercial uses and hence generate strong rental yield. The Group
also owns a portfolio of residential properties at Dakota Residences
adjacent to the Dakota MRT station.

MRS EIE S

1. Dakota Residences
2&3. Southbank Soho
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JAPAN PROPERTIES

1,2,3&4. Aizuya Inn

The Group currently owns one property in Japan — being Aizuya Inn,
an authentic and traditional Japanese hot spring inn located at Nasu,
Tochigi prefecture, a famous mountain resort area approximately
two-hours drive from the Tokyo downtown. The Hamilton Sapporo
Hotel previously owned by the Group was sold in December 2018.
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HONG KONG PROPERTIES

In addition to some smaller properties, the
Group owns two floors of the commercial
building, Wyndham Place, a prime office building
located in the Central district of Hong Kong —
the central business district of the region. The
Group currently uses a portion of one floor for
its headquarters while leasing out the remaining
portion.
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U.S. PROPERTIES

XEME

The Group owns about 16 Single Family Rentals (“SFRs”) located in
Texas, Florida and Georgia through its REIT subsidiary, AHR (with
total lettable area of approximately 32,004 sqg. ft.). These SFRs are
carefully selected for their location, condition, tenant profile and
potential for capital appreciation. Further to the SFRs, two senior
housing communities (one in Texas and one in Kansas) with total area
of approximately 98,700 sq.ft. were acquired by AHR’s subsidiary.
The Group also owns freehold land parcels with approximately
273,200 sg. m. in California and two residential units situated on Wall
Street in New York.
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Part of the property projects in the PRC
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0 Zensun Voyage Garden
EBEMES

9 Zensun Fenghuashangjing
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Zensun Shili Mountain
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Zensun Boya Court
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Zensun Voyage Mansion
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Zhengzhou Zensun River Valley
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Zensun Grand Garden
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Xuchang Zensun Orchids Mansion
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Zensun Yazhu Garden
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Zensun Zhenruishangjing
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Zensun South Longhu Valley-view Garden
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

IN THE PRC AND PROJECT SUMMARY

EHBzY=EENREEHBE

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has two completed property projects and
26 on-going complex property projects on hand with 75 land parcels under
development with total site area of approximately 3.45 million sg.m. and aggregated
estimated GFA of approximately 9.11 million sg.m. in the PRC. Interests of all these
property projects in the PRC are 100% attributable to the Group.

PROJECTS HIGHLIGHTS

Zensun Smart City

IEEE 2

Zensun Smart City covers a total site area of approximately 9,000 mu, and will be developed
into a quality town integrating ecology, health, wisdom and harmony. The first phase covers
a total GFA of approximately 370,000 sg.m., and consists of 5 bungalows and 5 waterfront
townhouses, with greening rate no less than 35%. The project is next to two main roads Central
Avenue and Health Avenue, and adjacent to the county government central business district.
It owns a lake park of approximately 1,000 mu, and will build a 40,000 sg.m. large-scale
commercial complex integrating shopping, catering, leisure and entertainment. The project is
close to Xinxiang County No. 1 High School and Xinxiang County Central Hospital, and has
its own education and medical system as well as Grade-A property management system.
With world’s top living essence, it redefines the living height in Central China and creates the
legendary taste of a town.

With concept of scientific planning, Zensun Smart City Community owns independent elevators
and wide space between blocks, creating a luxury and leisurely living environment. Underground
garage separates vehicles from people, which ensures the safety of both family members and
vehicles. All houses are built based on humanization concept from the perspective of living
comfort, and are equipped with central ventilation system for a healthy life. Various intelligent
technologies are used, such as door lock system with triple functions of key, fingerprint and
password, and video doorphone system, so as to build a comfortable living environment based
on caring and humanistic philosophy.
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION
HE T

Site Area (approximately):

T EE(AY) ¢
sg.m.

342,993 =M,

Total GFA (approximately):

mREEmm(K)

sg.m.

641,687 Tk

Architectural Form:  Residential and commercial

FREERE - E=INEE S

Estimated 4th quarter of 2020

Completion Time:

TEET & TR —E_TFENEFE
ER S SRR 21499,000 ) @ BREITEX QR LR - &
B AR M#ER—EAmE AN - —HREREEmMELD
7BV K - ASIRFE MR E KB B - #L[&=35%%4%
e - 18 B AR5 o oK i B2 R K 18 W R T i - BEAR
BB REGE : LETHIRAAE  BE4B T K
RIRGE - WY - B INE  REERN 8 EAA R —
oS R LR BSHARNEEBEER  —REE
MEBEBRZ  UHERAREE  EFRAETRAESE
SE— R T R E A @R o
FAEENNdRERANSRIES BUEHAPR: -
fieZmiE  BEEEMEE W TERE - AFEHR - REX
ANEBERE2ED - BIEFEFENAZHE - UAMLEH
BORER  RERLEMKROMEZRS  BEMEL - 88
T =B APPIE  EFARHERRELEEER
B ABROASCGRER - AU WEREETEE)E ©



Zensun Longhushangjing
EERH LR

As a masterpiece project of the Group, Zensun Longhushangjing ranks the top of Shangjing
project series of the Group. Located at Beilong Lake in Zhengdong New District and the
junction of Zhongyi Road and Chaoyang Road, the project enjoys the quintessential resources
of the city. The project covers a total site area of 93 mu with plot ratio of 1.49. It has aggregate
GFA of approximately 186,000 sq.m.. Designed by Australia PT Design, the project is inspired
by the palace architectures of Ming and Qing Dynasty with respect to its construction and type,
featuring squarish layout with a central axis, comprising 23 blocks of new Chinese-style 5-storey
bungalows with lifts. The project provides units with GFA of approximately 142-209 sg.m.,
boasting health, intelligence, safety, quality, and culture. Featuring oriental elegant living style,
the project is available for people living in central China.

Zensun River Home

IEBE VIR

Located in Huiji District in Zhengzhou City, Zensun River Home is situated at the administrative
business center of north area in Zhengzhou, adjacent to many institutions such as government
of Huiji District. The project is adjacent to Metro Line 2 and 3, surrounded by 2.83 million sg.m.
of Huiji special commercial areas with facilities such as hospitals, schools, and leisure parks
planned. The project enjoys convenient medical, commercial, recreational, and cultural facilities
surrounded. The first phase of the project has planned aggregate GFA of approximately
413,000 sg.m. with plot ratio of 2.99 and greening ratio of 30%. Styled with English style
architecture, the project comprises 9 blocks of bungalows with lifts and 13 blocks of high-rises,
forming a match of low and high buildings with closed-circle design. At the entrance of every
block, a small leisure plaza is set. Blossoming flowers, a large area of lawn, and lush trees bring
you special mind experience when you come home every time.
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Zhengzhou
RN

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

« BBEET

Site Area (approximately):

T HbEAE(4Y)
sg.m.

62,286 sam,

Total GFA (approximately):

REEEE(R) -

sg.m.

185,842 .

Architectural Form:  Residential

£ F=

Estimated 4th quarter of 2019

Completion Time:

TEET R TR ZE-NFENFE
EEESPREASBELOARLE  MAKEE LIRIER
Zolze i) IEE o FEREBI MR LI - R R B
HGEL e TR AER - JAE @5 ETE 193
Bl ATER.49  MIREEIRL18.6E T K o HEEE 5
AR AR SIREEMRS  ADAE2E2EEMH - e
TIE - BIRRE - UREESFIRE - RE2SRAEN T E
R o BEEMMEA142-200F FARARFE @ [FisFRIER
BoBER ZEE - MBS AXNGETEERREK - R
TSR - BRRRAML ©

HEBN

THEAE(R))
98,973

R EEE (%)
413,205

Architectural Form:
JREEFRE -

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

Zhengzhou
BB N

Site Area (approximately):

sqg.m.
FFK

Total GFA (approximately):

sg.m.
Tk
Residential
F=E

Estimated 4th quarter of 2019

Completion Time:

Ta Tk TR fE —E-NFENEFE
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ZH International Holdings Limited
EEEREZERERAE

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

IN THE PRC AND PROJECT SUMMARY

EHEz=EREEERE

Zensun Voyage Garden

1E 729 B i £ 58

Zensun Voyage Garden consists of 7 buildings with plot ratio of 2.99, covering 4 high-rise residential and
supporting properties. The project is about 3.5 kilometres away from the East Square of the East High-
speed Railway Station in terms of straight-line distance, and is located at the Hanghai East Road Station
of Metro Line 3 (under construction), the first phase of which is expected to open at 2021. Without
commercial planning, the community has a quiet environment with people separated from vehicles.
The buildings adopt the new Asian Chinese architectural style, which implants traditional elements into
modern building system to achieve perfect combination of landscaping and architecture and create a
lifestyle that combines art and elegance. With municipal leisure park — “Valley of Wisdom” to the West, the
project enables the residents to truly live in the forest and breathe fresh air among flowers.

Zensun Longshuishangjing

IERBEKER

Zhengzhou
BRN

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
HHEEN

Site Area (approximately):

+ 30 ETE (4Y)

sg.m.
86,623 sam,
Total GFA (approximately):
HEEmR(K)

sg.m.
435,723 fﬁ S
Architectural Form:  Residential and commercial
FREETIRE ¢ FEREHE
Estimated 4th quarter of 2020 to
Completion Time: 4th quarter of 2021
FEFT & TR === TEENFESE

—FENEE

IEREMEBATREAR - BEF2.99  REIRBEEEMAEE

Y HE RS RURESEABRASSAE - EEMEI
SGERPIFIERKIEIEA - —HTIZTEF2021F@E ¢ ﬁ?sﬁ%%ﬁ

g BELE %ilu’_u/\ﬁnm PSRBT N R R RS -
BHRTEREARRBEERR E%ﬁéﬁ%%ﬁ’]n%#A’ﬁﬁﬁmﬁi
TR .:B’JEEEW ARTBARNAR -[EE82AIBEE
JEERRMAE - FEIRTETEEEAE ©

Zhengzhou
BRN

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
HE BT

Site Area (approximately):

o i E (1))

sg.m.
58,338 ﬁ'ﬁ S
Total GFA (approximately):
BEEEE(K) -

sg.m.
204,775  9m,
Architectural Form:  Residential
=217 F=

kil Estimated 1st quarter of 2021

Completion Time:
TERTE TR

Located at the southeast to the junction of Chaoyang Road and North 3rd Ring at Beilong Lake in
Zhengdong New District, Zensun Longshuishangjing is the Group’s second Shangjing project following
Zensun Longhushangjing. The whole project covers a total site area of approximately 87 mu with plot
ratio of 1.699 and greening ratio of 35%, comprising 18 blocks of 7-storey bungalows, 1 block of building

7F/$% 1R 2 R 5 A

for property use, and 1 kindergarten. With approximately 8,400 mu Beilong Lake to the north and ﬁ}k 770ERE AR - y? B
approximately 770 mu East Cannel Park to the west, the project enjoys the first-tier biological resources. T | T EME A RS DEIITJ ;gg
Upgraded based on the top decoration standard of Shangjing series, the project has adopted the Fﬁ LA%)?EP K ABFE - @Bt E A

international high-end decoration brands, creating an artistic living environment. Styled with new Chinese-
style architecture, the project is available for elite living in central China.

16

Eﬁ%$i% 7R [ I
+ L BB BT [ AL B M EA 5 IS R =
Eﬁ'f.ﬁf@@%*msmz A%iﬁn 99 © 4t & A35% *
F, 8400&321t EE/EE
EER  ERRS
BAEEMBPAEE

Gl

—EC—FEFE

BRg

26 J:%?éE/UﬂLE’J% ELESE
Eﬁi@ﬁ *”IIE



Annual Report 2018

“B-)\EER
AY I P4
EPBZYZERREEHE
PROJECT SUMMARY HABE
Land Bank
THRE
Actual/ Accumulated ~ GFAUnder ~ GFA Under
Estimated Interest Total site Total  completed Development Planning
Project Completion attributable area(sqm)  GFA(sq.m)  GFA(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
Number  Property Project Location Time tothe Group ~ Type Approximately ~ Approximately  Approximately ~ Approximately ~ Approximately
gite4r B g
e ] BEMER  4BEER REmR BEER EEER
BB/ MERH (FA%) (F5%) (FA%) (F5%) (F%)
8 HELE] BRI BHATRE fMER R f # f # #
ACCUMULATED COMPLETED PROPERTY PROJECTS
EREERET
1 Zensun Jingkal Plaza North of Jingnan 2nd Road and east of 4th quarter of 2017 100%  Commercial 47,736 292,83 292,83 - -
Jingkai 9th Avenue, Zhengzhou Cty MTEERER [H
EBERES SNmER_E  BRENAENR
2 Zensun Xinghan Garden East of the intersection of Dahe Road and 4th quarter of 2017 100%  Residential 34439 85,902 85,902 - -
Guxu Road, Zhengzhou City MTEEREE fx
IHREE INFATAREARRNANE
PROPERTY PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PLANNING
BR/BUnEER
3 Zensun Scholar Garden The intersection of east to Sanglin East Road and  4th quarter of 2019 100%  Commercial 25,357 14331 - 14331 -
north to Ruifeng Road, Zhengzhou City N19EEREE [EE
IHEERE INTERFRR DR RER
4 Zensun Longhushangjing North of Chaoyang Road and east of Zhongyi 4th quarter of 2019 100%  Residential 62,286 185,842 - 185,842 -
Road, Zhengzhou City N10EEMEE fx
EERALA SHTERRNL - FERNE
5 Zensun Voyage Mansion West of Jingkal 17th Avenue, north of 4th quarter of 2020 100%  Commercial 55,631 279,3% - 279,39 -
Hanghal East Road, Znengzhou City NNEFERER [H
B INTERETHABIE  MERARML
6 Zhengzhou Zensun River North of Lvla Roadl and west of Yuxiu Road, 4t quarter of 2019 100%  Residential 94,426 300,681 - 300,681 -
Valley Phase | Zhengzhou Oty N19EENER [z
BN EATRN-2 BHmERERN  SARNE
Zhengzhou Zensun River North of Lvda Road and east of Hongsong Road,  4th quarter of 2020 100%  Residential & 17,087 391,828 - 307,638 84,18
Vally Phase Il and Wenyun Road, Zhengzhou City NNEEMER commercia
B EATRN-2 SRR, IR - XERAR &%
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ZH International Holdings Limited

FEBRRZERERAS

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

IN THE PRC AND PROJECT SUMMARY
EFEZY=RRRBEBE

Project

Number  Property Project

R NEER

Location

BRI

PROPERTY PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PLANNING (Continued)

BR/RHMIRER(R)

Zhengzhou Zensun River
Valley (Phase Il

D TETEA=S

7 Zensun River Home
(Phase )
EEFAZ(-4)
Zensun River Home
(Phase Il
FEFAR(ZH)

Zensun Jiahe Home
(Phase )

EHERZE(-H)
Zensun Jiahe Home
(Phase

IFEAZE(-H)

8 Zensun Prosperity Gourt
IHREEE

9 Zensun Grand Garden
iz

18

North of Lvda Road, and east of Jinzun Road
and South of Chunxi Road, east of Yuxiu
Road,
and west of Jinzun Road, Zhengzhou City

BHmskersy - SRRIZRINT
EERIE  SARNRREBHIE

South of Xincheng Road, east of Yule Road,
Zhengzhou City
INTHABNE - RERNR

South of Xinyun Road, east of Yule Road,
Zhengzhou City
INTEERIE  RERNR

South of Xincheng Road, east of Xinxi Strest
and south of Xinyun Road and east of
Nanbel Avenue, Zhengzhou City

BNmHRALNE  FRENRRINT
ZENIE BIAGNE

South of Xinyun Road, west of Tianshan Road
and east of Fengshi South Street, Zhengzhou
City

BNmEERNE  RIUBIE  SEREN
2

South of Shisu Road and east of
Fengshuo South Road, Zhengzhou City
NTRERIE - BRERIR

Huaifang Vilage & Xingong Village,
Nanyuan County, Fengtai Disrict, Beijing

IRmERRAEAREN IR

Actual/
Estimated
Completion
Time

m/
RiRIRE

1st quarter of 2021 to
1t quarter of 2022

WIEE-ERE
N0EE-ZR

th quarter of 2019
NI9EEMER

th quarter of 2021
ANEELER

3rdl quarter of 2021 to
4ih quarter of 2021

ANES=FREE
NNEERER

th quarter of 2021

NANEEMER

2nd quarter of 2020

NNEE-ZR

2nd quarter of 2021
NNEEZFE

Interest

attributable
to the Group

e
RER%
L

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Type

fig

Residential
[z

Residential
[z

Residential
i

Residential &
commercial
fz A%

Residential &
commercial
fz A%

Residential
[z

Residential
[z

Total site
area (sq.m.)
Approximately

SUATR
(#5%)
§

135,308

98,973

84,310

173,983

55,088

8,051

Total
GFA (sq.m.)

Accumulated
completed
GFA (sq.m.)

Approximately ~ Approximately

s25ER
(75%)
m

310,702

413,200

312,830

674,804

134,577

38,659

171,262

ZEERT
BEER
(F5%)

f

Land Bank
T

GFAUnder ~ GFA Under
Development Planning
(squm.) (sq.m.)
Approximately  Approximately
BE% £
BYER BEER
(T5R) (¥AR)
f f
230,735 79,967
413,200 -
150,742 162,088
566,375 108,519
- 134,517
38,659 -
171,252 -



Project

Number  Property Project

R NEER

Location

BRI

PROPERTY PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PLANNING (Continued)

BR/EHMIEER(R)

10 Zensun Yazhu Garden
RSN

11 Dengfeng Zensun
City » Yu Garden
BUIEY 4B

Dengfeng Zensun
City » Xi Garden
BYL#M ER

Dengfeng Zensun
City » Tal Garden
BHEES5E

Dengfeng Zensun

City  Xiang Garden
BUIEY o #E
Dengfeng Zensun

City » He Garden
BYI#M HE

12 Voyage International Plaza
(Phase [ &1)

FRRRES(-228)

5th Avenue District, Shunyi Newtown,
Renhe Town, Shunyi District, Beijing
IRTEEECARRRELER

Southwest District of Intersection of Taihe Road

and Zhengtong Road, Dengfeng City
EHTARNEARER A AEREY

Northeast comer of Intersection of Denggao

Road and Fuyou Road, Dengfeng City
EHTERAREERRINORLA

Northwest corer of Intersection of Denggao

Road and Fuyou Road, Dengfeng City
TR AR RERRINOAL A

Northeast comer of Intersection of Hanque Road

and Tianzhong Road, Dengfeng City
EAMEMRERTRANORLR

Northeast comer of Intersection of Yinghe Road

and Tianzhong Road, Dengfeng City
EAMETRERTRRNOR LS

South of Heshou Outer Ring Road and west of
Shuanghe Lake 2nd Street, and East of
Heshou Outer Ring Road and North of

Wanhui Road, Znengzhou City

INTEENEAINE - B HIAR

L BERBNR

Actual/
Estimated
Completion
Time

m/
RiRIRE

2nd quarter of 2021
ANEEZFR

2nd quarter of 2020
NNEEZZR

th quarter of 2021
ANEERER

4th quarter of 2021
WIFEMER

2nd quarter of 2020
NNFEZZR

2nd quarter of 2020
NNFEZER

2nd quarter of 2021 to
dth quarter of 2021

NNEE-FER
NNFENEE

Interest

attributable
to the Group

e
RER%
L

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Total site
area (sq.m.)
Type Approximately
BiEbER
(¥5%)
B f
Residential 41170
[z
Residential & 46,899
commercial
fE B2
Residential & 15,992
commercial
£ A%
Residential & 32,986
commercial
fz A%
Residential & 21,210
commercial
fE 7%
Residential & 50,436
commercial
£ A%
Commercial 21916
[

Total
GFA (sq.m.)

Accumulated
completed
GFA (sq.m.)

Approximately ~ Approximately

s25ER
(75%)
m

135,392

125,666

65,159

131,509

90,716

186,983

94,804

ZEERT
BEER
(F5%)

f

Annual Report 2018
“E-)N\EER

Land Bank
T

GFAUnder ~ GFA Under
Development Planning
(squm.) (sq.m.)
Approximately  Approximately
BE% £
BYER BEER
(T5R) (¥AR)
f f
135,392 -
125,695 -
65,159 -
131,509 -
90,716 -
186,983 -
57440 37,454
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ZH International Holdings Limited

FEBRRZERERAS

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

IN THE PRC AND PROJECT SUMMARY
EFEZY=RRRBEBE

Location

BRI

PROPERTY PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PLANNING (Continued)

Project
Number  Property Project
28 bELL:
TR/ BHRNEEE (R)
13 Xuchang Zensun Scholar
Mansion
FEIHEEER
14 Xuchang Zensun Golden
Mile House
FELELELR
15 Zensun Longshuishangjing

20

IERILER

Xinxiang Zensun Golden
Mile House (Phase |)
FArEHtR(-8)

Xinxiang Zensun Golden
Mile House (Phase Il

FHTESELR(ZH)
Zensun Voyage Garden
(Phase Iand 1|

IEERER(-Z2H)

North of Nongda Road, south of Gui Hua Nong
Xuan Road and west of Gui Hua Han Lin Road,
Jianan District, Xuchang City

HETRZREARML  RERFANER
REUEMHIE

East of Laodong North Road and south of
Gui Hua Zhou Zhuang Street, Jianan District,
Xuchang City
FETRZRAANENT - REREENE

South of North 3rd Ring Road and east of
Longhu Neihuan East Road, Zhengzhou City

NI ZRANE
EiNERRIR

South of Kelong Avenue and east of Xiner Stregt,
Xinxiang City
FATHEAENE BB

West of Xinzhong Avenue, southeast comer of
intersection of Hongyuan Street and
Guihua Road, Xinxiang City

HTHAAENE  BREERER
AARREA

West of Jingkal 17th Avenue, south of Jingbei
4th Road, and north of Jingbei 1st Road,
Zhengzhou ity

UIFEREHAEIE SR
-

Actual/
Estimated
Completion
Time

m/
RiRIRE

4th quarter of 2020
NNEZEMER

4th quarter of 2021
WNEEMER

1st quarter of 2021
WIEE-ER

2nd quarter of 2021
MIEEZZR

2nd quarter of 2021
WIFEZER

th quarter of 2020 to
Ath quarter of 2021

NNEEMERE
WIFENER

Interest

attributable
to the Group

e
RER%
L

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Total site
area (sq.m.)
Type Approximately
BiEbER
(¥5%)
B f
Residential 115,449
[z
Residential 60,948
[z
Residential 58,338
i
Residential & 45,591
commercial
fE B2
Residential & 36,712
commercial
£ A%
Residential & 86,623
commercial
£ A%

Total
GFA (sq.m.)

Accumulated
completed
GFA (sq.m.)

Approximately ~ Approximately

s25ER
(75%)
m

421,281

238,003

204,775

232,406

176,469

435,723

ZEERT
BEER
(F5%)

f

Land Bank
T
GFAUnder ~ GFA Under
Development Planning
(squm.) (sq.m.)
Approximately  Approximately

BR% LHE
BEER  REER
(¥5%) (F5)

) ]

421,287 -
238,093 -
204,775 -
232,40 -
176,469 -
435723 -



Location

BRI

PROPERTY PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PLANNING (Continued)

Project
Number  Property Project
28 bELL:
TR/ BHRNEEE (R)
18 Zensun South Longhu
Valley-view Garden
IERERRRER
19 Zensun South Longhu
Valley-view Court
IEmEiRRER
2 Zensun Shill Mountain

2

2

IHTREL

Xuchang Zensun Orchids
Mansion

FELERFER

Zensun Boya Court
IHREEE

Zensun Zhenruishangjing

IEgR LR

West of Guihua 3rd Road and north of reserve
[and of Government, Longhu Town, Xinzheng

City

HETRRERE=RIE  HEREDO

b

South of Guihua 1st Road, west of Qiushi Road,

and west of reserve land of Government,
Longhu Town, Xinzheng City

HETEARRE IS  BRREDN

ERRERNE

Zhaoling Vilage and Caodian Village, Mine Town,

Gongyi City

BEDATBRENNERR

South of Guihua Zhuyuan Street and east of

Guihua Yongxian Road, Jianan District,
Xuchang City

FEMERERSTEANE - REKERN

R

Northwest comer of Intersection of Tashan Road
and National Highway 310, Xingyang City
SETAREMEERNOELA

East of Longteng 2nd Street, south of Ruyi River
West 2nd Street, Znengdong New District,

Zhengzhou City

NPORIERE_AUR

WERE_HIR

Actual/
Estimated
Completion
Time

'R/

RiRIRE

4th quarter of 2020
NNEEMER

1st quarter of 2022
N0FE-EE

4th quarter of 2020
NNEEMER

2nd quarter of 2022
NNFEZER

th quarter of 2021

NNEEMER

2nd quarter of 2022
N0FE-FR

Interest
attributable
to the Group

e
RER%
L

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Type

fig

Residential
[z

Residential
[z

Residential,
commercial,
catering &
public utility

fz &%

Residential
i

Residential

e

Residential
[z

Total site

area (sq.m.)
Approximately

BERER

(#5%)

#

43470

92,321

987,701

62,832

12,111

68,819

Accumulated

Total  completed

GFA (sq.m)  GFA (sq.m.)
Approximately ~ Approximately
EHERT

BESER EEER
(F5K) (FAK)
# f

184,115 -
276,963 -
1,192,714 -
1741m7 -
58,210 -
103,228 -

Annual Report 2018
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Land Bank

T
GFAUnder ~ GFA Under
Development Planning
(squm.) (sq.m.)
Approximately  Approximately
BE% £
BYER BEER
(T5R) (¥AR)
f f
184,115 -
- 276,963

96,909 1,136,805

- 1arm

58,210 -

51,893 51,33
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ZH International Holdings Limited

FEBRRZERERAS

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
IN THE PRC AND PROJECT SUMMARY

EREzEERREEHE

Location

BRI

PROPERTY PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PLANNING (Continued)

Project
Number  Property Project
28 bELL:
TR/ BURNEER (B)
24 Wuhan Zensun Scholar
Mansion
REEREN
2 Zensun Yating Mansion
EAREER
26 Zensun Fenghuashangjing
IHgELE
27 Zensun Smart City
EBEEM
28 Skyling Lake Court
(Phase | analll
EitR(-Z28)
Grand total

The Group will continue expanding its property development in Henan Province and

West of the intersection of Chenggong Avenue
and Maoxing Road, Caidian Street,
Caidlian District, Wuhan City
RETEAREGERNARERER
RERNE

South of Qiachang Road (Xiangrui Road),
gast of Linghan Street (Znenggang 7th Streef),
Airport Hrbour Zone, Zhengzhou City
SRR (RR)E -
ERE (IR IR

South of Longhu Neihuan East Road, east of
Chunlei Street, Zhengdong New District,
Zhengzhou City

INTERRBRARRRANE  FEEN
2

South of Health Avenue and west of Central
Avenue, and Intersection of Central Avenue
and Financial Road, Qillying Town, Central
District, Xinxiang Gounty

FRELBEERAG AL ERANEN
B RElRE B R AE LR AR
FRENE  pEAENERSHEIER
A

South of Baiyun Road, and east of Runan Road,
and west of Dengfeng Road, Shangje District,
Zhengzhou City

ST HERAZRNE - TEENRR
BHRIE

ai

other first and second tier cities in the PRC.

22

Actual/

Estimated Interest

Completion attributable

Time to the Group
A58

BB/ WEEH

BHEIRE figs

2nd quarter of 2021 100%

ANFEZEE

4th quarter of 2022 100%

NNEEMER

dth quarter of 2021 100%

WIFEMER

4th quarter of 2020 100%

NNFEMER

2nd quarter of 2022 100%

NNEEZER

Type

it

Residential
[z

Residential
[tz

Residential
[z

Residential &
commercial
fz A%

Residential,
commercial,
fz A%

Land Bank

T
Accumulated ~ GFAUnder ~ GFA Under
Total site Total  completed Development Planning
area(sqm)  GFA(sq.m)  GFA(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
Approximately  Approximately ~ Approximately  Approximately ~ Approximately
R a BEY EE
BEMER  BEYER EEER BYER BEER
(¥5R) (T5R) (¥AR) (T5R) (THR
f # f f #
46,888 164,108 - - 164,108
54,298 146,603 - - 146,603
45,505 77,358 - - 77,358
342,993 641,687 - 77,789 563,898
97,9% 195,989 - - 195,989
3,630,358 9,490,782 378,737 5718419 3,393,626

W E R RAET o

AEESBERARTEIEEAME—  E-R



REIT OWNERSHIP AND
MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

FiEREETHEEREEREKE

Annual Report 2018
“E-)N\EER

INTER-AMERICAN
GROUP

The Company announced on 6 December 2013 a three-phases
growth strategy (the “Growth Strategy”) as ascribed in our REIT
Strategy, which involves (i) building up a portfolio through seeding
and growing REITs in the U.S.; (i) developing recurring management
fees from direct management of these REITs; and (i) raising capital
through potential listings of these REITs.

The Company has so far seeded two REITs in U.S., AHR and GMR,
both are managed by the U.S.-based company, IAM, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the 85%-owned Inter-American Group Holdings
Inc. (“IA Group”) which is 85% owned by the Group, IAM earns
recurring management fees of 1.5% of the REITs’ net assets under
management. The remaining 15% stake of IA Group is owned by Mr.
Jeffrey Busch, the Chief Executive Officer of IA Group who is a 30-
year real estate veteran and previously served two U.S. Presidents,
overseeing a yearly budget of over US$3 billion to develop housing
and commercial real estate for the U.S. Government.

INTER-AMERICAN
MANAGEMENT

IAM is the REIT management arm of IA Group, led by a specialised
team of highly-experienced professionals with deep knowledge in
the U.S. real estate, REITs, healthcare, management, logistics and
business development.

IAM manages our Group’s seeded REITs — AHR and GMR - and
plans to eventually manage other global REITs. IAM estimates to
receive recurring management fees of 1.5% to 2.0% of assets
under management, varying by each individual REIT and depending
on their performance. Its REIT management strategy centres on
systematising, and creating viable economies of scale, to effectively
manage cash flow over the life cycles of a wide range of real
estate holdings. IAM focuses on minimising operating expenses by
optimising property evaluation and property management practices,
through advanced online property tracking tools coupled with on-
site evaluations. IAM sources prospective acquisitions based on the
broad relationship network of 1A Group’s U.S.-based executive team.

Led by our professional management team in IAM, GMR has been
successfully completed offering of its shares and migration listing to
NYSE in the U.S. during 2016.
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AMERICAN
HOUSING REIT

AHR is currently a U.S. REIT 99%-controlled and managed by IAM.
The primary business strategy of AHR is to acquire and lease single-
family homes as well-maintained investment properties to generate
attractive risk-adjusted returns over the long-term. AHR consistently
employs a disciplined and focused approach in evaluating available
acquisition opportunities, and maximising the expected returns with
the mix of rent yield and future potential appreciation in value. As at
31 December 2018, AHR owned a portfolio of about 16 single-family
rentals (“SFRs”) primarily in Texas, Florida and Georgia in the U.S.

In view of our professional specialist management arm on the
favourable potential prospect on retirement communities and elderly
care industry in the U.S., the Group diversifies its current property
portfolio from single family housing to senior housing in order to seize
the industry potential. Two senior housing communities in Texas and
Kansas in the U.S. were acquired in the first half of 2017. The Group
believes that a diversified investment portfolio will generate a higher-
than-average annualised yield and assist future capital fund raising.

GLOBAL

N MEDICAL REIT

4

GMR was previously a 99.9%-controlled U.S. OTC-listed REIT and
managed by IAM. During 2016, GMR successfully completed the
initial public offering of its common shares and migration listing from
OTC to NYSE in the U.S.. As a result, the Group’s interest in GMR
was diluted from 99.9% to 14.8%. Although GMR ceased to be a
subsidiary of the Company and no longer controlled by the Group
after the GMR offering, IAM has continued providing management
services in return for receiving recurring management fee at 1.5% per
annum of GMR’s net assets under the management agreement. IAM
also continued managing various fund raising activities to increase
the capital base of GMR, which in return, increase the recurring
management fee income. In view of the business objectives, recent
expansion plans and also the financial position of GMR, the Group
expects that GMR will continue its rapid development with its
sound and solid property portfolio and growth in profits in the next
few years, thus, in December 2018, the Group has increased its
shareholding in GMR from approximately 12% to approximately
14% by way of share subscription in a GMR’s public offering. The
Board believes this will increase the Group’s sharing of the income
growth of GMR and thereby achieve long-term capital appreciation
of the Group’s investment. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had
approximately 14% equity interests in GMR.
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GMR holds a medical real estate portfolio and distribute dividends of
US$0.80 per share in 2018.

GMR’s strategy is to acquire licensed, specialised medical healthcare
facilities and lease those facilities to strong healthcare operators
pursuant to long-term leases with contractual annual rent escalations.
These leases are structured as triple net which require tenants to
pay for all property operating expenses including property taxes,
insurance, maintenance and capital expenditure. GMR looks for
opportunities where healthcare operators wish to monetize their real
estates.

GMR generally acquires properties on a long-term sale and leaseback
basis which provides GMR with predictable growing rental income.
GMR’s in-depth experience and contacts within the health care real
estate community enable GMR to source non-brokered investment
opportunities off-market and on favourable terms. GMR is able to
originate property acquisitions with healthcare operators directly by
catering specifically to their capital, accounting, legal, regulatory, and
strategic needs.

As of 31 December 2018, GMR’s portfolio consisted of 83 facilities
with an aggregate of (i) approximately 2.1 million net leasable
square feet, (ii) approximately US$50.2 million of annualized base
rent, (iii) an approximate weighted average capitalization rate of
7.9% and (iv) approximately 10.1 years weighted average lease
term remaining. During the Year, GMR completed 14 acquisitions
of medical and healthcare facilities, encompassing an aggregate of
811,707 leaseable square feet, for an aggregate purchase price of
US$196.3 million with annualised base rent of US$15.8 million and
a weighted average capitalisation rate of 8.04%, enlarging its asset
base. GMR continues to seek investment in primarily off-campus
medical office buildings and purpose-built, licensed specialised
medical facilities, such as surgery centers, specialty hospitals, and in-
patient rehabilitation facilities to align the portfolio with contemporary
trends in the delivery of demographically supported healthcare
services. GMR targets secondary and tertiary markets with favourable
demographic trends.
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FINAL RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

For the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
RMB601.5 million and gross profit of approximately RMB275.1
million, with a decrease of 45% as compared to revenue of
approximately RMB1,100.4 million and decrease of 25% as
compared to gross profit of approximately RMB367.8 million in the
corresponding period of 2017. Same as the year of 2017, both
revenue and gross profit in the Year were primarily derived from the
property development business in the PRC. The decrease in revenue
and gross profit is due to the Group’s prevailing development
strategy of providing “High quality” products to the customers, where
most of the Group’s property development projects are designed to
be delivered with full refurbishment. As such, there was no delivery of
newly completed property development projects for the Group during
the Year as a longer development schedule was required for the full
refurbishment, as compared to two completed property projects
were launched their first delivery in 2017.

The Group had net other gains of approximately RMB33.3 million
during the Year, as compared to net other losses of approximately
RMB4.1 million in 2017. The Group’s net other gains during the Year
were attributable to the increase in fair value of investment properties
of approximately RMB17.9 million (2017: approximately RMB10.7
million), increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
of approximately RMB9.3 million (2017: decrease of approximately
RMB12.1 million), and gain on disposal of subsidiaries of
approximately RMB7.4 million mainly driven from the reclassification
adjustments of previous exchange reserves for subsidiaries disposed
of during the Year.

The Group’s sales and marketing expenses increased by 136% from
approximately RMB48.7 million during the year ended 31 December
2017 to approximately RMB114.9 million for the Year. The Group’s
administrative expenditure increased by 80% from approximately
RMB72.1 million during the year ended 31 December 2017 to
approximately RMB129.7 million for the Year. Such increases were
in line with the magnified business expansion in the Group’s property
development business in the PRC during the Year with the increasing
number of the Group’s ongoing property development projects.
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The Group’s income tax expenses decreased from approximately
RMB106.0 million during the year ended 31 December 2017 to
approximately RMB30.0 million for the Year. The decrease was
resulted from the decrease in PRC CIT and PRC LAT arising from
the lower operating profits in property development business in
the PRC during the Year and also offsetting effect with the PRC
deferred taxation credits of approximately RMB63.2 million primarily
attributable to the recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax
losses available for future utilisation.

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit attributable to owners
of the Company for the Year amounted to approximately RMB30.0
million (2017: approximately RMB131.7 million).

The basic earnings per share for the Year was RMBO0.49 cents (2017:
RMB2.13 cents).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend in
respect of the Year (2017: Nil)

BUSINESS REVIEW

Property Development in the PRC

During the Year, the property development business in the
PRC contributed revenue of approximately RMB521.8 million
(2017: approximately RMB1,030.2 million) and segment profit of
approximately RMB8.4 million (2017: approximately RMB234.3
million) to the Group. The decrease in segment revenue and segment
profit was attributable to the decrease in delivery of the completed
property development projects during the Year. During the Year, the
Group maintained the delivery of the existing completed property
units to the customers in accordance with the related terms of sales
and purchase agreements. To align with the Group’s prevailing
development strategy of providing “High quality” products, the
existing ongoing property development projects are designed to
deliver with full refurbishment to the customers. As there was no
delivery of newly completed property development projects during
the Year, less properties were delivered and recognised for revenue.
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The Group has adopted a concrete strategy for further expansion in
property development business in the PRC and persisted continuing
effort to expand the land reserves. During the Year, the Group has
proactively and continuously attended different public auctions and
successfully completed 51 land acquisitions through listings for
sale processes with different local governmental land bureaus and
independent third parties in the PRC. These 51 newly acquired land
parcels have contributed total site area of approximately 2.31 million
square meters and aggregate estimated GFA of approximately 4.89
million square meters in support of our land reserves in the PRC.
These successful land bids and acquisitions further complemented
the Group’s strategy in expanding its business operation with focus
in Zhengzhou City, Henan Province and other first and second tier
cities in the PRC. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had two
completed property projects and 26 on-going complex property
projects on hand with 75 land parcels under development with total
site area of approximately 3.45 million square meters and aggregate
estimated GFA of approximately 9.11 million square meters in the
PRC. The Group adopts a proactive strategy in project development
business and will adjust its pace of business expansion and project
development progress as and when appropriate.

Property Investment and/or Management in the USA on
AHR and GMR

During the Year, the property investment and management in the
USA on AHR and GMR through Inter-American Management, LLC
(“IAM”), the 85%-owned REIT management arm of the Group,
contributed revenue of approximately RMB46.6 million (2017:
approximately RMB37.7 million) and segment profit of approximately
RMB6.7 million (2017: segment loss of approximately RMBO.1
million) to the Group. The significant increase in segment revenue and
segment profit was resulted from the increase in management fee
income from the enlarged capital base of GMR through several fund
raising campaigns in the second half of 2017 and the year of 2018.

Property Investment other than AHR

During the Year, the property investment other than AHR division
contributed segment revenue of approximately RMB13.5 million
(2017: approximately RMB13.1 million) and segment profit of
approximately RMB17.2 million (2017: approximately RMB11.7
million) to the Group. The increase in segment profit was primarily
attributable to the increase in fair value of investment properties
during the Year of approximately RMB16.4 million as compared to
approximately RMB7.9 million in 2017.
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Securities Trading and Investment

During the Year, the Group’s securities business recorded segment
revenue of approximately RMB15.8 million with segment profit of
RMB25.0 million as compared to segment revenue of approximately
RMB14.6 million with segment profit of approximately RMB3.0 million
in 2017. The significant increment in segment profit mainly attributed
by the increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
during the Year of approximately RMB9.3 million (2017: decrease in
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
RMB12.1 million) and also the increase in dividend income arising
from the additional equity investment in GMR made by the Group
during the Year.

Hotel Operations

During the Year, revenue from the hotel operations division declined
from approximately RMB4.9 million to approximately RMB3.7 million
contributing to a segment loss of approximately RMB1.5 million as
compared to segment loss of approximately RMB1.7 million in 2017.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity Position

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the Group’s total
cash and bank balances including pledged deposits and restricted
bank balances was approximately RMB1,489.7 million (2017:
approximately RMB946.8 million), representing an increase of
approximately 57%. The total cash and bank balances were mainly
denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Singapore
dollars and Japanese Yen.

As at 31 December 2018, certain bank balances and deposits of the
Group were pledged to certain banks and financial institutions as
securities for the bank and financial institutions facilities granted to the
Group and also the mortgage loan facilities granted to the property
buyers of the Group. The total pledged deposits was approximately
RMB714.4 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: approximately
RMB99.2 million).
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Capital Structure, Borrowings and Charges on the Group’s
assets

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings, loans from a related company,
and amounts due to related companies, net of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank balances and pledged deposits, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves. As at 31 December 2018, net debt and
equity attributable to owners of the Company were approximately
RMB24,260.5 million (2017: approximately RMB11,843.1 million)
and approximately RMB1,128.6 million (2017: approximately
RMB1,153.5 million), respectively. As at 31 December 2018,
the Group’s aggregate borrowings including bank and other
borrowings, loans from a related company and amounts due to
related companies amounted to approximately RMB25,750.2 million
(2017: approximately RMB12,789.9 million), of which approximately
RMB17,007.9 million (2017: approximately RMB8,920.8 million)
are repayable within one year or on demand, and approximately
RMB8,742.3 million (2017: approximately RMB3,869.1 million) are
repayable after one year. The aggregate borrowings were mainly
denominated in Renminbi, US dollars, Singapore dollars and Hong
Kong dollars.

During the Year, the Company completed the issuance of bonds
at principal amount of US$200 million carrying interest of 7.5% per
annum due on 31 January 2019 in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the subscription agreement. The bonds were unsecured
but guaranteed by a related company, in which ultimately controlled
by Ms. Huang Yanping (“Ms. Huang”). The bonds proceeds was
used for general corporate purposes of the Group. The bonds were
subsequently redeemed in January 2019.

During the Year, the Group also completed the issuance of assets-
backed securities through the establishment of P&A - Xinghan
Zensun’s Account Receivables for the Balance Payment of Properties
Sold Asset-backed Securities Scheme at an aggregated size of
RMB1,600 million. The assets-backed securities comprised two
tranches, of which the senior tranche with an issued amount of
RMB1,430 million carrying coupon rate of 7.2% per annum and the
remaining subordinated tranche with an issued amount of RMB170
million with no explicit coupon rate but will receive the residual
interests collected from the balance payment after the distribution
to the senior tranche. The assets-backed securities are listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange and has a thirty-month tenure and
repayable on 31 January 2021. The assets-backed securities are
unsecured but guaranteed by a related company, in which ultimately
controlled by Ms. Huang. The securities proceeds was used for
general corporate purposes of the Group.
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In additions to the fixed rate bonds of 7.5% per annum and fixed
rate senior tranche of assets-backed securities of 7.2% per annum,
the Group’s bank and other borrowings also carried fixed interest
rates of 5.50% per annum and various floating interest rates linking
up with international lending rates including Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate, Singapore Dollar Swap Offered Rate, Singapore
Interbank Offered Rate, London Interbank Offered Rate and the
base lending rate of the People’s Bank of China as at 31 December
2018. The Group'’s interest rate risk is mainly driven from the bank
and other borrowings with floating interest rates. As at 31 December
2018, loans from a related company and the amounts due to
related companies were interest-free (2017: except the amounts
of approximately RMB25.9 million recorded in loans from a related
company carried at a fixed interest rate at the lower of (i) 4% per
annum or (ii) such other interest rate the Group is able to borrow
in an amount equal to the relevant loan from a bank or a financial
institution at the date of drawndown, the remaining amounts in loans
from a related company and the amounts due to related companies
were interest-free).

As at 31 December 2018, certain bank and financial institutions
facilities granted to the Group together the mortgage loan facilities
granted to the property buyers of the Group were secured by certain
property, plant and equipment, investment properties, properties
under development and pledged deposits with total carrying values
of approximately RMB15,539.4 million (2017: RMB10,476.8 million).
In addition, shares of certain subsidiaries of the Group are pledged
to secure certain bank and financial institutions facilities granted to
the Group as at 31 December 2018 and 2017. Certain bank and
financial institutions facilities to the Group were guaranteed by related
companies in which ultimately controlled by Ms. Huang and together
with her spouse, Mr. Zhang. No assets of the Group was pledged to
these related companies in respect of the guarantees.

The Group did not use any financial instruments for hedging purpose
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
In view of the Group’s expansion strategy, the Group has sourced
funding from its related companies and continued to look for external
financing sources. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from previous year.
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Key Financial Ratios

As at 31 December 2018, the Group recorded a current ratio of
1.3 (2017: 1.3) and a gearing ratio of approximately 61.3% (2017:
approximately 63.9%). Gearing ratio is defined as the ratio of total
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank balances
and pledged deposits to total assets.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2018, the capital commitments of the Group
in connection with the property development expenditures
was approximately RMB20,012.8 million (2017: approximately
RMB3,379.6 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had contingent liabilities relating
to guarantees amounting to approximately RMB3,699.0 million (2017:
approximately RMB986.3 million) in respect of mortgage facilities
provided by certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans
entered into by property buyers of the Group. Pursuant to the terms
of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by these
buyers, the Group would be responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest thereon and
any penalties owed by the defaulted buyers to the banks. The Group
would be entitled to take over legal title to and possession of the
related properties. These guarantees will be released upon the earlier
of (i) the satisfaction of the mortgage loan by the property buyers; and
(i) the issuance of the property ownership certificate for the mortgage
property and the completion of the deregistration of the mortgage. In
the opinion of the Directors, no provision for the guarantee contracts
was recognised in the financial statements for the Year as the default
risk is low.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are denominated
substantially in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Singapore
dollars and Japanese Yen in its respective group entities. Due to
the currency peg of the Hong Kong dollars to the US dollars, the
exchange rate between these two currencies has remained stable
and thus the Group currently does not implement any hedging or
other alternatives. Going forward, the Group may formulate a foreign
currency hedging policy to provide a reasonable margin of safety
for its exposure to Renminbi, Singapore dollars and Japanese Yen
through transactions, assets and liabilities should the need arise.
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Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Venture
and Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital
Assets
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On 22 January 2018, the Group has made a successful bid
for land use rights of one land parcel in Zhengzhou City,
Henan Province, the PRC with site area of 50,920.98 sg.m.
for residential use and commercial and financial use at a
consideration of RMB1,146,000,000. This development
project is expected to be completed no later than the fourth
quarter of 2021.

On 22 January 2018, the Group has made three successful
bids for land use rights of three land parcels in Xinzheng City,
Henan Province, the PRC (i) with site area of 43,470.40 sqg.m.
for residential use at a consideration of RMB800,870,000;
(i) with site area of 46,805.08 sg.m. for residential use at a
consideration of RMB1,024,160,000; and (i) with site area
of 45,515.87 sqg.m. for residential use at a consideration of
RMB995,490,000. These development projects are expected
to be completed gradually and respectively no later than the
fourth quarter of 2020 and the first quarter of 2022.

On 16 March 2018, the Group has made sixteen successful
bids for land use rights of sixteen land parcels in Gongyi
City, Henan Province, the PRC with total aggregate site
area of approximately 743,799.14 sqg.m. for residential use,
commercial use and public facilities use at an aggregate
consideration of RMB312,420,000. These development
projects are expected to be completed gradually and no later
than the fourth quarter of 2020.

On 10 April 2018, the Group has made two successful bids
for land use rights of two land parcels in Zhengzhou City,
Henan Province, the PRC (i) with site area of 79,585.58 sg.m.
for residential use at a consideration of RMB635,420,000;
(ii) with site area of 63,391.95 sqg.m. for residential use at
a consideration of RMB458,650,000. These development
projects are expected to be completed no later than the
fourth quarter of 2021.

On 12 April 2018, the Group has made a successful bid for
land use rights of one land parcel in Zhengzhou City, Henan
Province, the PRC with site area of 84,309.66 sg.m. for
residential use at a consideration of RMB610,070,000. This
development project is expected to be completed no later
than the fourth quarter of 2021.

FBEARE - EAWBRHEHBAR  BEQARAREE
TEURBERBRESREFEE 2 KRR S

(@)

R-_Z—N\F—A=+=8" $EIEXI}J%“’EEPI/TF'?%§B
M — i85 TE50,920.98 F F K (AFE BELER
i) 2 Ho 3% 2+ b {5 FR A - fﬂ“?%)\ﬁ?ﬁi’ﬁ,MG,OO0,000TE"
Bt ZBEEBEBR S —FENFEREK °

RZZE—N\E—AZ+=Z8  AEEXNBRESPETES
%ﬁﬁﬁmszﬁmi&iﬁZiﬁﬂﬁﬁmfé ¢ (i) o 5 43,470.40
FERAK(BEFEERM) - R{EAARKS00,870,0007T : (i)
{h I E1546,805.08 F K (BEERM) - REAARE
1,024,160,0007T : K (i){GHbE1E45,515.87 F H K (BIEE
Fﬁtm) R A& A ARME995,490,0007T ° B4 HHEEB

PRAR—E—EFEENFEUAR T _—_FF—FTEAEH
SEK o

R-Z—NFE=ZA+~8  NEE+NREINEEHEN R
’é‘%%ﬁ+/—\¢aﬁ%¢£m@%é%%7743,799.14$7§ K(BE
FEERAKLEAL) 2 MR T E AR - ﬁfﬁt’j
AR#312,420,0007C - T2 53 REIAR HﬂA_ TR
FBHEEATE L TER ©

RZZ—N\FENA+H  KEBMAKNREF B TEEE
J\\mﬂﬁmaatmﬁmiimf@ﬂ% (V{5 1 75 79,585.58 F J7 K
(BE=EAM)  REAAREG35,420,0007T ¢ (i) mEiE
63,391.95F K (BEERM) - REAARK458,650,000
TL o B S HEER BN S —FENFERIEK °

B’\ —N\FEEOA+=H » NEBAKIHIE T B EE BN
¢m4£iﬁﬁi,\84,309.66$75*(2% FEMM) 2> £

imﬁﬁﬂféé RBAEARB610,070,0007C © Bt %% EIER
BR-ZZ-Z—FFENERZATERK °



On 20 April 2018, the Group has made a successful bid
for land use rights of one land parcel in Xuchang City,
Henan Province, the PRC with site area of 62,832 sg.m. for
residential use at a consideration of RMB284,500,000. This
development project is expected to be completed no later
than the fourth quarter of 2021.

On 28 June 2018, the Group has made seven successful
bids for land use rights for seven land parcels in Gongyi
City, Henan Province, the PRC with total aggregate site
area of approximately 243,903.45 sg.m. for residential
use, commercial, accommodation and catering usage at
an aggregate consideration of RMB134,890,000. These
development projects are expected to be completed
gradually and no later than the fourth quarter of 2020.

On 14 August 2018, the Group has made a successful bid
for land use rights of one land parcel in Zhengzhou City,
Henan Province, the PRC with site area of 68,818.90 sg.m.
for residential use at a consideration of RMB2,480,000,000.
This development project is expected to be completed no
later than the second quarter of 2020.

On 24 August 2018, the Group has made two successful
bids for land use rights of two land parcels in Zhengzhou
City, Henan Province, the PRC (i) with site area of
44,426.12 sqg.m. for residential use at a consideration of
RMB241,640,000; (i) with site area of 31,005.38 sqg.m. for
retail, wholesale, catering, hostel and commercial finance
usages at a consideration of RMB270,960,000. These
development projects are expected to be completed no later
than the first quarter of 2022.

On 30 August 2018, the Group has made a successful
bid for land use rights of one land parcel in Wuhan City,
Hubei Province, the PRC with site area of 46,888 sqg.m. for
residential use at a consideration of RMB656,440,000. This
development project is expected to be completed no later
than the second quarter of 2021.

On 31 August 2018, the Group has made a successful bid
for land use rights of one land parcel in Zhengzhou City,
Henan Province, the PRC with site area of 54,297.57 sg.m.
for residential use at a consideration of RMB746,300,000.
This development project is expected to be completed no
later than the fourth quarter of 2022.

Annual Report 2018
“B-)\EER

RZZE—N\FWOA=+H  AEERNEESFEEENE

—fpmﬁtﬂgﬁzez 832 K (BEEMM) 2R 2 L H(E
Bk R{EAARE284,500,0007T © BT REER BR
T —FHEWUEERENK °

RZZT—N\FRNAZFTN\B » "REBLRKHERERB
MAEEM R fﬁi@@%é#@m&go&%iﬁﬁ(z%fsz

E BEMMBELKAM) 2 MR T F AR - ﬁﬁ%
AN K #134,890,000 T » 2 L3 RIER Hﬂi’\f T FF
FENEEFRIE S EK ©

RZZ—NFENA+EA - AEERINIEE S B REGE N
**fpaﬂ.ﬁﬂﬂmﬁe&m8.9017‘5#(7,% FEAM) 2Ry +
Hb{FE A 1£F7%/\Eﬁ52 480,000,0007C ° TBEF a2 3 R 1B
BN _ZFEFEATERK -

RZZ—NENAZ+NB  AEERKKIIEEFREAE
BE TR IB S 2 T AR ¢ ()b ETE44,426.12F 77
K(BEERH)  REAARE241,640,0007T ¢ ()5 HHE
1831,005.38F T K(BTE - #LE% - ER  RELFELH
Bi) - RIEBAARK270,960,0007T © B2 SR REER
MR-ZB-—FE—FERIEMK °

RZZ—N\FNAZ+H  AEERDEESPEHILERZ
*fwmwﬁtﬁﬁ%iﬁ%M%Eﬂ%@Z%%ZiM@
B REAARIE656,440,0007T © BET% %R B BRH
- —FE_FEREK °

RZZ—NENA=+—8 AEEXNKXEF R TFEE
INTH — B (G E 754,297 .57 F T K (BEERM) 2R 2

T E A - KB A ARET746,300,0007T © BETZERE
BN —FENERZRTER -

35



ZH International Holdings Limited

EEREERERAE

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

T

36

On 14 September 2018, the Group has made a successful
bid for land use rights of one land parcel in Zhengzhou City,
Henan Province, the PRC with site area of 45,504.68 sq.m.
for residential use at a consideration of RMB1,740,000,000.
This development project is expected to be completed no
later than the fourth quarter of 2021.

On 15 October 2018, the Group has made a successful bid
for land use rights of one land parcel in Zhengzhou City,
Henan Province, the PRC with site area of 40,941.43 sg.m.
for residential use at a consideration of RMB326,480,000.
This development project is expected to be completed no
later than the second quarter of 2022.

On 22 October 2018, the Group has made a successful bid
for land use rights of one land parcel in Zhengzhou City,
Henan Province, the PRC with site area of 14,646.68 sg.m.
for residential use at a consideration of RMB114,320,000.
This development project is expected to be completed no
later than the second quarter of 2021.

On 28 November 2018, the Group has made two successful
bids for land use rights of two land parcels in Zhengzhou City,
Henan Province, the PRC (i) with site area of 47,846.72 sg. m.
at a consideration of RMB132,210,000; and (i) with site area
of 50,148.08 sg.m. at a consideration of RMB138,560,000.
These two land parcels are for residential and commercial
usages. These development projects are expected to be
completed respectively no later than the second quarter of
2022.

On 30 November 2018, the Group has made three
successful bids for land use rights of three land parcels in
Xinxiang County, Henan Province, the PRC (i) with site area
of 30,360.30 sg.m. for commercial usage at a consideration
of RMB42,534,800; (i) with site area of 66,051.30 sqg.m.
for residential and commercial usages at a consideration of
RMB65,688,000; and (i) with site area of 54,106.80 sg.m.
for residential and commercial usages at a consideration of
RMB53,809,300. These development projects are expected
to be completed respectively no later than the fourth quarter
of 2022.

RZZE—N\FENA+IEAB » AEE/RINIEE S B REE N
—¢m45i‘ﬁﬁ$‘\45,504.68¥7§$(ﬁfi%ﬁiﬂj)ziﬂjiﬂZi

HiE A - KEBAARE1,740,000,0007T ° Bt EIE
BN T —FFENEERTER °

RZZ—N\FE+A+HB  AEERINIEE RS LM
m—iE{GH M 1540,941.43F 5 K (BEERM) 2k 2 -

A 1%E%Aﬁﬁ%326 480,0007T ° TERtZERIEH
BRZE - —FE_FFEAIEK °

REZE-N\F+A-+=H  AEERNRETEITHE L
JHm*ﬁlmfﬁiﬁlﬁij4,646.68$7§71—(%{I%ﬁﬁiﬁ)ziﬁiﬁz

THE R - RIBAARE114,320,0007T © BET% %R E
BN —FFE-FERTERK -

RZZ-NF+—-AZ+/N\R - AEERRKEDESTET
A M MR T (E R ¢ () EHETE47,846.72F

7ok REARARM182,210,0007T ¢ (i) i3 HE £50,148.08
FIK - RERARY138,560,0007T © #% % MR IRIE R
EERAXRM - BAREFERBEE DN _Z 25
ZFERAIER ©

RZE-N\F+—A=1+H AKEXRYREFETEE

%ﬁ?%%Z:%ﬁt’ﬁZitmﬁFH% © ()G b E1#530,360.30F
FR(AEEERAM)  REAARB42,534,8007T ; (i)Gib

mfE66,051.30 F T K (AEELREERL) REAARE
65,688,000 + M (iii)f5 th B fE54,106.80F 5 K ( BEE R
EEAM)  REAARES3,809,3007T - FEFTXSHREIE
BEDRIR - E - —FFENFERIERK °



(Q) On 3 December 2018, the Group has made two
successful bids for land use rights of two land parcels in
Xinxiang County, Henan Province, the PRC (i) with site
area of approximately 58,642 sq.m. at a consideration
of RMB58,319,500; and (ii) with site area of 52,386.70
sg.m. at a consideration of RMB52,098,600. These two
land parcels are for residential and commercial usages.
These development projects are expected to be completed
respectively no later than the fourth quarter of 2022.

n On 16 December 2018, the Group has successfully
increased its equity investment in GMR by subscribing
1,111,111 shares of new common stock of GMR in an
underwritten public offering at a total subscription amount
of approximately US$10 million at the public offering price of
US$9 per GMR share by way of cash.

Employee and Remuneration Policy

Remuneration packages are generally structured with reference
to prevailing market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries
and wages are normally reviewed on an annual basis based on
performance appraisals and other relevant factors. Apart from
salary payments, there are other staff benefits including mandatory
provident fund, medical insurance and performance-related bonuses.
The Company has continued to receive the three awards issued by
Mandatory Provident Fund Authority, namely, the Good MPF Employer
Award for 2017-18 in recognition of the Company’s compliance with
employer’s statutory obligations and provision of better retirement
protection for employees, the “e-Contribution Award” and the
“Support for MPF Management Award” for 2017-18 which the
Company has adopted electronic means for MPF Administration, and
has striven to encourage employees to actively manage their MPF.
Moreover, the Company became a Signatory of the Good Employer
Charter awarded by Labour Department in 2018 in recognition of the
Company pledges to adopt employee-oriented good human resource
management practices. The Company adopted a share option
scheme on 28 August 2013 and share options may also be granted
to eligible employees of the Group. Total staff related costs, including
Directors’ emoluments during the Year, amounted to approximately
RMB67.8 million (2017: RMB33.6 million).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 319 employees.
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Outlook and Prospects
The Group will continue to be principally engaged in the business
of property development, property investment and management
and hotel operations and look for investment opportunities which
strengthen profitability under the acceptable risk in Hong Kong, the
PRC and overseas markets.

The Group will primarily finance the repayments on financial assistance
from the controlling shareholder through proceeds from the pre-
sale and sale of Group’s properties, internally generated cash flows
from other operations, and borrowings from commercial banks and
financial institutions. Going forward, the Group believes our future
fund needs in support of project construction and land acquisition
activities will be satisfied by the above-mentioned sources and
additional issuance of equity securities or other capital market
instruments.

The Group seeks to manage the level of our liquid assets to ensure
the availability of sufficient cash flows to meet any unexpected cash
requirements arising from our business. The Group will also continue
to assess available financial resources in support of our business
needs on an ongoing basis and plan and adjust our development
schedule or implement cost control measures if necessitated by our
then-existing financial conditions and cash requirements.

The Group intends to continue to access existing capital resources,
and to seek new sources of funding, to maintain and grow our
business on a cost-effective basis.

The PRC

In accordance with the Group’s latest development plan and
schedule, there are four new property development projects currently
under development, namely Zensun Scholar Garden, Zensun
Longhushangjing, Zhengzhou Zensun River Valley and Zensun
River Home going to launch their first delivery to customers upon
completion. By adhering to the Group’s core work plan for delivering
“High quality” products, these property projects were among the
Group’s highlighted development projects and developed with deluxe
design with full refurbishment. Revenue from the sale of properties
are expected to be recognised upon its completion and delivery of
the completed properties.

38

ARERE

FEBBEETIENEMERR MERENEEUBEEBS
% UREE - PEREITSSRRAEX RS ENERE
Mg hzREKS -

FAEBBIEEBRERHEERNKENMERSIR - RS EN
EEZRESREBARKEBERTREBBBZEE  BEXRGE
BERRZMBEER - A% AEERERARIIHEAER LR
BRH2ESFREU LB RIR LB ETRAZE S EMEART
BTARE -

AEBBRNERRPDEEKRT  UWHEREARREREEE R
EEFEMRNERZREFE - REETSEET L BHBER
AT X RMEBFR - et RARRMzBERERR - HE
FEFAPIE IR A B SRN RIR & T SHEITRAE 5 -

FEBREBTRARAERER  USKHER IR - LAKER
w7 R R B ERRAZ T -

o]

BREAEESHNERREREBRSE - BEMNENERDYER
RIAE (BNEMSEEHE - EREEN LR - SN ERTIBRMEERR
AZF)BREREBERATPRN - RBFAKERN &ML IEmR
WO TGS ZEVERBOBRASENBEEEREAR - B
BRRREBERE - HEMENRETERENEZR R ZAEXY
KEFRER o



The brilliant successful land bids results during the Year
complemented the Group’s strategy and provided a strong support
to the expanding land reserves for the Group’s property development
business in the PRC. Thus, the Board will continue to identify new
property development projects and bid for land use rights of other
selective land parcels in the PRC with a focus in Zhengzhou City,
Henan Province and other first and second tier cities in the PRC in
the coming few years.

In view of the above substantial growth in land reserves with the
ongoing property development projects, it is anticipated that the
demand for the respective construction work for the Group’s
properties projects on hand are rapidly and substantially increasing.
In this regard, the Group will proactively seek for quality construction
contractors which can offer the best and most favourable terms
to cooperate so as to complement with the Group’s expansion
in property development operation in the PRC. In order to seize
every cooperation opportunities with different quality and potential
construction contractors without limits to cater the Group’s growing
needs and requirements, the Group renewed the master services
agreement with Henan Zensun Corporate Development Company to
engage their group members for their construction and development
services on certain selected property projects during the Year. The
renewed master services agreement was amended to extend its
effective terms for three years from 1 January 2018 and continue
up to and including 31 December 2020. The corresponding annual
caps for transactions under the renewed master services agreement
for the three financial years ending 31 December 2020 have also
been approved during the Year for further increment accordingly.
The approved annual cap for the transactions during the year ended
31 December 2018 was RMB1,133,000,000. Further information in
respect of the 2018 Supplemental Agreement and revision of Annual
Caps, is available in the Company’s circular dated 22 November
2018.

Furthermore, the Company takes leverage on the PRC property
development and investment experience of its management team
to seek development in suitable projects with potential to deliver
value to its shareholders. In addition to existing business partners,
the Company will continue to seek potential partners’ cooperation
to explore capital resources, reduce capital investment at an early
stage and facilitate project development. The management remains
cautiously optimistic on the long-term prospects of the real estate
industry and will expedite its property development and sales of its
development projects in the PRC through making use of its own
advantages and leveraging on the national network and business
resources of Zensun. The synergistic effect brought by Zensun will
improve the position of the Group in the real estate industry in the
PRC.
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The U.S.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has approximately 14% equity
interest in a NYSE-listed REIT, GMR and 99% equity interest in AHR,
both are operated and managed by IAM, the 85%-owned REIT
management arm of the Group, led by a specialised team of highly
experienced professionals with deep knowledge in the USA real estate
market.

1. GMR
The Group has continued providing REIT management
services and receiving recurring management fees directly
to and from GMR pursuant to the revised management
agreement between GMR and |IAM.

In the year of 2018, GMR completed 14 acquisitions of
medical and healthcare facilities, encompassing an aggregate
of 811,707 leaseable square feet, for an aggregate purchase
price of US$196.3 million with annualised base rent of
US$15.8 million and a weighted average capitalisation
rate of 8.04%, enlarging its asset base. In connection with
its acquisition business strategy, GMR also completed
the launch of two public fund raising campaigns including
issuance of common and preference shares for its capital.
In view of GMR’s rapid business expansion plans and
its improving financial position, the Group has increased
its shareholding in GMR from approximately 12% to
approximately 14% by way of share subscription at public
offering price in an underwritten public offering launched
by GMR in December 2018. It is expected that with GMR’s
business plan, GMR would be able to further increase its
capital base which in return increase the management fee
income to be received from GMR. The Group’s additional
investment in GMR during the Year would also increase the
sharing of income growth of GMR and thereby achieve long-
term capital appreciation of the Group’s investment.

2. AHR

AHR is currently 99%-controlled by the Company and
owns a portfolio of single-family rentals primarily in Texas,
Florida, Georgia and North Carolina. Further to the single-
family housing, AHR have diversified its investment to
senior housing communities in order to seize the potential
opportunity for the current strong demand on retirement
communities and elderly care industries in the USA for
higher-than-average annualised yield.
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Other operations

The Group will regularly review the Singapore property market to
explore business opportunity in this market in the foreseeable future.
For the non-core Japan hotel operations business, while the Group
is seeking potential buyers to dispose the hotels or operation to
enable the Group to deploy its resources in the most efficient way, it is
actively seeking ways to enhance its overall profitability with a view to
enabling the operation to be self-sustainable.

Overall

The Company will make use of the Group’s financial, human and
technological resources to enhance its portfolio, asset base and
brand image in the PRC, USA and overseas with business growth
opportunities.
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ZHANG JINGGUO
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Zhang Jingguo, aged 56, is the Chairman, Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and a member of each of the
nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Zhang is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
He was appointed to the Board on 6 July 2015 following the change
of controlling shareholder on 29 June 2015.

Mr. Zhang has approximately 25 years of experience in the real
estate development industry in China. From July 1983 to April 1995,
Mr. Zhang held various positions at the then Light Industry Bureau
of Henan Province, the governmental authority in charge of the light
industry in Henan Province, and its associated collectively-owned
enterprises, including division chief, engineer and vice manager,
where he was responsible for administrative management. From
April 1995 to April 2001, he worked at Xingye Real Estate as general
manager, where he was responsible for its overall operations.
Mr. Zhang Jingguo and Ms. Huang Yanping cofounded a real
estate company which has become one of the top 100 property
development companies in China. Mr. Zhang has served as the
Chairman and chief executive officer of this top 100 real estate
company since 2001. Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and general management of our Group and is
instrumental to our growth and business expansion. Mr. Zhang is the
spouse of Ms. Huang Yanping.

Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’s degree in physics from Zhengzhou
University in July 1983 and an Executive MBA degree from Guanghua
School of Management, Peking University in July 2013. Mr. Zhang
currently serves as senior consultant of Henan Real Estate Chamber
of Commerce, vice-president of Industry & Commerce Association of
Henan Province, graduate tutor of Zhengzhou University. During the
years of 2015, 2016 and 2017, Mr. Zhang was named “Outstanding
Real Estate Developer of Henan Province by Real Estate Association
of Henan Province. Mr. Zhang received his senior engineer
qualification from the People’s Government of Henan Province in May
2012, he received his first class construction engineer qualification
from the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development. Mr.
Zhang is also currently a delegate of the 13th Henan Provincial
People’s Congress since January 2018.

Currently, Mr. Zhang is a non-executive director of Bank of
Zhengzhou Co., Ltd., whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002936) and on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 6196) and,
the Chairman Ex-officio and a director of Global Medical REIT. Inc., a
listed company on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: GMRE) and
an executive director and the Chairman of Zanyu Technology Group
Co. Ltd., a listed company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 002637).
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HUANG YANPING
Non-Executive Director

Ms. Huang Yanping, aged 57, is the Non-Executive Director of the
Company. Ms. Huang is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. She was appointed to the Board on 27 July 2015
following the change of controlling shareholder on 29 June 2015.

Ms. Huang has over 17 years’ experiences in the property
development and investment industry in the PRC. Ms. Huang has
been involved in the development of not less than 36 property
development projects in Henan province, Shandong and Hainan
province in China with a total gross floor area of not less than
14 million square meters. She is one of the founders of a real
estate company which has become one of the top 100 property
development companies in China.

Ms. Huang is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Jingguo, an executive Director.
Ms. Huang is also the sole director of Joy Town Inc., an immediate
shareholder of the Company. Ms. Huang set up a discretionary trust
and act as settlor and protector of the discretionary trust, the trustee
of which is Vistra Trust (Singapore) Pte Limited, the ultimate holding
company of the Company.

ZHANG GUOQIANG
Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Guogiang, aged 56, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed to the Board on 27 July 2015 following
the change of controlling shareholder on 29 June 2015.

Between August 1983 to October 1997, Mr. Zhang worked as a
tutor at the Communication Command Academy of PLA, now known
as the National Defence Information Academy of PLA. Between
October 1997 to March 2003, Mr. Zhang served as the director
of the marketing department of Wuhan Research Institute of Post
& Telecommunications, also known as FiberHome Technologies
Group, a product and solution provider in the field of information
and telecommunications, where he was responsible for marketing.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang worked as a general manager
at Nanjing North Road Technologies Co., Ltd., a coal analysis
equipment manufacturer, from May 2003 to November 2005, where
he was responsible for general management. Mr. Zhang joined the
real estate company co-founded by Mr. Zhang Jingguo and Ms.
Huang Yanping in 2006 and is responsible for the management of
marketing centre and tendering and procurement centre. Mr. Zhang
received a bachelor’s degree in radio science from Zhengzhou
University in July 1983. In 1988, Mr. Zhang received his lecturer
qualification from the National Defence Information Academy of PLA
and received his engineer qualification from Wuhan Research Institute
of Post of Telecommunications.
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LIU DA
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Liu Da, aged 43, was appointed as an independent
Non-Executive Director on 27 July 2015.

Mr. Liu graduated from the University of International Business and
Economics with a major in international business administration
and obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics. Mr. Liu is also a
Certified Public Accountant (CPA) in China. Mr. Liu served as an audit
manager and a senior audit manager of PricewaterhouseCoopers
(“PwC”) Guangzhou Office from 1998 to 2009 and Chicago Office
from 2005 to 2007. Mr. Liu provided audit and consulting services
to a number of global top 500 enterprises and overseas listed
Chinese companies during his tenure of office in PwC. Mr. Liu was
appointed as an executive director and the chief financial officer of
the Landsea Green Properties Co., Ltd., a listed company on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock
Code: 106) from 31 July 2013 to 5 January 2015 and was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Long Ji Tai He Holding
Limited a listed company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 1281) from 26 February 2015 to
16 October 2015. Currently, Mr. Liu is the managing partner of Key
Wealth Capital Company Limited, providing financing and overseas
mergers and acquisition services to Chinese enterprises.

MA YUNTAO
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ma Yuntao, aged 39, was appointed as an independent
Non-Executive Director on 27 July 2015.

Mr. Ma has been serving at Jia Yuan Law Firm as a registered partner
from July 2010 up to now, and became the managing partner and
senior partner of China Overseas Financing Department (i B8 7N gt
& EFF9) in early 2014. He served at Commerce & Finance Law Offices
from July 2002 to June 2010, engaging in securities business as to
PRC laws. He acquired qualifications as a practicing solicitor in 2006
and registered as a partner at Commerce & Finance Law Offices in
early 2010.
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Mr. Ma ran projects including the IPO project of China Resources
Pharmaceutical Group Limited, a company listed in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3320) which is principally engaging
in the research and development, manufacturing, distribution and
retail of a broad range of pharmaceutical and healthcare products,
the privatization and delisting project of Hunan Nonferrous Metals
Company Limited, a company formerly listed in Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 2626) which was principally engaged in
nonferrous metallic mineral resources mining business, IPO project
of Guorui Properties Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 2329) which is principally engaged in
real estate development, IPO project of Tianhe Chemicals Group
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 1619) which is principally engaged in fluorochemical and
chemical products production, IPO project of Poly Culture Group
Corporation Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 3636) which is principally engaged in culture industry
involving theatre management, artwork auction and investment,
IPO project of Kerry Logistics Network Limited, a company listed
in Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 0636) which is
principally engaged in logistics, IPO project of eprint Group Limited,
a company listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1884)
which is principally engaged in internet printing, spin-off listing in
respect of Tonly Electronics Holdings Limited, a company listed in
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 1249)
which is principally engaged in production of electronics products
of TCL Multimedia Technology Holdings Limited, a company
listed in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code:
1070) which is principally engaged in production of electronics
products, very substantial acquisition project of China Taiping
Insurance Holdings Company Limited, a company listed in The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 0966) which is
principally engaged in insurance, and IPO project of China Aluminum
International Engineering Corporation Limited, a company listed in
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 2068)
which is principally engaged in nonferrous engineering design and
construction.
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LIU QIAO

Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr. Liu Qiao, aged 49, was appointed as an independent Non-
Executive Director on 27 July 2015.

Dr. Liu is Professor of Finance and Dean at the Guanghua School of
Management. He is a leading authority in the area of finance in China,
and is recognized for his academic works in corporate finance,
financial markets, and the Chinese economy.

Dr. Liu is the winner of Outstanding Youth Award of the National
Science Foundation (2013), and was awarded “Li Yining Outstanding
Service Award”, the highest award in the Guanghua School
of Management in 2013. He is also the Ministry of Education
“Changdiang Scholar” Special Term Professor. Before he joined
Guanghua in late 2010, Dr. Liu taught in the Faculty of Business and
Economics, University of Hong Kong, and was tenured at University
of Hong Kong. Dr. Liu also worked at McKinsey & Company’s Asia-
Pacific Corporate Finance and Strategy Practice from 2001 to 2003,
where he advised various multinational corporations (MNCs) and
leading Asian companies on issues related to corporate finance and
strategies. Dr. Liu holds a Doctor of Philosophy Degree in Economics
from University of California at Los Angeles (UCLA) (2000), an Master
of Arts in International Finance from the Graduate School of People’s
Bank of China (1993), and a Bachelor of Science in Economics and
Mathematics from the Renmin University of China (1991).
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Dr. Liu’s primary academic research interests are in corporate
finance, empirical asset pricing models, financial markets, and
Chinese economy. He has published dozens of articles at leading
academic journals including Journal of Financial Economics, Journal
of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, Journal of Accounting
Research, Management Science, Economic Journal, Journal of
Corporate Finance, Journal of Accounting, Auditing, and Finance,
Financial Analysts Journal, etc. He has co-edited a book on the
Asian debt capital markets — “Asia’s debt capital markets: prospects
and strategies for development” (Springer, 2006). His co-authored
book titled “Finance in Asia: Institutions, Markets, and Regulation,”
(with Paul Lejot and Douglas Arner) was released by Routledge in
March 2013. Dr. Liu is the author of the Chinese bestseller “Big to
Brilliant: the Second Long March of Corporate China.” Dr. Liu is
also the author of “Corporate China 2.0: The Great Shakeup” which
was published by end of 2016. And his new book “Big to Birilliant
2.0: Reconstructing the underpinnings of China’s High-Quality
Development” has been published in 2018. Besides academic
research, Dr. Liu also writes articles for leading business newspapers
and magazines. His articles and views appear in the The Economist,
Financial Times, CFO Magazine, 21st Century Business Herald,
Caijing Magazine, New Fortune, The Asian Wall Street Journal and
South China Morning Post.

Dr. Liu has extensive business experiences. Over the past ten
years, he has conducted numerous consulting projects for leading
Chinese firms and MNCs including PetroChina, Minsheng Bank,
Mercedes Benz (China), Shenzhen Stock Exchange, among many
others. Dr. Liu is the founder of Huaxinhui, a platform focusing on
advising China’s local governments on financing issues. He pioneers
the practice of compiling balance sheets of local governments,
and providing China’s local governments with market-based credit
ratings. He is a strong advocate of including local government credit
rating as one major key performance indicator to cope with China’s
fast growing local government debts.

Dr. Liu is an independent non-executive director of both CSC
Financial Co. Ltd. (stock code: 6066) since 20 August 2016 and
China Merchants Bank Co. Ltd. (stock code: 3968) since 30
November 2018, the shares of both companies are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and an
independent non-executive director of Beijing Capital Co. Ltd., a
listed company on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600008).
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Mr. Kwok Pak Shing (Alex), aged 34, joined the Company in July
2018. Since 20 November 2018, Mr. Kwok is appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer and a Joint Company Secretary of the Company.
Mr. Kwok is responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, corporate
finance activities, oversight of financial reporting and investor
relations.

Mr. Kwok has over 11 years of experience in accounting, auditing,
financial management and corporate governance matters. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Kwok worked as a manager at a reputable
international accounting firm, and as the company secretary and
financial controller in two listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Kwok is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2006
with a degree of bachelor of arts in business studies.

Mr. Yuen Ping Man (Dickman), aged 55, is a joint Company
Secretary and the Chief Operating Officer (Hong Kong) responsible
for the Group’s corporate secretarial functions and business
operations.

Mr. Yuen has over 20 years of managerial experience in corporate
secretarial, business development, human resources and general
administration. Mr. Yuen was previously the chief operating officer
of Xpress Finance Limited (“Xpress Finance”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company responsible for compliance, human
resource, operations, sales and marketing, customer service and
general administration of Xpress Finance. Prior to joining Xpress
Finance in June 1997, Mr. Yuen worked in two listed groups and a
financial institution in managerial position.

Mr. Yuen is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators (U.K.) and of the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries, a senior member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Marketing, a professional member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Human Resource Management, a member of the Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute, the Chartered Institute of
Marketing (U.K.), the Hong Kong Institute of Purchasing & Supply
and Society of Registered Financial Planners.

Mr. Yuen holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration and is
also a certified risk planner.
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Ms. Leung Ka Ying (Priscilla), aged 32, joined the Company in April
2016 as Financial Controller and is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting and financial management functions. Ms.
Leung obtained her bachelor’s degree in Business Administration in
Professional Accountancy from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 2008. She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants with over 8 years of experience in accounting,
auditing and financial management. Prior to joining the Company, Ms.
Leung worked as a manager in PricewaterhouseCoopers and finance
manager of a Hong Kong listed group.

United States Management

Mr. Jeffrey Busch, aged 61, is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group’s 85%-owned U.S. subsidiary, IA Group, and oversees all of
IA Group’s REIT management and real estate activities in the U.S..
Mr. Busch is also Chairman, President and the Chief Executive Officer
of GMR, a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE:
GMRE).

Mr. Busch has more than two decades of real estate experience as
a developer, manager and investor, and has held senior positions
representing the U.S. government — he was appointed by two U.S.
Presidents to serve in senior administration capacities, including
Assistant Secretary of the U.S. Housing and Urban Development
(“HUD”) agency, and as U.S. Ambassador to the United Nations in
Geneva, Switzerland. At HUD, Mr. Busch oversaw an annual budget
of over US$3 billion used to develop housing and commercial real
estate.

As a principal investor, Mr. Busch has developed properties valued
at hundreds of millions of U.S. dollars in various real estate asset
classes, including large-scale residential, commercial, hospitality, and
retail projects.

Mr. Busch is a graduate of the New York University Stern School
of Business, holds a Master of Public Administration from New
York University, and also a Doctor of Jurist Prudence from Emory
University.
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Mr. Robert J. Kiernan, aged 52, is the Chief Financial Officer of
IA Group and GMR. Mr. Kiernan is a financial executive with 30
years of successful experience in financial accounting, reporting and
management. He joined IA Group and GMR in August 2017 as its
Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Kiernan’s experience includes initial and
secondary public offerings, business combinations, quarterly, annual
and other filings with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”), and compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley internal
control requirements. His extensive management and accounting
experience has focused on the financial services industry, including
broker dealers, mortgage REITs, and investment funds.

Prior to becoming IA Group’s and GMR’s Chief Financial Officer,
Mr. Kiernan served as the Senior Vice President, Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer of FBR & Co. (“FBR”, NASDAQ: FBRC)
commencing in October 2007. Prior to joining FBR, Mr. Kiernan
served as the Senior Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting
Officer of Arlington Asset Investment Corp. (“Arlington Asset”, NYSE:
Al) commencing in April 2003. Prior to joining Arlington Asset, Mr.
Kiernan was a senior manager in the assurance practice at Ermnst &
Young.

Mr. Kiernan holds a Bachelor of Science in Accounting, Mount
St. Mary’s University, Cum Laude (1987) and is a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Alfonzo Leon, aged 43, is the Chief Investment Officer of
IA Group and is responsible for investment strategy, acquisition
execution, deal sourcing and investor relations.

Mr. Leon is a real estate finance executive with 18 years of
acquisition and capital markets experience with approximately 200
completed transactions on behalf of institutional investors valued
at US$4.0 billion. Prior to joining GMR, Mr. Leon was a Senior Vice
President with Cain Brothers & Company, a boutique health care
investment banking firm based out of New York and San Francisco,
within their real estate M&A and capital markets group. Mr. Leon
joined Cain Brothers in 2005 and worked with leading clients across
the health care spectrum including several health systems, multi-
specialty physician groups, senior housing operators, NYSE-listed
and non-traded private REITs, health care developers, and private
equity investors. Prior to Cain Brothers, Mr. Leon was a real estate
underwriter with LaSalle Investment Management, an international
real estate investment advisor firm, within their North American
acquisition group. Mr. Leon joined LaSalle in 2000 and acquired
US$800 million in multi-family, office, medical office, and industrial
property on behalf of institutional investors that include the nation’s
largest pension funds and college endowments and sovereign wealth
funds. LaSalle Investment Management is a subsidiary of global
consultancy firm Jones Lang LaSalle (NYSE: JLL). The investment
committee of JLL was headed by the CEO of JLL.
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Mr. Leon’s experience includes managing commercial real estate
transactions ranging from US$5 million to US$500 million, raising
capital for developers for projects valued over US$100 million,
structuring joint ventures between developers and investors,
completing large US$100 million portfolio investment sales to health
care REITs, structuring sale-leasebacks for physician groups,
acquisitions and dispositions for separate and commingled funds,
corporate real estate M&A, structuring credit tenant lease financing
for investment grade health systems, and strategic real estate
advisory for health systems. Mr. Leon’s property type expertise within
the health care sector includes medical office, outpatient facilities,
surgical facilities, post-acute facilities, senior housing, and hospitals.

Mr. Leon received his Master’s degree in real estate finance from The
Massachusetts Institutes of Technology and his B.S. in Architecture
from The University of Virginia.
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The Directors present their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company and together
with its subsidiaries engages in property development, property
investment and management, hotel operations and securities trading
and investment. The activities and particulars of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by principal operating
segments for the year is set out in the note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 97.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in
respect of the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company was founded in 1965, with business focus on
property development, property investment and management, hotel
operations and securities trading and investment in Hong Kong, the
PRC and overseas.

A detailed business review for the Year, including further discussions
of important events occurred since the end of the financial year,
likely future development of the Group’s business and financial
performance review with financial key performance indicators, are
set out in “Chairman’s Message” on pages 4 to 9, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 27 to 41, “Financial Summary”
on page 227, note 34 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively. These discussions form part of this Report of the
Directors.

The Company will issue separately an Environmental, Social and

Governance Report under Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide as specified in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Under our current risk management and internal control system,
regular review of the principal risks and uncertainties that may affect
the Group’s financial condition, results of operations, business and
prospects are maintained. There may be other risks and uncertainties
further to the following key risk areas and uncertainties currently
identified by the Group.

The Group’s performance on businesses of property development
in the PRC and property investment and/or management in the
USA on AHR and GMR are susceptible to the macro-economic
and industrial government policies and controls in the PRC and the
USA. Any changes of these policies may penetrate into the overall
national economic conditions, and influence changes in consumer
confidence, consumption spending and preferences in property
market in the PRC and also medical and healthcare services in the
USA.

The Group’s operation is also subject to certain risk factors
pertaining to businesses of property development in the PRC,
property investment and management in the USA and other regions.
Lack of availability of potential land resources in the PRC, shortage
of construction materials, equipment and skilled labour, default
on the part of our customers, construction contractors, business
partners and tenants, adverse weather conditions, other unexpected
inadequacies or failure of internal process or other external factors
may have various levels of the Group’s operations.

The Group’s financial risks and management are set out in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements.

In response to these possible risks and uncertainties, the Group
continues to implement a series of internal control and strategies to
adapt itself to cope with the possible risks and changes. The Group
also develops and reviews strategies, policies and guidelines on risk
control which enable the Group to monitor closely and formulate
business strategies to respond to risk promptly and effectively. The
Group also actively proposes measures to minimise any potential
business impact on the Group from these possible risks and
uncertainties.

FTERBRTHEREE
ERMBTHERBERRAMEZERRT  AEEHTREATYEH

BHBIRR - REXEE EBRASNTIZRABR M THBAEZ#RE
HEHERR - BARERRZATEE2RAMEAABRERZEI - 7
feeh EMmER &K T HEEE

FEBRPEZMEBRRRNEBAHRRGMRZ MERE R %
EREBRR  BEHXINPEERXEERNZEEERITEBNK
RRBEMTZE - EARRRZBEH A2 EEBEREER
R sIBETEEMETISAREEBRARERBTSLREEE
BL - REBXHRERMZEE -

AEENEETAHSRETEH 2 MERR  REBREEZ
MERENEBRBEEBNRRER - RPBERZAE NN
BR - BEMH  RERARMET 2ER - BOER - TigAR
B BAEKHFREPHIREYN  BHRREN  REMBINEER
BEFTRRKRRUREMIMNIREG R EHAREN S ERAE
REmEE -

REBENI R L EEREHNGRE P IERRMESS -

REHZEEERARETHAREER  AREREER —RIIAE
THRENRBEEEYSRECRR R THAEE - KEE IR
ERERSERES 2K BERRIES  SAREREATER
I 5 R S R 3 ) T B T Rl B 2 PR RS o AR ENMR IR E R

HE - ORERZEEERR LT HBEZSAEENEREERES
TE-

53



ZH International Holdings Limited

FEBRRZERERAS

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHRES

Key stakeholder relationships

To build a solid foundation for the Group’s sustainable development,
the Group recognise its employees, customers and business
partners being the key stakeholders and maintain a continuous
dialogue with them. The Group is dedicated to establish a close and
supporting relationship with its employees, provide quality products
and services to customers and strengthen all kinds of cooperation
with its business partners.

The Company provides a healthy and safe workplace, career
development opportunities and competitive remuneration and
benefits to employees on their qualifications in accordance with
industry practise in the geographical locations in which they are
located. To treasure its loyal and industrious staff members and
improve their performance at their positions, different forms of
rewards and compensation including salaries, provident fund, bonus,
insurance coverage, or share options, etc, will be considered and
reviewed on annual basis based on performance appraisals for
eligible employees.

Maintaining close relationship with its customers as well as tenants
are paramount to the long-term success for the Group. Interacting
channels with customers and tenants are established to identify
and respond to the dynamic market needs proactively, improve the
quality of products and services to adhere to customers’ needs and
preference timely. In a long run, it fosters customer to enhance brand
recognition on the Group with a trust-worthy basis.

The Group is also committed to develop fair and co-operating
business partnership with suppliers and contractors to ensure
stability of the Group’s operation. Through a series of standardised
procurement process including the tendering procedures, cost
and quality of the procurement supply of the Group are able to
be monitored, assessed and evaluated reasonably. The Group
continuously upholds an effective communication with suppliers to
deliver quality products and services to customers for the long-term
sustainability.
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Compliance with laws and regulations

As far as the Company is aware of, the Group has complied with
applicable laws and regulations promulgated by the relevant
regulatory bodies which are significant to the operations of the
Group.

Environmental policy

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of businesses
and communities with which it engages. We pursue this business
approach by managing our business prudently and executing
management decisions with due care and attention to balance the
sustainable business growth and environmental protection.

The Group endeavors to make improvements by promoting
environmental friendly policies in the Group’s operations and
increasing the employee’s awareness over environmental protection.
By means of advocating eco-friendly and reusable materials, paper-
recycling and energy saving measures on office equipment and
appliances, it helps enhance efficient use of resources, energy
efficiency and reduction of waste.

The Group is committed to act in an environmentally responsible
manner to review its environmental protection policies and activities
from time to time for implementation of any further measures and
practices on environmental protection in the business operation.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of the major properties of the Group at 31 December
2018 are set out in “Project Summary” on pages 17 to 22 and
“Particulars of Major Investment Properties” on page 228.

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out
in notes 14 and 15 respectively to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at the year
end date. The revaluation resulted in an increase in fair value of
approximately RMB17.9 million which has been credited to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no changes in the number of the issued share during
the year. Details of movement in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 101.

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2018
amounted to approximately RMB199.8 million.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The charitable donations made by the Group during the Year
amounted to approximately RMB2.1 million.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company or the laws of Hong Kong, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares to existing
shareholders of the Company on a pro-rata basis.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 227.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company had not redeemed any of its listed securities during
the Year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.
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DIRECTORS

(a)

Directors of the Company
The Directors during the year and present Directors up to the
date of this Report of the Directors are:

Executive Directors:
Zhang Jingguo (Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer)

Zhang Guogiang

Non-executive Director:
Huang Yanping

Independent non-executive Directors:
Liu Da

Liu Qiao

Ma Yuntao

In accordance with Articles 78 and 79 of the Company’s
Articles of Association and pursuant to code provision A.4.2
of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Zhang Guogiang and
Mr. Liu Da will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 12 June 2019
(the “2019 AGM”) and, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election. Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the
2019 AGM are set out in the circular to the shareholders sent
together with this annual report.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Company considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commenced on
28 August 2018.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the 2019
AGM has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which are not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 42 to 51.
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(b) Directors of the Company’s subsidiaries
The directors of the Company’s subsidiaries during the year
and until the date of this report of the Directors are:

Bai Mengjun

Bie Sanjiang
Chen Peini, Connie
Chen Weibing
Feng Hongfeng
Guo Wei

Huang Yanping
Jeffrey Busch
Lim Wei Jie

Liu Zhenggiang
Meng Yuming
Wang Jinhu
Xing Zhumei
Zhang Huigi
Zhang Guogiang
Zhang Yong
Zhang Jingguo
Zhao Weilin

(appointed on 1 October 2018)

(appointed on 25 July 2018)

(resigned on 15 October 2018)
(appointed on 25 July 2018)
(appointed on 25 July 2018)

(appointed on 28 September 2018)
(appointed on 25 July 2018)

(appointed on 18 April 2018)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 9, 26 and 40 to the consolidated
financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company, its holding company, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or any entity connected with
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in notes 26 and 40 to the consolidated financial
statements in relation to the financial assistance provided by
the controlling shareholder of the Company to the Group and
the transactions set out under sections headed “Related Party
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” and
disclosed in note 44(c) to the consolidated financial statement, there
was no contract of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries at the end of the year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, together with those of
the five highest paid employees of the Group for the Year are set out
in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the ordinary shares
of the Company (“Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or any interest or short positions which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or any interests and short positions
which have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions

(i) Interest in the Shares of the Company

EERIETBAEBRBS ZEERKA

RIB-NF+ZA=+—0 BERARFAZZTBRAERER
B2 BRI (TR DI ~ AR R SR EAEAEBEE (ER R E
R BB GRGN([#H R AEGRD ) EXVEL) 2 BB RESHF -
BARBESLPEERIEXVEETRFESH HE MG AR R MBI
Pz s Kok R (BRI SREE S B RIZ S GG E AR
FHE 2R RR) - IREEH LG GRIIE362(FBE LN %
Bl Pt B R M 2 E sk R - RARE LR RIS &%+ prst b
MAREFETEFZHNFRETR([FEFR DAMAGARER
R AT SRR T

#E
i) AR A RIRD B R R

Approximate
percentage of
the issued share
capital of the
Company (%)

Number of HIEARD T
Name of Director Capacity in which interests are held Shares held BEITRA
EEME BnEaEES D PR M BB Aokt
Mr. Zhang Jingguo (“Mr. Zhang”) Spousal interest (Note 1) 3,5679,612,209 57.95
SRANE S A (T3R5 ]) BoiB e (A1)
Ms. Huang Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 3,579,612,209 57.95
HuangZ & Sl EE R (7F2)
Notes: Kzt -

(1) Mr. Zhang (Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director of the Company) is the spouse of Ms.
Huang, he is deemed to be interested in 3,579,612,209
Shares.

1) REE(RRRERE « THAHFNITES) AHuangZ + 2
BCAB - 8 AR3,579,612,200% B D R A 125 -
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) 3,5679,612,209 Shares are directly held by Joy Town 2)
Inc., which are ultimately owned by a discretionary
trust established by Ms. Huang Yanping as settlor and
protector and Vistra Trust (Singapore) Pte Limited as
trustee. Joy Town Inc. is wholly-owned by Zensun
Group Limited. Zensun Group Limited is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Notable Reward Limited, which
in turn is wholly-owned by Superior Glory Enterprises
Limited and the entire issued share capital of Superior
Glory Enterprises Limited is assets of the trust. Superior
Glory Enterprises Limited, Notable Reward Limited,
Zensun Group Limited and Joy Town Inc. are holding
companies of the Company, each of them is an associated
corporation of the Company under SFO.

3,579,612,209 f% i 13t Joy Town Inc. ¥ #4F - E &K
£ Haung Yanping 2 T B 2 W 1 & Z 5t A TR & A K B
Vistra Trust (Singapore) Pte Limited {E /A< 5 A 2 Z 5
Fr# A ° Joy Town Inc.H IF & B B R A & (Zensun Group
Limited) 2 & # & - 1E 7 % @ B R 2 7] A Notable Reward
Limited® & #74 * E ASuperior Glory Enterprises Limited 2
& - i Superior Glory Enterprises Limited % 282 %77 i%
D BEREEFTMEE © Superior Glory Enterprises Limited -
Notable Reward Limited + IF & & B & R 2 7] & Joy Town
INncHARRARZHEKRAT - BEEAEBELRBEEHIETA
AR EEEE -

Long Positions HE
(ii) Interest in ordinary shares of associated corporations of the (i) AR BRESEB S MR R
Company
Approximate
percentage of
Name of Capacity in which the Number of the issued share
Name of Director associated corporation interests are held share held capital (%)

P WS HEBCEEC #1T

EEnR HEEEERE ERiEEESH RHEE RA& 2B
Ms. Huang Superior Glory Interest of controlled 1 100
Enterprises Limited corporation (Note)
HuangZ =+ Ve AR (A7)
Ms. Huang Notable Reward Limited Interest of controlled 1 100
corporation (Note)
Huang#z 4= R E g (Hat)
Mr. Zhang Zensun Group Limited Interest of controlled 1 100
corporation (Note)
REE EEEEABR AR RPDEE RS (M)
Ms. Huang Joy Town Inc. Beneficial owner (Note) 1 100
Huang#z 4= EnliB AR
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Note: 3,579,612,209 shares are directly held by Joy Town
Inc., which are ultimately owned by a discretionary
trust established by Ms. Huang Yanping as settlor and
protector and Vistra Trust (Singapore) Pte Limited as
trustee. Joy Town Inc. is wholly-owned by Zensun
Group Limited. Zensun Group Limited is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Notable Reward Limited, which
in turn is wholly-owned by Superior Glory Enterprises
Limited and the entire issued share capital of Superior
Glory Enterprises Limited is assets of the trust. Superior
Glory Enterprises Limited, Notable Reward Limited,
Zensun Group Limited and Joy Town Inc. are holding
companies of the Company, each of them is an associated
corporation of the Company under SFO.

Save as disclosed, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which: (a) were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein; or (c) have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section of “Share Option Scheme”, at no
time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and neither
the directors nor any of their spouses or children under the age of
18, had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or
had exercised any such right.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the Year.

Hfat - 3,5679,612,209 B i% 15 B Joy Town Inc. E B - H &4
£ Haung Yanping 2 + B 37 W 1 & Z 5t A TR #& A K B
Vistra Trust (Singapore) Pte LimitedfE At AR 25T
Fr## A ° Joy Town Inc.H IF & B AR A & (Zensun Group
Limited) 2 E# A - IF 3 % & A R 2 7 & Notable Reward
Limited® & #74 * E ASuperior Glory Enterprises Limited 2
& - i Superior Glory Enterprises Limited % 282 %77 i%
D BEREEFTMEE © Superior Glory Enterprises Limited
Notable Reward Limited - 1E % & Bl & R A K& Joy Town Inc.
HRARBIZERAR  BEERBARBERIBETERR
Al REER -

B EXHBEEN  RZE-NF+ZA=+—0  RREKA
TR EERARBEBZTHRAERERARRRAEE
BEE (E R R B A M ERPIEXVER) Z By AR X
BEEF - BE@QREESRAEERIIEXVESET &80 ahAH
BARA Rz ERRE (BEREBEES KRG KD
BRBGXEEWEFIREET 2 EalRkR) + LO)RE
FHF R B GRIFEIL2EATAZGRAAR AR EM 2%
BIOAR  ROBREBELTRAMEE T AEH LT AR ESET
HHRGHRETRAAMG RNR A ML SRR

BEROIESZNZH

Bl BEREat 3 —SPT I EE SN - AR B SHEERM B A RARAF
EREAEERETLEMNRY  REARTNEEEBEELAR
Al A ARNRORESFMER - MEEFRTARENA
BRTNEATFREFERMATREARBBFHEN - REITHE
ERIFZERER -

EEEH

RAFER  MET IR BEARARR MR EFMNEREHKE
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, revenue attributable to the largest customer of the
Group accounted to approximately 7.5% of the total revenue in the
year and the five largest customers of the Group accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s total revenue in the Year.

During the Year, purchases attributable to the largest supplier of the
Group amounted to approximately 26.6% of the total purchases in
the year and the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
58.1% of the Group’s purchases in the Year.

Mr. Zhang Jingguo, being an executive Director, has beneficial
interest in one of the five largest suppliers disclosed above during the
Year. The transactions have been detailed under the below section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own
more than 5.0% of the issued share capital of the Company) had an
interest in these major customers or suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, certain Directors and companies controlled by
certain Directors entered into transactions with the Group which
are disclosed in notes 26 and 40 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, the Board confirmed that none of these
related party transactions constitutes a discloseable connected
transaction as defined under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the following

transactions are continuing connected transactions which are
subject to the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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In 2015, a master services agreement (“Master Services Agreement”)
has been entered into between the Company and Henan Zensun
Corporate Development Company Limited (“Zensun Development”),
pursuant to which, Zensun Development has agreed to provide,
or procure members of Zensun Development, its subsidiaries and
or to control the composition of a major of the board of directors/
or any of its subsidiaries taken together are directly or interested so
as to exercise or control 30% or more voting power (the “Zensun
Development Group”) to provide construction and related ancillary
services to the Group according to the definitive agreement(s) signed
between Zensun Development Group and the Group from time to
time. On 21 February 2017, the Company and Zensun Development
entered into a supplemental agreement (the “2017 Supplemental
Agreement”) to, among other matters, extend the effective term
of the Master Services Agreement to 31 December 2019. On 11
October 2018, the Company entered into a supplemental agreement
with Zensun Development (“2018 Supplemental Agreement”) to
further amend the effective terms of the Master Services Agreement
as amended by the 2017 Supplemental Agreement to be three
years from 1 January 2018 and continue up to 31 December 2020.
During the year of 2018, the revised annual caps for the transactions
contemplated under the Master Services Agreement as amended
by the 2017 Supplemental Agreement and 2018 Supplemental
Agreement (the “Renewed 2018 Master Services Agreement”) for
each of the financial years ended/ending 31 December 2018, 2019
and 2020 have been approved to be RMB1,133 million, RMB2,404
million and RMB1,534 million, respectively.

As Zensun Development is beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang
and Mr. Zhang is an executive Director and the spouse of Ms.
Huang, the non-executive Director and a controlling shareholder
of the Company interested in approximately 57.95% of the issued
share capital of the Company through a discretionary trust of which
is set up and act as settlor and protector by Ms. Huang. The trustee
of the discretionary trust is the ultimate holding company of the
Company. Zensun Development is therefore a connected person of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the transactions constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

For the Year, the annual cap (the “2018 Annual Cap”) approved
for the continuing connected transactions between the Group and
Zensun Development Group under the Renewed 2018 Master
Services Agreement was RMB1,133 million and the actual transacted
amounts were approximately RMB1,050.6 million which did not
exceed the 2018 Annual Cap.

RZZ—R2F  AQRSETBEEECESEEGRETAR(ERE
B DET RS HE(TEREHE] - BUHEHERE BB SR
FE%EE ENBRRR BRI EAESRE A/ THEERE
HITTEES0% A ERIREZ FHMH B AR ([ EBHEREE IR
BERBEREFRAEBTRFIIZEANGZALAEBRREERRL
HESMRGE R+t F-A-+—B ARFHREFER
Y nmE((2017FHatmal)  EPBEEREREHE
CEREPE_E-hF+_A=+t—H R-T-NFE+A+—
H  ARRBREFERIIL—HERBE(2018FHxBE])
BEENLOI7TFHAMBEI ZEREHENERFHA=F
H-Z— \F—ABREE T _TF+_A=+—HAL(BEE
B) RZZT—NFE  K2017FEF 1% N 2018F /i st k&
A2 TR HE ([ EEE2018FTRB BN RET LS
BHE-_Z—N\F -Gk ZT-_ZTF+-_A=+—HI1H
BEEZEBFE LRSI AAR1,133,000,0007T «+ AR
2,404,000,0007T & A R #1,534,000,0007T °
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TZ8ME - HuangZ TRIRAR R Z JEAITEERIERBIR - EiB
R ZREEETMEAZEREENITEARREARARR S ET
AR A HI57.95% i - X EEENERARARANREZE
PR ER o FHUE - 1RIE ETRAIFE4AR - ERFERA/ANARZEE
AL e Bl RIBETRE - ZEZXZFERARRZFEBERLS o

RAEER  REBRBEEE0I8FEEIREN ZETFmEREE
TZHERERG2EMAEFE LR([2018FEE LR ) AARYE
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R H2018FFE LR -
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The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed
by independent non-executive Directors of the Company. The
independent non-executive Directors confirmed that the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions of the Group for the Year have
been entered into

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms; and
(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them

and on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
engaged the auditor of the Company to conduct certain procedures
in respect of the continuing connected transactions of the Group
in accordance with the Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagement 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagement Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has also issued an unqualified letter containing the findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

In accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagement
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagement Other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information”, the auditor has also
reported to the Board that for the year ended 31 December 2018,
nothing has come to their attention that the continuing connected
transactions, which were governed by the Renewed 2018 Master
Services Agreement, (i) have not received the approval of the Board;
(i) have not been entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing such transactions; and (iii)
have exceeded the relevant cap amount for the financial year ended
31 December 2018 as set out in the circular dated and published
on 22 November 2018, by the Company in respect of the continuing
connected transactions.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2018, according to the register of interest in
Shares and underlying Shares and short positions kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO and so far
as is known to or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiries by
the Directors, the persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or
more in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company are as
follows:

Long positions in the Shares of the Company

FERR

RIB-NF+ZA=+—8 BREARFERELZRAEKIE
XVERE33616FE 2 B in AR ER AR ELM - UREE
EZHAAARMMEL S BERNRAETE  BERXEBEREEARTR
DRBERMNE%HA LR Z AL (BEEHARTETZTHRARR
S

RERFRG ZHFE

Approximate
percentage of
the issued share

Number of capital of the
Name of shareholder Nature of interests Shares held Company (%)
KGR AT E BT
BRREHE EEME FrisRmE B BEBDHE
Vistra Trust (Singapore) Trustee (Note 1) 3,579,612,209 57.95
Pte Limited
EEA(MTEET)
Superior Glory Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1) 3,579,612,209 57.95
Enterprises Limited
Sy E R (M)
Notable Reward Limited Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1) 3,579,612,209 57.95
R AE k(M E1)
Zensun Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1) 3,579,612,209 57.95
FHEEAR AR SPEE R (M)
Joy Town Inc. Beneficial owner (Note 1) 3,579,612,209 57.95
BB ARZT)
Chan Heng Fai Beneficial owner (Note 2) 322,580,166 5.22
PRiEE EwmiaAMiz2)
Chan Yoke Keow Beneficial owner (Note 2) 322,580,166 5.22

BREE

BEmEaAMT2)
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Notes:

1. These Shares are directly owned by Joy Town Inc., which
are ultimately owned by a discretionary trust established by
Ms. Huang Yanping as settlor and protector and Vistra Trust
(Singapore) Pte Limited as trustee. Joy Town Inc. is wholly-owned
by Zensun Group Limited. Zensun Group Limited is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Notable Reward Limited, which in turn is
wholly-owned by Superior Glory Enterprises Limited and the entire
issued share capital of Superior Glory Enterprises Limited is assets
of the trust. Ms. Huang is a the sole director of Joy Town Inc.
and Notable Reward Limited and Mr. Zhang is the sole director of
Zensun Group Limited.

2. These Shares are owned by Chan Heng Fai and Chow Yoke
Keow. Chan Heng Fai is the spouse of Chan Yoke Keow, they are
deemed interest in the Shares held by each other.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, no person
other than the Directors whose interests are set out in the above
section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in Securities”, had registered an interest of 5% or more
in the issued share capital of the Company, and short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares that was required to be recorded
in the register of interest pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the
SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors was interested in any
business, which competed or was likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the Group’s businesses except that Mr. Zhang and
Ms. Huang are individually and collectively deemed interested in
Zensun Development Group and Zensun International Holdings
Company Limited and/or its subsidiaries and associated companies
which are engaged in construction, property development and
related business in the PRC.

As the Board is independent of the boards of these companies, the

Company has therefore been capable of carrying on its businesses
independently of, and at arm’s length from, the above businesses.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 28 August 2013, a new share option scheme (the “2013
Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The purpose of the
2013 Scheme is to motivate eligible persons who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. The 2013 Scheme will remain
in force for 10 years from that date, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended. Eligible persons of the 2013 Scheme include (i) a director
or proposed director (including an independent non-executive
director) of any member of the Group; (ii) a direct or indirect
shareholder of any member of the Group; (i) a supplier of goods or
services to any member of the Group; (iv) a customer, consultant,
business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or
representative of any member of the Group; (v) a person or entity
that provides research, development or other technological support
or any advisory, consultancy, professional services to any member
of the Group; and (vi) a landlord or tenant (including a sub-tenant) of
any member of the Group. Subject to the terms of the 2013 Scheme,
the Board shall be entitled at any time during the life of the 2013
Scheme to offer the grant of any option to any eligible person as the
Board may in its absolute discretion select and the basis of eligibility
shall be determined by the Board from time to time.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted is such number of shares
which, when aggregated with shares subject to any other share
option scheme(s), must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible person in the 2013
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to the shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their respective associates,
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who is
the grantee of the options) of the Company. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company, or to any of their respective
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000,
within any 12-month period, are subject to the shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.
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The amount payable upon the acceptance of an option is HK$1.00.
The period within which an option must be exercised shall be such
period as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the
time of grant, save that such period shall not be more than 10 years
commencing on the date of grant of an option.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the Board,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the
Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the grant, which must be a
trading day; (i) the average closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the 2013 Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted
and may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point
in time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
Options vested immediately and may be exercised at any time not
exceeding a period of 5 years from the date on which the share
options is accepted.

During the Year, no share options under the 2013 Scheme were
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. As at the end of the
reporting period, the Company has no outstanding share options
under the 2013 Scheme.

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares available for
issue under the 2013 Scheme is 617,681,996 shares, representing
10.0% of the share capital of the Company in issue at the date of
this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”,
no equity-linked agreement was entered into during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes for the employees of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Other employee benefits
— Retirement benefit schemes” set out in note 2.5 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Detailed information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
72 to 88.

DIVIDEND POLICY

On 22 February 2019, the Company has adopted a dividend policy
(“Dividend Policy”). The Company considers stable and sustainable
returns to the shareholders of the Company to be its goal. According
to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose a dividend
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into
account, inter alia:—

(i) the general financial condition of the Group;

(i) the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity
position;

(iif) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

(iv) the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

(V) the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

(vi) the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation and
industry’s norm;

(vii) the general market conditions; and
(viii)  any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Company’s articles of
association and any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify
and/or cancel the Dividend Policy at any time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in
no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board after
recommendation from the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the time commitment and responsibilities of the directors,
the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date of prior to the issue of this annual
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules, based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director. The
Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group
throughout the year.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

On 29 October 2018, Mr. Zhang has been appointed as an executive
director and Chairman of the Board of Zanyu Technology Co. Ltd.,
(stock code: 002637) a company whose shares are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

On 30 November 2018, Dr. Liu Qiao has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of China Merchants Bank Co.
Ltd. (stock code: 3968), a company whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Saved as disclosed above, during the Year, and as at the date of this
report, there were no other changes to the Directors’ information that
are required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.
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MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

During the Year, the Company was not involved in any litigation,
arbitration or claims of material importance and there was no
litigation or claim of material importance which was known to the
Directors to be pending or threatened by or against the Company.

IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE YEAR END

Details of the important events since the year end are set out in note
44 to the consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2019 AGM will be held on 12 June 2019 and the notice of the
2019 AGM will be published and despatched in the manner as
required by the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association of the
Company in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining Shareholders who are entitled
to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 5 June 2019 to
Wednesday, 12 June 2019, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for attending and voting at the 2019 AGM, unregistered holders
of Shares should ensure that all transfers of Shares accompanied
by the relevant Share certificates and appropriate transfer forms
must be lodged with the office of the Company’s Share Registrar,
Tricor Friendly Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 4 June 2019.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst
& Young, who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the 2019 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
ZHANG JINGGUO
Chairman, Executive Director

and Chief Executive Officer

28 March 2019
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The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance, formulate good corporate governance practice
to improve accountability and transparency in operations, and
strengthen the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group from time to time so as to cope with the expectations of the
shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all
code provisions (“Code Provisions”) and, where applicable, the
recommended best practices of the Corporate Governance
Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year, save and except for the deviations from Code
Provisions A.2.1 and C.2.5 of the CG Code as detailed below.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive of the Company should be segregated.
The Company is of the view that it is in the best interest of the
Company that Mr. Zhang, with his profound expertise in the property
business, shall continue in his dual capacity as chairman and chief
executive officer.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.5 of the CG Code, the Group should
have an internal audit function. The Company conducted an annual
review on the need for setting up an internal audit department. Given
the Group’s simple operating structure, it was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible and review on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. During the Year, the Board, assisted with
the Audit Committee, had conducted an annual review on the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, including
the analysis and appraisal of its adequacy and effectiveness.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has made specific
enquiries with all Directors and each of them confirmed that they
have compiled with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the Year.
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The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the relevant employees of the Group who are
considered likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company or its securities on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code in relation to their dealings in the
securities of the Company pursuant to Code Provision A.6.4 of the
CG Code. To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, all
relevant employees have complied with the required standard of
such code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall Accountability

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and in discharging
its corporate accountability, every Director is required to pursue
excellence in the interests of its shareholders and fulfill his fiduciary
duties by applying the required level of skills, care and diligence to a
standard in accordance with the statutory requirements.

Board Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible for formulating group policies and strategic
business directions, and monitoring business performances through
implementation of adequate risk management and internal control
systems. The executive Directors are delegated with the authorities
and responsibilities for the day-to-day management of the Group,
operational and business decisions within the control and delegation
framework of the Group. The non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) contribute valuable views,
professional opinions and proposals for the Board’s deliberation and
decisions.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance
functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(ifi) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;
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(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board has delegated some of its functions to the board
committees, details of which are set out below.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including appointment of new Directors, approval of
financial statements, dividend policy, significant accounting policies,
material contracts, significant appointments such as company
secretary and external auditors, terms of reference of board
committees, major corporate policies such as code of conduct, and
other significant financial and operational matters.

The Board is also responsible for maintaining and reviewing the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. It has carried out review of the existing implemented
systems, including control measures of financial and operational
compliance of the Group.

The Directors having material interest in the matter shall abstain
from voting at such Board meeting and the INEDs with no conflict
of interest shall attend at such meeting to deal with the matters. All
Directors ensure that they can give sufficient attention to discharge
their responsibilities to the affairs of the Company and the Directors
have disclosed to the Company the identity and nature of offices
held in any public organization and other significant commitments on
an annual basis.

During the Year, regular Board meetings of the Company were held
four times to review, consider and approve, among others, annual
and interim results and to review the business operations, corporate
governance and the effectiveness of internal control systems and
risk management of the Group. At least 14 days’ notice for each
regular meeting is given to all Directors. All such minutes are kept by
the company secretary of the Company and are open for inspection
at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. Apart
from the regular Board meetings, the chairman also met with the
INEDs without the presence of executive Directors during the Year.
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Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify its Directors against liabilities arising out of legal action
on corporate activities. Such insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.

Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 2018, the Board comprised six Directors
including two executive Directors, one non-executive Director (“NED”)
and three independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The
biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 42 to 51.

Mr. Zhang is the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. He is primarily responsible for leadership and
effective functioning of the Board, ensuring key issues are promptly
addressed by the Board, as well as providing strategic direction of
the Group, take primary responsibility for ensuring good corporate
governance practices with necessary procedures established and
also together with other executive Directors are responsible for
the Group’s daily operations and the effective implementation of
corporate strategy and policies.

Executive Directors
As at 31 December 2018, there were two executive Directors
including Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhang Guogiang. Mr. Zhang is the
spouse of Ms. Huang.

Non-executive Director
As at 31 December 2018 there was one NED, Ms. Huang. Ms.
Huang is the spouse of Mr. Zhang.

Independent Non-executive Directors and their Independence
As at 31 December 2018, there were three INEDs including Dr. Liu
Qiao, Mr. Liu Da and Mr. Ma Yuntao.

The Company has appointed a sufficient number of INEDs in
accordance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. With
Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Liu Da’s working experience and their academic
background in finance and accounting, the Company considers that
they are qualified persons with appropriate professional knowledge
in accounting and finance as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.
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The Company has already received annual confirmation letters of
independence from all the INEDs and each of them have declared
fulfillment of all the guidelines for assessing independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
Board considers that all INEDs are independent as defined in the
Listing Rules.

All the Directors, including the NED and INEDs, have entered into
service agreements with the Company under which all Directors must
retire by rotation at least once every three years, and no Director
shall hold office for a continuous period in excess of three years,
or past the third annual general meeting, following the Director’s
appointment or re-election, whichever is longer, without submitting
himself/herself for re-election at the annual general meeting.

In compliance with Code Provision A.3.2 of the CG Code, an updated
list of the Directors identifying their role and function are available on
the websites of the Company (www.zhsuccess.com) and the Stock
Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk). The Company will review the composition
of the Board from time to time to ensure that the Board possesses the
appropriate and necessary expertise, skill and experience to meet the
needs of the Group’s business and to enhance the shareholders’ value.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development so as to develop and refresh directors’ knowledge
and skills and to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.
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The Company regularly circulates training materials or briefings to
all Directors in respect of the updates on, among other things, the
Listing Rules, the SFO or guidelines, the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and relevant financial or accounting standards which
may be of the interest to Directors. During the year, all Directors
have complied with the Code Provisions in relation to continuous
professional development, apart from reading materials relevant
to the Company’s business, director’s duties and responsibilities.
Mr. Zhang Jingguo, Mr. Zhang Guogiang, Ms. Huang Yanping,
Dr. Liu Qiao, Mr. Liu Da and Mr. Ma Yuntao also attended and/
or gave presentation in seminars/forums. The Company updates
Directors constantly on the latest developments regarding the
Group’s business and other applicable regulatory requirements, to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. All Directors have provided to the Company
with their training records on a regular basis, and such records have
been maintained by the Company for accurate and comprehensive
record keeping.

Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees including
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)and the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) to assume responsibilities
for and to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs with
respective terms of reference. Details of the board committees are
discussed below.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and are empowered to obtain independent’
professional advice at the Company’s expense in appropriate
circumstances.
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Attendance of Directors at various meetings
During the Year, details of the Directors’ attendance in the following
meetings are set out below:

EEREMEEBZZHEF
RAFEERN  EFRA TSR HFEERFEHIMT

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held
HEHAE, BITEEAY

Annual Extraordinary

Audit Remuneration Nomination General General
Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting Meeting
Bx g BRZEE  FHEEe  RB4Z8e WEASFAE  BEREIKE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Zhang Jingguo 4/4 N/A 11 1/1 1/1 11
bR G TiE A
Mr. Zhang Guogiang 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 11
REISE ST TiE A TEA TEA
NED
FMITES
Ms. Huang Yanping 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 11
Huang Yanping#%Z £ TiE A TiEM TiE M
INEDs
BFRITES
Dr. Liu Qiao 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1
2EEL
Mr. Liu Da 4/4 2/2 N/A 1M 11 ival
2ELE TEA
Mr. Ma Yuntao 4/4 2/2 11 N/A 1/1 11
BEREE TEA
AUDIT COMMITTEE EREES

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for reviewing and
monitoring the financial reporting, risk management and internal
control systems of the Company, including reassessment of
the financial and accounting policies, review of interim reports,
annual reports and financial information, etc. In addition, the Audit
Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board,
to be put to its shareholders for approval at the annual general
meeting (“AGM”), in relation to the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of external auditor; review and supervision of the
external auditor in respect of its independence and objectivity, the
effectiveness of the audit procedures; formulation of policies on the
provision of non-audit services by the external auditor; handling any
issues related to the resignation or the removal of such auditor and
the communication with the external auditor on auditing matters.
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As at 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee consisted of three
members, namely, Mr. Liu Da, Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Ma Yuntao who
all are INEDs. Mr. Liu Da is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
In February 2019, the terms of reference of the Audit Committee
was updated taking into consideration the revised Listing Rules
effective from 1 January 2019. The most up-to-date version of the
written terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were convened. The
Audit Committee had performed the followings tasks, among others:

(i) reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31 December
2017 and interim results for the six months ended 30 June
2018;

(i) reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems;

(iif) discussed with the auditor of the Company and reviewed their
audit findings;

(iv) reviewed the auditor’s remuneration;

(v) reviewed all non-audit services provided by the auditors to

determine the provision of such services would affect the
independence of the auditors; and

(vi) performed the corporate governance functions and reviewed
the corporate governance policies and practices.

After due and careful consideration with all necessary financial
information, and reports from management and the external auditors,
the Audit Committee noted that no suspected fraud or irregularities,
significant internal control deficiencies, or suspected infringement of
laws, rules, or regulations had been found in respect of the Group,
and concluded at the meeting held on 28 March 2019 that the
risk management and internal control systems were adequate and
effective.
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On 28 March 2019, the Audit Committee meeting was convened to
review the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018, including the accounting principles and
practices, in conjunction with the Company’s external auditor. The
Audit Committee endorsed the accounting treatment adopted by
the Company, and the Audit Committee had to the best of its ability
assured itself that the disclosure of the financial information in the
Annual Report 2018 has complied with the applicable accounting
standards and the Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The Audit Committee therefore resolved to recommend
for the Board’s approval the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

The Audit Committee also recommended to the Board the re-
appointment of Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company and
that the relevant resolution shall be put forth for it shareholders’
consideration and approval at the 2019 AGM.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and
structure and packages of the Directors and senior management
to the Board. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible
for establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any
of his associates will participate in deciding his own remuneration,
which remuneration will be determined by reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company as well as the
prevailing market conditions. The human resources department is
responsible for collection and administration of the human resources
data for the Remuneration Committee’s for consideration.

As at 31 December 2018, the Remuneration Committee consisted of
three members, namely, Mr. Zhang Jingguo, Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Ma
Yuntao. Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Ma Yuntao are INEDs while Mr. Zhang
Jingguo is an executive Director. Mr. Ma Yuntao is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee. The most up-to-date version of
the written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held.

The Remuneration Committee had reviewed and approved the
remuneration of executive Directors, NED and INEDs.
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Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements. It was resolved by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company and the Board on 20
August 2018, the Company entered into new service agreements
with all the directors of the Company on 20 August 2018 with same
terms as the existing service agreements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the
structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board regularly
and make any changes to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy, including making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board that assist complementation of the Company’s
corporate policy.

As at 31 December 2018, the Nomination Committee consisted of
three members, namely, Mr. Zhang Jingguo, Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr.
Liu Da. Mr. Zhang Jingguo is an executive Director while Dr. Liu
Qiao and Mr. Liu Da are INEDs. Dr. Liu Qiao is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee. In February 2019, the terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee was updated taking into consideration
of the revised Listing Rules effective from 1 January 2019. The
most up-to-date version of the written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee is available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held.
The Board had reviewed the current structure and composition
of the Board and recommended Mr. Zhang Jingguo and Dr. Liu
Qiao to retire, and being eligible, offered themselves for re-election
in the 2018 AGM pursuant to Articles 78 and 79 of the Articles of
Association and Code Provision A.4.2 of the CG Code.

Under Article 78 of the Articles of Association, at each AGM, one-
quarter of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of four, the number nearest to one-fourth) shall retire
from office by rotation. According to Article 83 of the Articles of
Association, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or by way of addition to their number shall hold office
only until the next following AGM, and shall then be eligible for re-
appointment. Every Director shall be subject to retirement at least
once every three years by rotation or offers himself for re-election.
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The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives, sustainable
and balanced development. In June 2014, the Company adopted a
diversity policy (“Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to diversify
the Board. The nomination committee of the Company reviews and
assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board and will recommend
the appointment of new Director, when necessary, pursuant to the
Diversity Policy.

In designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The nomination committee of the
Company will also consider factors based on the Company’s business
model, specific needs and meritocracy from time to time in determining the
optimum composition of the Board.

During the period under review, the Board comprises six Directors,
including two executive Directors, one NED and three INEDs, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management process. The
Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in
terms of professional experience, skill and knowledge. Having reviewed the
Diversity Policy and the Board’s composition, the nomination committee
of the Company is satisfied that the requirements set out in the Diversity
Policy had been met.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, remuneration paid or
payable to the Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young for audit services
was RMB1,450,000 and non-audit services was nil.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group that give a true
and fair view in accordance with applicable accounting standards
and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure
that the announcements in relation to the consolidated financial
statements on annual and interim results of the Group are published
in a timely manner, within three months and two months respectively
of the year end and the half-year period end.
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The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 89 to 96.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, do not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The Directors are of the view that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate for the Group to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its overall responsibilities for maintaining
sound and effective risk management and internal control systems
including a review on their effectiveness for achieving long-term
sustainable development of the Group. The risk management and
internal control systems, under a defined management structure
with limits of authority, are designed for the Group to identify and
manage the significant risks to pursue its business objectives,
safeguard its assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
enhance effectiveness and efficiency of its operations, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records for reliable financial
reporting, and ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate risks
of failure in the achievement of the Group’s business objectives and
can only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board is responsible for the determination of the Group’s
risk profile within its acceptable tolerance levels in business
operation, oversight of management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of overall risk management process from risk
identification, risk assessment, establishment of appropriate risk
responses and regular risk evaluation and monitoring, so as to
ensure the systems are effectively established and maintained.
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The risk management process is structured from management of
the Group from respective business functions at execution level to
the Board, together assisted by the Audit Committee in decision-
making and monitoring level. Management of the Group identifies,
assesses and prioritises the key existing and potential risks through
a detailed assessment process and determines the appropriate
mitigation strategies and control measures in response of the
identified risks. Ongoing evaluation and monitoring of the identified
risks, respective measures, and results are carried out and reported
to the Board regularly. The Board at decision-making level, assisted
by the Audit Committee, reviews the risk appetite, risk management
process and strategies and also the internal control systems and
provide recommendations for any improvement on the systems in an
ongoing basis to ensure risk management effectiveness.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and
complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the Board
would be directly responsible for internal control of the Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness.

The Board has engaged an independent risk management and
internal control review adviser (“the Adviser”), APAC Compliance
Consultancy and Internal Control Services Limited, to conduct an
annual review of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018. The scope
of review was determined and approved by the Board, covering
material controls on financial, operational, compliance aspects
including review of risk management functions of the Group and
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
staff in the Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions
and their training programs and budget. Findings and areas for
improvement were reported to management and Audit Committee
for evaluation the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems. The Board and the Audit Committee are of the
view there are no material internal control defeats were identified
by the Adviser during the course of review. With the discussion
between management, the Adviser and the Audit Committee, the
Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee, considered
that the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
are effective and adequate. The review of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group is an ongoing process and the
Board maintains a continuing commitment to strengthen the Group’s
control environment and processes.
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The Company formulated the inside information policy. The Company
regularly reminds the Directors and employees about due compliance
with all policies regarding the inside information. Also, the Company
keeps Directors, senior management and employees appraised of
the latest regulatory updates. The Company shall prepare or update
appropriate guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with
regulatory requirements. Procedures for collection, evaluation of
information and the publication manner are in place to ensure timely
reporting of the inside information to the Board and the stakeholders
of the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARIES

As at 31 December 2018, the joint secretaries of the Company were
Mr. Kwok Pak Shing and Mr. Yuen Ping Man. Both of them have
confirmed that they have attended not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

Communication Policy

The Board considers that having active communications with
its shareholders and investors is important and this will enhance
transparency and clarity in public disclosures by the Company.
Any significant events of the Group fall to be disclosed will be
published in a timely, accurate and complete manner through
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, so as to
safeguard its shareholders’ rights of information and participation.
The Board considers that AGM is an important opportunity for
direct communication with its shareholders. The notice of the AGM
together with relevant documents will be sent out to its shareholders
at least 20 business days prior to the date on which the AGM will
be held. The notice contains details on the procedures for voting
by poll as well as other relevant information related to the proposed
resolutions.

AGM

The Board and senior management are well aware of their important
tasks of acting on behalf of the interests of all its shareholders
and raising the shareholders’ returns. Last year’'s AGM at which
the external auditors attended was convened on 12 June 2018.
The Board encourages all its shareholders to participate in
the forthcoming 2019 AGM where the members of the Board
and external auditors will be present and communicate with its
shareholders.
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Shareholders’ Rights

(1)

@)

86

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”)

Shareholders may request the Directors to convene an
EGM of the company. The Directors are required to call an
EGM if the Company has received requests to do so from
shareholders representing at least 5% of the total voting
rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings. Such request must state the general nature of
the business to be dealt with at the EGM and may include
the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at the EGM. The request may be sent
to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form and
must be authenticated by the shareholder(s) making it.

The Directors are required to call an EGM within 21 days
after the date on which the Directors become subject to the
requirement. The EGM called must be held on a date not
more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the
meeting.

If the Directors do not call an EGM, the shareholders who
requested the meeting, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves call the EGM. The EGM must be called for a date
not more than 3 months after the date on which the Directors
become subject to the requirement to call the EGM.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

Eligible Shareholders (as defined below) may submit a written
request to make proposals or move a resolution at the annual
general meeting (the “Request”). “Eligible Shareholder(s)”
means:

(i) Shareholders representing at least 2.5% of the total
voting rights of all the shareholders who have a right
to vote on the resolution at the annual general meeting
to which the requests relate; or

(i) at least 50 shareholders who have a right to vote on
the resolution at the annual general meeting to which
the requests relate.
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The Request may be sent to the Company (a) in hard copy
form or in electronic form; (b) must identify the resolution of
which notice is to be given; (c) must be authenticated by the
shareholder(s) making it; and (d) must be received by the
Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before the annual general
meeting to which the requests relate; or (i) if later, the time at
which notice is given of that meeting.

The Company must then send a copy of the resolution at
the Company’s own expense to each shareholder entitled to
receive notice of the annual general meeting (a) in the same
manner as the notice of the meeting; and (b) at the same time
as, or as soon as reasonably practicable after, it gives notice
of the meeting.

An Eligible Shareholder may request the Company to
circulate, to the shareholders entitled to receive notice of
a general meeting, a statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to (a) a matter mentioned in a proposed
resolution to be dealt with at that meeting; or (b) other
business to be dealt with at that meeting (the “Statement”).

The expenses of the Company in circulating the Statement
need not be paid by the Eligible Shareholders who requested
the circulation of the statement if (a) the meeting to which
the requests relate is an annual general meeting of the
Company; and (b) requests sufficient to require the Company
to circulate the statement are received in time to enable the
company to send a copy of the statement at the same time
as it gives notice of the meeting. Otherwise, (a) the expenses
of the Company in circulating the Statement must be paid
by the Eligible Shareholders who requested the circulation of
the Statement unless the Company resolves otherwise; and
(b) unless the Company has previously so resolved, it is not
bound to comply with the circulation of the Statement unless
there is deposited with or tendered to it, not later than 7 days
before the meeting, a sum reasonably sufficient to meet its
expenses in doing so.

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

A shareholder may send an enquiry to the Board at the
registered office of the Company at 24th Floor, Wyndham
Place, 40-44 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board in written form, which shall state the
nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry.
In addition, shareholders can contact Tricor Friendly Limited,
the share registrar of the Company, for any questions about
their shareholdings.

3
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Articles of Association of the Company
during the Year. A copy of the latest version is available on the
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website.

DISCLAIMER

The contents of the section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” are
for reference and disclosure compliance purposes only. The
information does not represent and should not be regarded as legal
or other professional advice from the Company to the shareholders.
Shareholders should seek their own independent legal or other
professional advice as to their rights as shareholders. The Company
disclaims all liabilities and losses incurred by the shareholders in
reliance on any contents of the section headed “Shareholders’
Rights”.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B REN R E

Ernst & Young RGN EBRR Tel E&E: +852 2846 9888
EY 22/F, CITIC Tower BEPRREER Fax f§HE: +852 2868 4432
ﬁj( 1 Tim Mei Avenue hiERE2218 ey.com
Central, Hong Kong
Independent auditor’s report BB ENRE

To the members of ZH International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ZH
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 97 to 226, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

BRERER

Valuation of investment properties

REYEZIGE

As at 31 December 2018, investment properties amounted to
approximately RMB646,620,000, which was material to the
consolidated financial statements. To support management’s
assessment of the fair value of the properties, it is the Group’s
policy that property valuations are performed by an external
appraiser at least once a year. The valuation of the properties
involves significant judgement, is highly dependent on estimates
and is based on a number of assumptions, such as estimated
market rent, market yield and reversion yield.

RZZE-N\FH+ZA=+—H  EEWELHAEARE646,620,000
L ZETHEAVEREAMEBEN - AXRBEREHMEQT
BN EEEOBRRSFELZEINBHEMETYED
BE—k - MEGBESRERNHAE - ZHEERKEEE EBUARG
i WAZBERZAER - flnfhrtmisHEe  MBRERRER
IRES R o

The accounting policies and disclosures of the valuation of
investment properties are included in notes 2.5, 3 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERNTEERARERER

We considered the objectivity, independence and expertise of
the external appraiser. We assessed the valuation approach and
the key assumptions used in developing the valuation through
the income approach or market approach, such as market rent,
market yield and reversion yield. Our internal valuation specialists
were involved to assist us in evaluating the techniques and key
assumptions used in the calculation against valuation guidelines
and industry practice.

HMEZ B EEMNTERN BUMREXMNH - HMOEFT
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We also assessed the disclosures on the fair value measurement
of investment properties.
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Key audit matter (continued)

RRERBE(E

How our audit addressed the key audit matter (continued)

RMNERNAEERAREERSEE(F

Assessment of net realisable values of properties under development and completed properties held for sale

T BRAYELF L 2 B TYE > TREE

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amounts of properties
under development and completed properties held for sale
situated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) were
approximately RMB29,777,845,000 and RMB934,671,000,
respectively. The Group carried out assessment on the net
realisable values at the end of the reporting period and compared
them to the costs. The management estimates the total costs
by reference to the budgeted costs and costs incurred and
further costs to complete whereas the future selling prices were
estimated by the management of the Group with reference to the
recent selling prices of similar properties in the nearby or relevant
locations.

RZB-NF+ZA=+—B  URPEARLMBE([HE])
ZERTHERBELREZEINEZEREESIANARE
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R~ BEERAR R B — SRR B EH R © 2R - R
REBTD BEREEREEESEMOIAMMIRLYME IRE
BEFMSH

The related accounting policies and disclosures are included in
notes 2.5, 3, 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

RS HR R BE RSN GRA M BHREMNMF25 -3 17K%18°

We obtained from the management of the Group an
understanding of the management’s process for performing
impairment assessment of the properties under development
and completed properties held for sale.

BMERBERDYERHELE ZE R TYWHRETREN G2
ERERFA BEXREEEEISTHE -

We assessed whether the estimated selling prices were based
on the existing contracts or comparable properties in the market.

BMEFEEERTRRE A NNTISA LR EETEE -

We also compared the future selling prices of completed
properties held for sale to the actual selling prices of properties
sold subsequent to the end of the reporting period to evaluate
the management s estimation.

BT ESIEHEZ D BRMEZ ARREBENRERHEEL
BiREHZMEZEREE  HEEREZ G -

Furthermore, we evaluated management’s estimation
methodology about future cost of completion of properties under
development.

AN - RME B RES TR ERPYE ZRREA GG
V£ o
We also assessed the disclosures on the assessment of net

realisable values of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale.

BIAE AR R R RS ERE 2 DR T DR 2 A
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Key audit matter (continued)

RRERBE(E

Provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT”)
THOIBEF ([ IS B )

The subsidiaries of the Company that are engaged in property
development in the PRC are subject to LAT. LAT is levied on
the sale of properties at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% based on the appreciation of land value. At the end of each
reporting period, the management of the Group estimates the
provision for LAT based on its understanding and interpretation
of the relevant tax rules and regulations, and the estimated
total sales of properties less total deductible expenditure, which
include lease charges for land use rights, property development
costs, borrowing costs and development expenditure. When the
LAT is subsequently determined, the actual payments may be
different from the estimates. For the year ended 31 December
2018, LAT provision of approximately RMB38,343,000 was
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

BERARTPRNREMHELZRE KB AR BAM L IGER o L
B iR T 1 (BARIE[EFEC0% E60% 2 RE RU FTis S W EETT
Bl NEREHHELEER S EEEEEERBEBERISEEE
MERTERRE M HEMERBRAIINBRRER(BELE
PREMEER  MEMAENAN BEXRARBHER)E LHIEE
BB EETTEE - R MIEEREZSHE  TEREMH S aHE
H e HEGEERE - HE_ZT—\F+-A=Z+—HILFE +#1
AR B4 AR 538,343,000 T E R A 1B IR ALE ©

The accounting policies and disclosures for the provision for

LAT are included in notes 3 and 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BRI HMIEERREN ST BERREAN GV B BREMIAIR
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter (continued)

RMNERNAEERAREERSEE(F

We obtained an understanding of the key management controls
related to LAT provision. We involved our internal tax specialists
to assist us in the assessment of LAT provision prepared by the
management, including the estimates and assumptions used
by management. We also recalculated LAT provision by testing
the underlying data, including estimated total sales, property
development costs, borrowing costs and tax rates used to
evaluate LAT provision.

BMPC THREMIHEENRRENIEEREEZFER - RAS
BEABREER G RPFEEIEEREN LIHIEERBE -
BREEBMEAZETERR - RATEBASAEHEEE &
EHFHEHER  MERBERA - BERAR ARG IR E
BB R R BT E DI E TR -

We also assessed the relevant disclosures in the notes to the
Group’s financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.
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o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M A% B

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Siu Fung Terence Ho.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2019
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Year ended 31 December 2018
— A = 32
:%5% (=] flﬁﬁﬁ BR
2T N\F+-_A=+—HIEE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
P EE ARETx AR%TR
(Restated)
(E31)
REVENUE & 5 601,470 1,100,419
Cost of sales THERAR (326,329) (732,614)
Gross profit EH 275,141 367,805
Other income HdA 5 25,078 4,110
Other gains and losses H e kg 1E 6 33,333 (4,064)
Administrative expenses THER (129,674) (72,083)
Sales and marketing expenses HERTHHEESR (114,909) (48,725)
Finance costs BB AN 7 (30,455) (9,484)
Profit before tax B F5 Bl ) 8 58,514 237,559
Income tax expense FiSAX 11 (30,022) (105,957)
Profit for the year FEERA 28,492 131,602
Attributable to: T5I& 7 G -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE Z=IN 29,971 131,709
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR 2 (1,479) (107)
28,492 131,602
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AATEE AEML
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY BRER
Basic (RMB cents) ER(ARES) 13 0.49 2.13
Diluted e N/ATE A N/ATE A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2018

e 2R R

BHE_Z-\F+_A=1T—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —ZE—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®TT
(Restated)
(E31)
Profit for the year F 2 A 28,492 131,602
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hib2EER
Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified to AREREZHEEN Y BEEER
profit or loss in subsequent periods: Efib2mEEE -
Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations REBINES 2 EH =5 (49,418) (24,038)
Reclassification adjustments of exchange reserve for BEHERBRARELREZ
subsidiaries disposed of EFOBRAR (7,237) -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR, FREMZEEE(FHE)
NET OF TAX (56,655) (24,038)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FREME(EHE) WEEE
FOR THE YEAR (28,163) 107,564
Attributable to: T &7 A -
Owners of the Company PN/NETE 2 =N (24,901) 106,440
Non-controlling interests FEIE R (3,262) 1,124
(28,163) 107,564
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2018

e B AR R R

—F2-NF+=ZA=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Deferred tax assets

Pledged deposits

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Completed properties held for sale

Properties under development

Deposits and prepayments paid for land
acquisitions

Accounts receivable, other receivables and
other assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Prepaid income tax and tax recoverable

Pledged deposits

Restricted bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents

Investment properties classified as
held for sale

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable, deposits received and
accruals

Deposits and prepayments received and
receipts in advance from property buyers

Contract liabilities

Amounts due to related companies

Loans from a related company

Bank and other borrowings

Tax liabilities

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FRBEE

WE - BB MR
A
EERAEE
[BEER ki

FREEELRR

RBEE

FE
FHIEHEZBERIWE
BRDYE
ENTiRER S R
B RIA
JE YRR -
HipBE
BATESABREZ
TREE
TABFTIS TR S AT YR B A IR
[BEEREE
RRBIRITAE
RekReSHEEAR

DERIHEREZ
REME

BB ELRR

RBAE
R - BliRER
et & M
BUREFERYEERZ
1w RN KRR
BHaRE

e REE R RIFIE

KA —HERRZER
RITREMIEE
HEAR

mEBELER
REBEEFE

BEERER
REAE

Hofth USRI I

Notes

B

14
15
28
16

17

19
20
21
16

16
16

22

23

24
25
26

31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF —E—+tF
+=BA=+—H +=BA=+—H —HA—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®TR AR¥TR AR¥TR
(Restated) (Restated)

(E5)) (E5)

23,126 19,824 18,472
646,620 662,332 521,630
63,168 - -
33,915 52,772 3,715
766,829 734,928 543,817
217 238 178
934,671 1,246,635 -
29,777,845 12,038,415 1,288,307
4,603,632 3,136,104 923,000
1,175,439 199,334 51,394
232,532 145,913 167,834
616,737 144,803 60,914
680,450 46,457 7,743
101,913 161,854 24,682
673,412 685,710 206,305
38,796,848 17,805,463 2,730,357
5,582 2,359 37,781
38,802,430 17,807,822 2,768,138
1,271,149 1,852,834 156,344
- 2,621,342 807,322
11,304,291 - -
473,199 2,408,436 69,402
12,876,310 2,650,862 942,240
3,658,396 3,861,469 141,097
109,621 122,051 7,665
29,692,966 13,516,994 2,124,070
9,109,464 4,290,828 644,068
9,876,293 5,025,756 1,187,885
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2018

e B AR R R

—F2-NF+=ZA=+—H

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Rental deposits received

Loans from a related company

Bank and other borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners

of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

100

Zhang Jingguo
RARE
Director

EF

FRBAE
BREHERS

KA —HHERRZER
RITREMIEE
EEHARAR

FRERELRR
BEFME

R

EA/NCIL/ 2N
Ef5 2
B

G

FEIE R

AR

31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
—EB-N\F —E—+tF —EB—+tF
+=BA=+—H +=BA=+—H —HA—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
P £ AR¥®TR AR¥TR AR¥TR
(Restated) (Restated)
(E5)) (E5)
23 7,128 5,588 688
- - 98,098
27 8,742,329 3,869,149 42,428
28 5,324 7,134 10,350
8,754,781 3,881,871 151,564
1,121,512 1,143,885 1,036,321
29 587,529 587,529 587,529
30 541,036 565,937 459,496
1,128,565 1,158,466 1,047,025
(7,053) (9,581) (10,704)
1,121,512 1,143,885 1,036,321

Zhang Guoqiang
REIR
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2018

i_f\ )\iJr ﬂ T—RHIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAER
Capital PRC Property Non-
Share  reduction statutory  revaluation  Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* profits* Total interests equity

EXHH hE S

e RER  EERE  EMRE NERE  REER B FEREE  BEAR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
(Restated) ~ (Restated) ~ (Restated) ~ (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)
(E5) (E7) (E5) (E7) (E5) (&3) (E5) (E31) (E7)

(note 30) (note 30) (note 30)

(Hzks0) (I3E30) (Hf3£30)

At 1 January 2017 RZE-t5-A-H 587,529 119,330 - 13,861 42,262 284,043 1,047,025 (10,704) 1,086,321
Profi/oss) for the year EREH/(58) - - - - - 131,700 131,709 (o) 131,602
Other comprehensive income/[loss) EREMEALE/
for the year: (Bi) -
Exchange differences on translation of HERNERL
foregn operafions B8 - - - N ) N ) 120 (240%9)
Total comprehensive (oss)income for the year R4 (ER)/fiE0%E - - - - (25,268) 131,700 106,441 1123 107,564
Transfer to PR statutory reserve BREMEETRRE - - 4644 - - (4,644) - - -
At 31 December 2017 RIE—+E
T-A=1-H 587,629 119,330 4,644 13,861 16,994 411,108 1,153,466 (9,581) 1,143,885
A 1 January 2018 (Restated) RZE-\E-f-A
(E7) 587,529 119,330 4,644 13,861 16,994 411,108 1,153,466 (9,581) 1,143,885
Profit/oss) for the year ERETl/ (58 - - - - - 2971 20971 (1,479) 28,49
Other comprenensive loss for the year: EREMEEEE:
Bxchange differences on tranlation of BERNERY
foreign operations EiEE - - - - (47,635) - (47,635) (1,783) (49,418)
Reclassification adjustments of BHERIMELT
exchange reserve for foreign i3:81:vd
subsidiaries disposed of EAEAR - - - - (7,287) - (7,287) - (7,281)
Total comprehensive (loss)fincome for the year A2 E (FE) /N EE - - - - (54,872) 20971 (24,901) (3,262) (28,163)
Transfer to PRC statutory reserve BREREETRRE - - 32,50 - - (32,592) - - -
Capital contrioution from non-controling REFERREL
shereholders i - - - - - - - 6,000 6,000
Disposal of subsidlaries HENBAA - - - - - - - (210) (210)
At 31 December 2018 RZT-N\F
t-A=1-H 587,529 119,330 31,236 13,861 (37,878) 408,487 1,128,565 (7,053 1,121,512
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of ~ * ZERFRBEROFEREUBRABEAZGFE FEARES41,036,000
RMB541,036,000 (2017: RMB565,937,000 (restated)) in the (=T —LF : AR¥565,937,0007(FES)) e

consolidated statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2018

n‘l_\ é }E % 3)2|f: % %
HE-F-\F+-A=t+—RALTE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
(Increase)/decrease in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Increase in fair value of investment properties
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Interest income
Impairment losses on accounts receivable and
other receivables
Finance costs

Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

Increase in accounts receivable, other receivables
and other assets

Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank deposits from
presale proceeds of properties

Increase in properties under development

Decrease/(increase) in completed properties held for
sale

Increase in deposits and prepayments paid for land
acquisitions

(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable, deposits
received and accruals

Increase in deposits received and receipts in
advance from property buyers

Cash used in operating activities
Tax paid

Net cash flows used in operating activities
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REXBRBRERE
B 750 BT )
RTS8 EFEE
BAVEFABRSZSHAE
ZRFEE) R
BEDFENFEEN
HETE A F 2 e
HEWE  BERREZ
iR, (Meas)
M BB RRBITE
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BIEEE
BE A

BAFE ARG CRMEE
B ()
FERD,(Em)
FEMAR SR ~ EoA EURRIA I
HAth & E LN
HEREMSRBAELEZ
RIREIRITERRD (4 0)
gL ES il
BIEHEZEETHE
wd,/(Eh)
BNt B e R
TEAS BRIEIE HN
ENERR - BYize MEAHE R
G4, /4 m
B RERDEER 2
bic gl

REXBFARE
CENIA

REXBAREREFR

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®T T
(Restated)

(E31)

58,514 237,559
(9,329) 12,072
(17,865) (10,703)
(7,447) -
210 (22)

2,730 922
(23,874) (3,989)

779 580

30,455 9,484
34,173 245,903
120 (399)
21 (60)
(652,495) (148,520)
59,941 (137,172)
(16,946,614) (10,667,271)
311,964 (1,246,635)
(1,467,528) (2,213,104)
(583,940) 1,690,059
8,407,852 1,814,020
(10,836,506) (10,663,179)
(579,488) (78,512)
(11,415,994) (10,741,640)




Annual Report 2018
“B-)\EER

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Purchase of investment properties

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of investment properties

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Release of pledged deposits

Placement of pledged deposits

Purchase of a debt investment at amortised cost

Purchase of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New bank and other borrowings raised

Repayment of bank and other borrowings

Interest paid

Repayment to related companies

Advance from related companies

Loans repaid to a related company

Loans received from a related company

Capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders

Net cash flows from financing activities

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position

REFHRBRERE
BB
BAREME

BAME - BB M&EREE

HEREMEMRSTE
HEME - f%&
Pﬁ/a E gy
m%EﬁWTﬁ
FRERRES

BB AT E 2 EBRE
BARRATERNABRRZ

SREE
REGRSMARSIFR

RMEITBHMEBESR
FrIgRITREMEER
EERRITREMEER
BEFLE
BEEEARRIEA
TEUR B E A FIRIE
Eg— ﬁﬁLATE%
1& R—MEER T/\
XE%T&&%Z
HER

=
LE

BELRPNEHSREFH

ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ
BW), B

RENzRE MRESFEHAR

HNFERE R EB) R EF R

RERZRERESEME

HH

RERRELEEER
BT

FAEMBARRBERATIRZ

RehkALEEER

Notes

B

16

16

2018 2017
—E-N\% —E-t%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®T T
(Restated)

(E31)

22,742 3,989
- (185,714)
(6,573) (8,275)
61,047 76,697

242 60
47,383 3,308
(662,519) (91,074)
(323,257) -
(68,778) -
(929,713) (196,014)
11,424,756 8,138,391
(6,850,201) (585,366)
(541,269) (75,138)
(1,935,237) (43,771)
- 2,382,805
(1,143,322) (8,321,754)
11,368,124 9,925,548
6,000 -
12,328,851 11,420,715
(16,856) 483,061
685,710 206,305
4,558 (3,656)
673,412 685,710
673,412 685,710
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018
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1.

2.1

104

CORPORATE INFORMATION

ZH International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public
limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong with its
shares listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered
office of the Company is located at 24th Floor, Wyndham
Place, 40-44 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
holding company of the Company is Joy Town Inc., a
private limited liability company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The ultimate holding company of the
Company is Vistra Trust (Singapore) Pte Limited, a private
limited liability company incorporated in Singapore, as trustee
of a discretionary trust which is set up by Ms. Huang Yanping
(“Ms. Huang”), a non-executive director of the Company.
Ms. Huang is the settlor and protector of the discretionary
trust. Mr. Zhang Jingguo (“Mr. Zhang”), the Chairman and
an executive director of the Company is the spouse of Ms.
Huang.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 43.
The Company and its subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively
referred to as the Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

1.

2.1
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGE IN PRESENTATION

106

CURRENCY OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which was the presentation currency of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group in prior
financial years. During the year, having considered that (i)
most of the Group’s transactions are denominated and
settled in RMB; and (ii) the change in the presentation
currency could also reduce the impact of any fluctuations
in the exchange rate of HK$ against RMB, which is not due
to the operations and beyond the control of the Group, on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group, in order
to enable the shareholders of the company to have a more
accurate picture of the Group’s financial performance, the
board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company considers
that it is more appropriate to use RMB as its presentation
currency for its consolidated financial statements.

The change of presentation currency has been accounted
for in accordance with HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates and such change has been applied
retrospectively in accordance with HKAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

The following methodology was used to re-present the
comparative figures as at 1 January 2017 and 31 December
2017 and for the year ended 31 December 2017 in RMB,
which were originally reported in HK$:

(@) Income and expenses were translated at the average
exchange rates prevailing for the respective reporting
period.

(b) Assets and liabilities were translated at the closing

exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.

(©) Share capital and reserves were translated at the
applicable historical exchange rates.

(d) All resulting exchange differences were recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Accordingly, the change in presentation currency resulted in
the exchange reserve of the Group from changing its originally
reported carrying amount of approximately HK$(61,509,000)
and HK$2,524,000 to approximately RMB42,262,000 and
RMB16,994,000 as at 1 January 2017 and 31 December
2017, respectively.
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers
Amendments to Clarifications to HKFRS 15
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

Amendments to Classification and Measurement

HKFRS 2 of Share-based Payment
Transactions
Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
HKFRS 4 Instruments with HKFRS 4

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to Transfers of Investment Property

HKAS 40
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
2014-2016 Cycle HKAS 28

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 2, amendments to
HKFRS 4 and Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle, which
are not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s financial
statements, the nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs are described below:

(@) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018, bringing together all three aspects of the
accounting for financial instruments: classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.

The Group has recognised the transition adjustments
against the applicable opening balances at 1 January
2018. Therefore, the comparative information was not
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS
39.

Annual Report 2018
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(a)

108

(continued)
Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impacts of
adopting HKFRS 9 on the statement of financial
position, including the effect of replacing HKAS 39’s
incurred credit loss calculations with HKFRS 9’s
expected credit losses (“ECLS”).

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under
HKAS 39 and the balances reported under HKFRS 9 as
at 1 January 2018 is as follows:

HKAS 39 measurement

2.3 EERERERE 228 (&)

(a)

(7&)
PERTE

AT BRI RN E S B 15 3R 5 7 QI 56 955 B B A5 R
RABEROTE  BEBEVBREENFORANE
EEBR(TRREEERDBMREBETHENFERE
ELEEBEAENTZE -

RZZF-N\F—-A—H BBGTEREREATH
RHEEEBVBRELENEIRATA2MOEE
ZHERIT

HKFRS 9 measurement

ERETERE3NHE ERUBRBREERNFRTE
Category Amount ECLs Amount Category
Al ©¥ RHEEFE -] Al
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®FR AR TR
Financial assets SHEE
Accounts receivable TEUBR 2K L&R! 68,681 - 68,681 AC?
Financial assets included in 5T A E b fE U 30 IA
other receivables and REMEEZ
other assets CREE L&R 14,436 - 14,436 AC
Pledged deposits BHERRE L&R 99,229 - 99,229 AC
Restricted bank balances SR EIRITE S L&R 161,854 - 161,854 AC
Cash and cash equivalents 34 RIR4LSEIEH L&R 685,710 - 685,710 AC
Financial assets at fair value 22 F{Ez A18%
through profit or loss ZEREE FVPL? 145,913 - 145,913 FVPL
1,175,823 - 1,175,823
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

HKAS 39 measurement

2.3 EERERERE 228 (&)

(a)

(7&)
ER B ()

HKFRS 9 measurement

EHREHEAFEINHE ERNBREENFORTE
Category Amount ECLs Amount Category
k<l ¢E RHEEFE ¢ BAl
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥ TR AR¥ TR
Financial liabilities SRAE
Accounts payables TERTBR X AC 210 - 210 AC
Financial liabilities included in 5+ ABUWIZ & &
deposits received and JEFTER 2
accruals TRIEE AC 1,839,773 - 1,839,773 AC
Amounts due to a related BN —MEEEQR
company 2508 AC 2,408,436 - 2,408,436 AC
Loans from a related company & & — & B3iE A 7
2B AC 2,650,862 - 2,650,862 AC
Bank and other borrowings 747 R EffE & AC 7,730,618 - 7,730,618 AC
14,629,899 - 14,629,899
1 L&R: Loans and receivables 1 L&R : B MEU A
2 AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at 2 AC R Ez cMEAERSRARE
amortised cost
3 FVPL: Financial assets at fair value through profit or 3 FVPL: BRAFEABHRZERMEE
loss
Impairment A

There was no significant impact by replacing the
aggregate opening impairment allowances under
HKAS 39 with ECL allowances under HKFRS 9 on
financial instruments as at 1 January 2018. Further
details of the Group’s accounting policy for impairment
of financial assets are disclosed in note 2.5.

Impact on reserves and retained profits

There was no impact of transition to HKFRS 9 on
reserves and retained profits.

EBT RS LR FEIRIB N 2 FEHEEEBEER
REBGFTERIEIRIE T~ 2 A& L FVIREREBEHE R
—E-\F—A—BIreMITAVESAYE 54
AEESBEERE SRR ZE—SHBEER
MsE2.5 o

HRBERRE BN ZE

AP BIWEENF I 2 BE R FE LR E R
NI WMEE -
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

110

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11
Construction Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and
related interpretations and it applies, with limited
exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts
with customers. HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-
step model to account for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a
customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract
asset and liability account balances between periods
and key judgements and estimates. The disclosures
are included in note 5 to the financial statements. As a
result of the application of HKFRS 15, the Group has
changed the accounting policy with respect to revenue
recognition in note 2.5 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method,
the standard can be applied either to all contracts
at the date of initial application or only to contracts
that are not completed at this date. The Group has
elected to apply the standard to contracts that are not
completed as at 1 January 2018.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of
HKFRS 15 was recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance as at 1 January 2018. Therefore,
the comparative information was not restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 11, HKAS 18
and related interpretations.

(b)

2.3 EERERERE 228 (&)
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(continued)

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at 1 January 2018
as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15:

2.3 EERERERE 228 (&)

(7&)

TXEINHBIHEREZIA R ARAETBMEIREERE
15/ MN —E— \F-A-BXFEZER

1 January 2018

Increase/
(decrease)
—E-N\F
—A—A
#gm,/ )
Notes RMB’000
B & ARETT
Assets BE
Properties under development BRAYE (i) 16,415
Total assets BEE 16,415
Liabilities aE
Deposits and prepayments received and B EBURMEER 2Re Rk (iii)
receipts in advance from property buyers TEf5RE (2,621,342)
Contract liabilities EHAEE i), (i) 2,637,757
Total liabilities wafE 16,415

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at 31 December
2018 as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15. The
adoption of HKFRS 15 has had no impact on other
comprehensive income or the Group’s operating,
investing and financing cash flows. The first column
shows the amounts recorded under HKFRS 15 and
the second column shows what the amounts would
have been had HKFRS 15 not been adopted:

TXEINF B IREEIAR ARG EM B IREERE
1IRMN T NFE+ A=+ BXPEZEHE -
RNB B M E LA E165R WA 2R E s
AEEZEZ RAGBERSRBELATE - F—
WOVRRIEE BN B REERE 1R Z 2SR - M
£ - HWABETMR BRI T B BME LR FE 1558
REENTH
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.3 HHRERBECEEH(E)
AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) (continued) (b) (&)
ltems of consolidated statement of financial position as RZZE—N\F+ZA=+—AZEAVERRREKIE
at 31 December 2018: H:
Amounts prepared under
RETIHEERHNZEE
Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS (decrease)
ERUBERE NEEBHE
ZR|%E155 |EER  #CRD)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
Assets BE
Deferred tax assets BEEHIEEE (iv) 63,168 78,442 (15,274)
Properties under development BERERPYE (i) 29,777,845 29,502,748 275,097
Accounts receivable, other receivables  FEUBR R + E A fE IR IE o
and other assets HiEE (i) 1,175,439 1,114,345 61,094
Total assets BEE 39,569,259 39,248,342 320,917
Liabilities af
Deposits and prepayments received B RBEURNEERZ
and receipts in advance from Ee RIEFNFKE
property buyers (iif) - 11,029,194 (11,029,194)
Contract liabilities EHEE (i), (il 11,304,291 - 11,304,291
Total liabilities BaE 38,447,747 38,172,650 275,097
Net assets BESE 1,121,512 1,075,692 45,820
Equity R
Retained profits REBHF (iv) 408,487 362,667 45,820
Total equity R iAEE 1,121,512 1,075,692 45,820
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) (continued)

ltems of consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2018:

Sales and marketing expenses HERMIGHERS
Income tax expense FT3 R

The nature of the adjustments as at 1 January 2018
and the reasons for the changes in the statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2018 are
described below:

(i) Financing component

Before adoption of HKFRS 15, proceeds
received from customers for pre-sold
properties were presented as deposits and
prepayments received and receipts in advance
from property buyers and no interests were
accrued on the advances received. Under
HKFRS 15, for contracts where the period
between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised property is more
than one year, the transaction price and the
amount of revenue from the sales of completed
properties is adjusted for the effects of a
financing component, if significant. Accordingly,
the adoption of HKFRS 15 resulted in the
increase of properties under development and
contract liabilities of RMB16,415,000 as at 1
January 2018, respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the adoption of
HKFRS 15 resulted in respective increases in
properties under development and contract
liabilities of RMB275,097,000.

2.3 EERERERE 228 (&)

(b) (&)

HEZZT—)\F+ZA=+—HULEFEZHFAERE
HE

Amounts prepared under

RETIHEERHNZEE
Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS (decrease)

ERUMBEE AEFEME
ERIF155 REEY  Em(RD)

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Fft & ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
0] 114,909 176,003 (61,094)
(iv) 30,022 14,748 15,274

RZE-N\F—A-BFELABRZHEEARR-F
—NF+ZA=+—-RZMBIRR SRR 2 ZEHREAH
HIEAR

0  AEH7

REMBE BB IMEERNE 1657 - HEWE
BUEFASFIRZI SRR EBRMEER
Z¥e MIENFIAR D WIENRIB LS o
RBEEBPBHMELRE165 - EP IR
BEEROEMEZ HHBB—F 2648 XK
Efﬁ”iEﬁli@%ZQ%FT&&H£¥$Eﬁ?¢tEﬂ
BB E(NEX) TIAREZE - Bt - 5RA
\7’%&!43’%?&%&&@ FISERBRTWERE
WEER —Z-\F-A—BDREMARE
16,415,0007T °

R-ZZE—\F+_A=+—8  RAEEHH
WMEELFEISRERERPYERESNEEBES
Ei'a‘ﬂu/\ﬁﬁﬁzm,og?,ooofz °

113



ZH International Holdings Limited

EEREERERAE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

e AR MR

—F2-NF+=ZA=+—H

2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

2.3 EERERERE 228 (&)

114

In addition to the adjustments described
above, other items of the financial statements
such as tax were adjusted as necessary.
Retained profits were adjusted accordingly.

(b) (continued) (b) (&)

(ii) The incremental costs of obtaining (i) WELHZIEBERLK
contracts
Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group RN BB SRS ERFE1558AT - ANEEH
recognised the costs for obtaining a contract REESEHNZRAEERREBEREZHEHEK
in selling and marketing expenses in the MISHRERZER - BREASY KRS ER
statement of profit or loss when incurred. F155% - RS E&) 2 E R AR AR & [F 78 25
Under HKFRS 15, the incremental costs for WKElZzBERR R_T—N\F+_A=1+—
obtaining a contract was recognised to the H REEBHERRDGEEHOZEENTIRARE
extent that the Group expects to recover. As 61,094,0007c2 EE - ARRABEWER « HAb
at 31 December 2018, the Group recognised FEYGRIB R E M A E -
incremental costs of obtaining contracts as
assets amounting RMB61,094,000, which
were recorded in accounts receivable, other
receivables and other assets.

(i)  Proceeds from customers of pre-sold (iii) FEEYFEZEFFEHE
properties
Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group REMBRERFRELEBNE 155 - AEE
recognised proceeds from customers of pre- HREEMEZEPAGHRBEAE KR ETEK
sold properties as deposits and prepayments MEBERz2LZe MBNKIE - REFBUH
received and receipts in advance from property WMELERIEI5  ZRBELEAGNARE -
buyers. Under HKFRS 15, the amount is Bt A"EBBHER_ZT—N\F—A—HBZE
classified as contract liabilities. Accordingly, the KWRFBURMEBR RS RBARBARE
Group reclassified deposits and prepayments 2,621,342,000tEF D EAEHARE -
received and receipts in advance from property
buyers of RMB2,621,342,000 to contract
liabilities as at 1 January 2018.
As at 31 December 2018, the adoption RZZ—N\FE+ZA=+—H RKAEEHB
of HKFRS 15 resulted in a decrease of MERRNEISREHE W RTBRMEER 2%
deposits and prepayments received and & RIEMNFIBR D ARE11,029,194,0007T &
receipts in advance from property buyers AHEERIARE11,304,291,0007T °
of RMB11,029,194,000 and an increase of
contract liabilities of RMB11,304,291,000,
respectively.

(iv)  Other adjustments (iv) Ei#H=E

BrOA EPrtz FEESN - MRS E AR R (10
BIE)ERFERETHAE - REANSHEE
TR FHE -
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 40, clarify when an entity
should transfer property, including property under
construction or development, into or out of investment
property. The amendments state that a change in
use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to
meet, the definition of investment property and there
is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in
management’s intentions for the use of a property
does not provide evidence of a change in use. The
amendments have had no impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, provides guidance on how to
determine the date of the transaction when applying
HKAS 21 to the situation where an entity receives
or pays advance consideration in a foreign currency
and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The
interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction
for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to
use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense
or income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity
initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a
prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as deferred
income) arising from the payment or receipt of the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments
or receipts in advance of recognising the related item,
the entity must determine the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
The interpretation has had no impact on the Group’s
financial statements as the Group’s accounting policy
for the determination of the exchange rate applied
for initial recognition of non-monetary assets or non-
monetary liabilities is consistent with the guidance
provided in the interpretation.

2.3 EERERERE 228 (&)

(c)

(d)

ARG ERFIRET AR EEREENE(BRE
ERRERTYE)BARBHREDENRR - %
FEFIER  WERBRANZDETERTEFAR
EMEsEZLAEBRENRRELEIR T SHE
e EREREEEMEREZEANETRIAZH
HEGAEMED - ZZEATAEEREBENYT BN
FRREEEMTE

TE(ERYBRERREES) REBEFE2RAE
BLUSMER R X NENRERERIEEEEERE
BOBERT - ERAE B ST ERIE2158E - g
EBER S AHRMES - ZREEE  EERYS
EREREE - XA (REF D) AR E X
o X5 HMAEEYSHRE X SIENRE
MELNIFEEEE(WMANFIE) HFEEEEE(N
EEWA) 2B - WiERBRABEENFESZERNR
AR - BRARESERNRERAIKIE
NREFAEERSZ Y - AR AEELETE & R HE
RNEBEELNEBREMERZR ST 2GR
REREMEHR 2 ES 2 RREYARE TG
WRAEZE o
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2.4

116

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HKFRSs

EEMEERER BB BREER

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, which have been issued but are not yet effective, in

ARG I B B TS R B TSI 2 AR R R R AR 2 HTAT ;e
RIERT BB BME LR

the financial statements:

Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 9
Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKAS 19
Amendments to
HKAS 28
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Definition of a Business?

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation’
Sale or Contribution of Assets

between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*
Leases'
Insurance Contracts®
Definition of Material?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement?

Long-term interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures!

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments!

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS
11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 23!

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2021

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available

for adoption

Except for HKFRS 16 as described below, the directors of
the Group considered that the application of the other new
and revised HKFRSs will not have a material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial results.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Agreement contains a lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets
and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two
elective recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-
value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement
date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease
payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing
the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e.,
the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates
to a class of property, plant and equipment to which the
revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently
increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and
reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to
separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability
and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.
Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability
upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in
the lease term and change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16
is substantially unchanged from the accounting under HKAS
17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires
lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than
under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard
using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach. The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January
2019.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS
16 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
at 1 January 2019 and will not restate the comparatives. In
addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and measure the lease liability at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial
application. The right-of-use asset will be measured at the
amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the lease
recognised in the statement of financial position immediately
before the date of initial application.

The Group plans to use the exemptions allowed by the
standard on lease contracts whose lease terms end within 12
months as of the date of initial application. During 2018, the
Group has performed a detailed assessment on the impact
of adoption of HKFRS 16. The Group has estimated that
right-of-use assets of RMB7,141,000 and lease liabilities of
RMB7,141,000 will be recognised at 1 January 2019.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

2.5
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120

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, investment properties and non-
current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, (only if there are
revalued assets in the financial statements) unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iif) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iif) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(vii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Land and buildings and hotel ~ Over the shorter of the lease
terms or 2%

Over the shorter of the lease
terms or 6.67% to 20%

20%-25%

Leasehold improvement

Furniture, office equipment
and motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

25 FTESTHRBE(E)

M BERRBARTE

M BB RRETVERAB R ITE RERBEBED
% ME - BELRREREXAREEABEELSEEES
AR F 3t BELAVERE ik 2 (R BRI ARCR -

ME - BELRERBFAREFREEZH  WHEERR
BREAS  —BREAPRERSTHR - M AERR
ﬁ'IE&EZ%&KﬁF%@@¢§$M%§EW$°%
M BERREZEEBHETEESR - AIREEEZE
%Bﬁ%ﬁ@%%%%ii%i*%iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬂﬂ:ifl% BEREHARITE -

FEDAERERBEDE  BEMREEAER 2G5 AER

FHMBEERAZAFREENE - BUEACEEFEN
T

KAEREL WETE

b RIEF A MBS HEFHN 2% 2 BEE
THEMERE FEFHIK6.67%E20% 2 B EH
R JRRERA 20%-25%

W - BEMRRBEBSSD 2 EREHIR - AZA
Emﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁmmuﬁZ%ﬁM'ﬁ%%ﬁEﬁ%%
EoFgEE UEREHRAETNEEINEMRFER
FUARAS - MERE LT

IR E -~ BELRERE (EREAEREY )R T
B TREE A o B T & B AR R A B I B 4 L E TR o
REEL LR FE AR RN R ER HE S REELEN
W EE - DEMEELEMSRIRFHELREENE
e



2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for
sale after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable to such
properties incurred during the development period and net
realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless those will not be realised in the normal operating cycle.
On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the
statement of financial position at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of
the total costs of land and buildings attributable to the unsold
properties. Net realisable value takes into account the price
ultimately expected to be realised, less estimated costs to be
incurred in selling the properties.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included
in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the
operating leases are credited to the statement of profit or
loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included
in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in
property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of accounts receivable that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Accounts receivable that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable
from 1 January 2018)” below.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

- The financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows.

- The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or
financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair
value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or
loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs
that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets is as
follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive
net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains
and negative net changes in fair value presented as finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable
before 1 January 2018)” below.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income in profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in
other expenses for receivables.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
policies under HKAS 39 applicable before

1 January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

N the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral
to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

General approach (continued)

Other than accounts receivable with no significant financial
component, financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for accounts receivable which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For accounts receivable that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment
may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation
and observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes
in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised
or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in profit
orloss.

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payables,
amounts due to related companies, loans from a related
company, bank and other borrowings, and financial liabilities
in deposits received and accruals.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities is as
follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
orloss.

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of:
(i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the
policy as set out in “Impairment of financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)”; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of (i) the amount
of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and
(ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018
and HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the country in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

- when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

- when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of properties and services
provided in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.
Revenue is shown net of taxes.

(a) Sales of properties

Revenue from sales of properties in the ordinary
course of business is recognised at a point in time
when the purchaser obtains the physical possession
or the legal title of the completed property and the
Group has the present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

(b) Property management services

Revenue from the provision of property management
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(c) Hotel operations

Revenue from hotel operations is recognised when the
relevant services are provided.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January

2018)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a)

Sales of properties

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured; when it is probably that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue from the sale of properties in the ordinary
course of business is recognised when properties are
delivered, and when all the following criteria are met:

. the significant risks and rewards of ownership
of the properties are transferred to buyers;

. neither continuing managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership
nor effective control over the properties are

retained;

o the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to the
Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect

of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Payments received from purchasers prior to this stage
are recorded as deposits and prepayments received
and receipts in advance from property buyers under
current liabilities.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January
2018)

(b) Property management fee income is recognised in
profit or loss when the services are rendered;

(c) Revenue from hotel operations is recognised when the
relevant services are provided;

(d) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms;

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established; and

(f) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 January
2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before
the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a
contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under
the contract.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Contract costs (applicable from 1 January 2018)

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as
an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(©) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset
related is recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.

Other employee benefits
Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong
under the rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the participating employees’ relevant income
from the Group and are charged to the profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. When an employee leaves the MPF Scheme, the
mandatory contributions are fully vested with the employee.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates
in Mainland China are required to participate in a pension
scheme (the “Pension Scheme”) operated by the local
municipal government. This subsidiary is required to
contribute certain percentage of its payroll costs to the
Pension Scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the Pension Scheme.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. No final
dividend was proposed for the year ended 31 December
2018.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars.
These financial statements are presented in RMB. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time
the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB, including United States
dollars (“USD”), Singapore dollars (“SGD”) and Japanese
Yen (“JPY”). As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes arising from
investment properties that are using the fair value model,
the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the
Group’s investment properties — senior housing communities
located in the United States of America (the “USA”) — are
held under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time rather than through sale
whereas those situated in Hong Kong and Singapore and
residential homes located in the USA are not held under
such a business model. Therefore, the presumption that the
carrying amounts of investment properties are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted for properties of senior
housing communities but is not rebutted for properties
located in Hong Kong and Singapore and residential homes
located in the USA. The Group has not recognised any
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of these investment
properties located in Hong Kong and Singapore as the Group
is not subject to any income taxes on disposal of these
investment properties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred
tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December
2018 was RMB57,299,000 (2017: Nil). The amount of
unrecognised tax losses in the PRC at 31 December 2018
was RMB45,961,000 (2017: RMB61,155,000). Further details
are contained in note 28 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@) current prices in an active market for properties of
a different nature, condition or location, adjusted to
reflect those differences;

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the dates of the
transactions that occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 December
2018 was RMB646,620,000 (2017: RMB662,332,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are given in
note 15 to the financial statements.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required
in determining the provision for income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact on
the income tax and tax provisions in the period in which the
differences realise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for
LAT is based on management’s best estimates according to
the understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant
PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are
subject to the determination by the tax authorities upon the
completion of the property development projects. The Group
has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with the
tax authorities for all its property development projects. The
final outcome could be different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, and any differences will impact on the LAT
expenses and the related provision in the period in which the
differences realise.

Net realisable value assessment of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale

The Group carried out assessment on net realisable value of
properties under development and completed properties held
for sale at each end of each reporting period and compared
the costs and its net realisable value. The net realisable value
is the estimated future selling price less estimated cost of
completion or the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale (if any). The estimated future selling prices are estimated
by management with reference to the Group’s pre-sale selling
prices and the recent selling prices of similar properties
in the nearby or relevant locations. The management also
estimated the future selling expenses and the expected costs
to completion by reference to the actual selling expenses
of the Groups’ completed projects, adjusted by certain
current market data, the legal and regulating framework and
general market condition. The Group’s properties under
development and completed properties held for sale are
all situated in the PRC, details of which are set out in the
consolidated statement of financial position and notes 17
and 18. At 31 December 2018, the carrying amounts of
properties under development and completed properties
held for sale were approximately RMB29,777,845,000
(2017: RMB12,038,415,000) and RMB934,671,000 (2017:
RMB1,246,635,000), respectively, which are expected to
be recovered through future sales and stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. All of the properties under
development and completed properties held for sale are
expected to be recovered higher than the cost and hence no
write down to net realisable value was required at the year
ended 31 December 2018. When there is any decrease in net
realisable value of the properties and it is lower than the cost
of the properties, loss will be recognised on the properties
under development and completed properties held for sale in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had contingent
liabilities relating to guarantees amounting to approximately
RMB3,699,022,000 (2017: RMB986,319,000) in respect of
mortgage facilities provided by certain banks in connection
with the mortgage loans entered into by property buyers of the
Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees,
upon default in mortgage payments by these property buyers,
the Group would be responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with accrued interests thereon
and any penalties owed by the defaulted buyers to the banks.
The Group would be entitled to take over legal title to and
possession of the related properties. These guarantees will be
released upon the earlier of (i) the satisfaction of the mortgage
loan by the buyers of the property; and (ii) the issuance of
the property ownership certificate for the mortgage property
and the completion of the deregistration of the mortgage. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, no provision for
the guarantee contracts was recognised in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 as
the default risk is low. Should the actual outcome be different
from expected, provision for losses will be recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts
receivable and other receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
accounts receivable and other receivables. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geography, product type, customer type and rating).

The expected loss rate is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts
receivable and other receivables (continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s accounts receivable and other
receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
five reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Property development in the PRC

(b) Property investment and management in the USA in
American Housing REIT, Inc. (“AHR”) and property
management in the USA provided to Global Medical
REIT, Inc. (“GMR")

(©) Property investment other than AHR

(d) Securities trading and investment

(e) Hotel operations

The Group has property investment and/or management
businesses in Hong Kong, the USA, Singapore and Japan.
Other than AHR which is operated in the USA, the property

investment businesses in other regions are evaluated together
and assessed as one operating segment by the management.

3.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. R&5#HER(H)
(CONTINUED)
Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating E IEIE BRI AR CE DR 248 - NEELBRE
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions D RFRBTFEZIRE © nﬂﬁ’\*ﬁi’%fﬁﬁﬁﬁf—fﬁiz
about resources allocation and performance assessment. ﬁB}ﬁTﬁ“ (BB (BRI AR, (BE)ZFE) °
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable A4 8 /ﬁﬁ‘/(E‘ﬁﬁ)ET@ZSEIZK{F%RHU/@T'/(JEETE
segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/ ECMEETEMBEERER A0 RASEBARSZ T
(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is (BRERDEBERA) R o
measured consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before
tax except that certain other gains and losses, corporate
and unallocated income and expenses (including unallocated
finance costs) are excluded from this measurement.
Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, unallocated NEEETBEEERBEE « RARQFRDLEE -
head office and corporate assets as these assets are REBERNEBEEEE -
managed on a group basis.
Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities, tax liabilities DHMEETREBELERIBEEE  HEABEBEARBILRATR
and unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these PEEBE AZZABERNEEEXEER -
liabilities are managed on a group basis.
Segment revenue and segment results DU ER D IWEE
Segment revenue Segment results
2R DEEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-\E —B—tE B\ —B—+%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AR¥T T AR¥TT ARETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(E3) (E3)
Property development in the PRC ~ AHR B~ ¥ %8 521,832 1,030,225 8,377 234,272
Property investment and REBEHAHRETTZ
management in the USA in MEIREREE AR
AHR and property management MGMRIZH Z % E 18
provided to GMR 46,639 37,658 6,659 (115)
Property investment other than AHR AHREASN 2 ¥ 245 & 13,535 13,068 17,237 11,689
Securities trading and investment  FAEEEH NIKE 15,756 14,586 24,959 3,042
Hotel operations B JE 15 3,708 4,882 (1,500) (1,684)
601,470 1,100,419 55,732 247,204
Unallocated corporate income PN NGIE N 23,999 4,048
Other gains and losses Hitblzs RE1E 7,251 (2,635)
Unallocated corporate expenses RAOBERAFIRX (11,398) (11,058)
Unallocated finance costs AP BELRE A (17,070) -
Profit before tax [ %5 B as ) 58,514 237,559
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, K& 5HER (F)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and segment results DEBULEE R D EBEE (&)
(continued)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBT R
(Restated)
(E35)
Segment assets DEEE
Property development in the PRC R YRR 38,122,867 17,569,460
Property investment and management in the USA REBRBAHRET ZMERE &
in AHR and property management provided to GMR BRI RMGMRIZEH Z MEE R 253,750 285,254
Property investment other than AHR AHRUAINZ MERE 503,032 466,559
Securities trading and investment BHREBEREKEE 237,705 149,365
Hotel operations B ¥ TS 7,541 6,764
39,124,895 18,477,402
Unallocated assets RAOBLEE 444,364 65,348
39,569,259 18,542,750
Segment liabilities SEE B
Property development in the PRC Bz MEER 37,753,219 17,022,000
Property investment and management in the USA RERBAHREITT Z MERE R
in AHR and property management provided to GMR BRI REGMRIZH Z X E R 109,183 102,135
Property investment other than AHR AHRLASNZ M1 E 145,730 142,878
Hotel operations S 603 635
38,008,735 17,267,648
Unallocated liabilities Aol 439,012 131,217
38,447,747 17,398,865
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REHIPER(E)

(CONTINUED)
Other segment information HihnEER
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-_Z-N\E+-A=+—HLEE
Property
investment
and
management
in the USA
in AHR
and property Property
Property management  investment Securities
development provided  otherthan  trading and Hotel Segment
inthe PRC to GMR AHR  investment  operations total  Unallocated Total
RERY
AHREfTZ
NERER
EBHURA
WhEZ  GMRE{Z AHRBLSH BHEE
NERR NEER  ZNERE ki& BEEH AR AR a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR  AR%TR  AR¥TR
Additions to investment REMERNE  BER
properties and property, SEIRE
plant and equipment 5,057 1,516 - - - 6,573 - 6,573
Depreciation of property, NE - BERRGERE
plant and equipment 3,251 110 n - 150 3,582 368 3,950
Impaiment losses on accounts ~ [EMEE 5 R E o FE M B
recelvable and other recelvables B E - 779 - - - 779 - 79
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  HEMBAF 2 Mz - - - - - - 7,447 7,447
Increase in fair value of investment &% 2 A AR
properties - 1,451 16,414 - - 17,865 - 17,865
Increase in fair value of financial AT E ABHZ
assets at fair value through SREENTEEM
profit or loss - - - 9,329 - 9,329 - 9,329
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Other segment information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 (Restated)

Property
development
inthe PRC
Rz
NEYRE
RMB'000
ARETT
Additions to investment REMERNE  BER
properties and property, SEIRE
plant and equipment 2,885
Depreciation of property, NE - BERRGERE
plant and equipment 157
Impaiment losses on accounts ~ FEMIEE 5 R E o FE M 2B
recelvable and other receivables  JFfEEE -
Increase in fair value of RENE ATEEN
investment properties -
Decrease in fair value of financial A TEEF ABHZ
assets at fair value through SREEATERD

profit or loss -

Property
investment
and
management
inthe USA

in AHR

and property
management
provided

to GMR
RERY
AHRETTZ
WERER
BEURA
GMREE(EZ
NEER
RMB'000
ARETT

185,781
90
129

2,770

RETHEN ()

Hith o & & ()

HE_Z—+F+_A=+—HIEFE(ES])

Property
investment Securities
otherthan  trading and Hotel
AHR investment operations
AHREASH #5EE
MERE k& BIEEH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFRL  ARETR  ARETR
16 - 307
105 - 138
451 - -
7,933 - -
- (12,072) -

Segment
total

DHER
RMB'000
ARETR

188,989
490
580

10,703

(12072

Unallocated Total
AAE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR
- 188,989

432 922

- 580

- 10,703

- (12,072)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REHIPER(E)

(CONTINUED)
Geographical information HEER
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
REIMBE S s FRBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF —E-N\F —E—tHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ~ ARBTRE  ARBTRE  ARETR
(Restated) (Restated)
(E350) (E3)
Hong Kong BE 2,115 2,489 114,848 95,800
The PRC h 522,481 1,030,225 4,608 2,802
The USA 3= 62,692 52,414 233,017 236,607
Singapore EiIDIIIE: Y 7,340 7,157 310,365 299,729
Japan B 6,842 8,134 6,908 47,218
601,470 1,100,419 669,746 682,156
The geographical locations of revenue from external KENSEEFWEZHEBERETENELETS - MEN
customers are based on the geographical markets of the KEZHEMMET - IR EECEEHRBEERSHT
customers, locations of properties and investments. The B zhIBREIEREEEEZHIBEREMET -
geographical locations of the non-current assets, excluding
deferred tax assets and financial instruments, are based on
the geographical locations of the assets.
Information about major customers EBETTERF2ER
During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no HE-Z—)\FRZZFE—EF+A=1T—HILFE  #HE
single customer has contributed 10% or more of the Group’s B-RPEEANEEAWNZE10%3 AL

total revenue.
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ZE—)\FEFER
5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 5. W@ERHAMUEA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WS -
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
(Restated)
(E7%)
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEA AWK
Sales of properties in the PRC R EEE 521,832 1,030,225
Property management services YIS E B RS 29,330 21,043
Hotel operations i 3,708 4,882
554,870 1,056,150
Revenue from other sources A iz 2R
Rental income AU A 30,844 29,683
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value BAFEFAEBRZ
through profit or loss EREEREBA 15,756 14,586
601,470 1,100,419
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—E-N\F+=ZA=+—H

5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 5. W@mRHEAKAGE)
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers EE AW
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) Wi &R
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_ZT— \F+_A=+—HILFE
Sales of Property
properties management Hotel
Segments PR in the PRC services operations Total
A
HEWE YESERY IR st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRT AR®BTR AR®TR

Type of goods or services and BERHRIE2ERI R

geographical markets EE TS
Sale of properties in the PRC RN EEmE 521,832 - - 521,832
Property management REB 2 V¥ E IR RS

services in the USA - 29,330 - 29,330
Hotel services and consumptions 7 B 72 7 B JE IR &

in Japan HE - - 3,708 3,708

Total revenue from contracts with  4pEFE & LN S 4258
external customers 521,832 29,330 3,708 554,870

Timing of revenue recognition U 7 57 B RS

Goods transferred at RE R E R

a point in time EEEY 521,832 - - 521,832
Services transferred over time [ B ] 2 o AR TS - 29,330 3,708 33,038
Total revenue from contracts IR P A B

with external customers pake) 521,832 29,330 3,708 554,870
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REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(0

(ii)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

Revenue recognised in the current reporting period
that was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the reporting period:

Sale of properties in the PRC

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the properties and advanced payments are
required pursuant to the terms of sale and purchase
agreements.

Rendering of services (property management services
and hotel operations)

The performance obligation is satisfied over time
as services are rendered and bills are issued when
services are delivered.

5. W@EKkHEMKA ()

EFEEHWE (&)

(i)

WeiE 7 HrE# (4F)

RAREHMERL S ARS BNz 0B B2 KA
LI

2018

—2-N\fF

RMB’000

AR¥ET T

AR B E 213,452
(i) EHEMF

FHAASEENEETZERBRNT

YR E

BHBEIRRINYERERT  BARBEEDZ
RFRIEN IR -

FEHIRIE (W EFEIRF KT L #75)

BHEEDIRERERBIL AR RBELELARE
By BB 5 PR R 1T
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(i) Performance obligations (continued)
The transaction prices allocated to the remaining

performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2018 are as follows:

Within one year
More than one year

5. WmRkEAMKA )
BEF SRR (H)

(i) BEREEE)

RZZ-NFE+ZA=+—0 SEEHTROEE
(RBRITHAD KRBT ZRXHERMOT :

2018
—E-N\E
RMB’000
AR®TT

—FR 10,578,454
BB —E 4,353,269

14,931,723

An analysis of other income is as follows: Haw A Z DT -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BT T AR¥TR
(Restated)
(25)
Interest income FLEBA 23,874 3,989
Government grants NEg/SE=N:) 1,000 -
Others HAith 204 121
25,078 4,110
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6. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 6. HW=ERER
2018 2017
—B-NE —s—t=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARBTR
(Restated)
(6=27))
Increase in fair value of investment properties (note 15) 3% & % > NTEEMN(HE15) 17,865 10,703
Increase/(decrease) in financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRZSREE
through profit or loss #h0,/ Crd) 9,329 (12,072)
Exchange loss, net FE 5 518 5 (319) (2,529
Impairment loss on accounts receivable and JE UG BR R e LAt B U K TE
other receivable DERIEN, SEi (779) (580)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEY% « BE RHE 2
(B18), /W (210) 22
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME ARz W 7,447 -
Others HAith - 392
33,333 (4,064)
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MEHRK
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR
(Restated)
(E75)
Interests on: THEREZFE -
Bank and other borrowings WITREMEE 546,308 85,591
Loans from a related company e —REEARZER 646 6,730
546,954 92,321
Interest arising from revenue contracts AR REEZFIE 258,682 -
Less: Capitalised in properties under development W RERPMEER(L (775,181) (82,837)
30,455 9,484
Borrowing costs have been capitalised at rates ranging from BEERMMEZBERATREFHENT4.35EE8.50E (=
4.35% 10 8.50% (2017: 4.00% to 7.43%) per annum. T—+F  400EE743E)2EE -
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8.

164

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

Cost of properties sold
Cost of services

Total employee benefit expenses:
Directors’ emoluments (note 9)
Other staff:
Salaries and other benefits
Retirement benefit scheme contributions

Less: Capitalised in properties under development

Auditor’s remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Minimum lease payments under operating leases
for land and buildings

Interest income
Gross rental income from investment properties
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred for:

— investment properties generated rental income

— investment properties that did not generate rental

income

8. PMRFANER

BEEMEKA
ARIBE A A

RERFFA AL
EEH(HE9)
HEMET :

e REMBF
RIKEFIEH B3R

o RERTMEENME

BN A

WE - BB RRBITE

RIBEEEERBLR
BFz&Els

MEWA
BREMFHEES WAL
o PRELEZ BREEFX
—REAMESWAZRENE
—RTEEEESHEAZ
REME

AEE 2z BRBATEME MR, (GTA) TFIEHE -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®TR
(Restated)
(E%)
316,904 721,216
9,425 11,398
1,383 1,561
62,859 31,112
3,516 939
67,758 33,612
(11,902) (2,541)
55,856 31,071
1,450 1,426
2,730 922
5,617 1,601
23,874 3,989
30,844 29,683
(5,535) (6,497)
(76) (337)
(5,611) (6,834)
25,233 22,849
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ZE-)\FEER
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EBERIETHASEHM
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BIE ETHRA - BB R EEGIZE383(1)@) * (b) * (c) R MHIEA

disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),

(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 EITRAEFHBNT -
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Fees

Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Retirement benefit scheme contributions

LARl(BEEEN AR RIF2HBREZFNEERT

2018 2017

—E-NF —E—+tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

(Restated)

(E35)

e 609 621
HAbFm -

e EMREDRER 748 859

RIREFIFH B 26 81

1,383 1,561
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERIETHASEMN(E)
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefit
benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
E2c A= 45 BEF
weE REYEF HEREEN st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETRT AR®TRT ARBTRT AR®TR

2018 —B-N\fF
Executive directors: HITESE -

Mr. Zhang* o S5 A - - - -

Mr. Zhang Guogiang oR BN 98 ST A - 748 26 774
Non-executive director: FHHTESE -

Ms. Huang Huang#z & - - - -

Independent non-executive directors: B HEHTTEE -

Mr. Liu Da RERE 203 - - 203
Dr. Liu Qiao REEL 203 - - 203
Mr. Ma Yuntao BEREE 203 - - 203

609 748 26 1,383
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ZE-)\FEER
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERIETHASEHM(E)
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefit
benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
E2ic = 4- EREF
Fiok EEYER sHEIHtK wst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥TR ARBTRT AR®TR
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E%) (231) (E31) (E31)
2017 —E—+1F
Executive directors: HITEE -
Mr. Zhang* R - - - -
Mr. Zhang Guogiang REB® L - 755 77 832
Mr. Eric Jackson Chang** SRR A - 104 4 108
Non-executive director: FENTTESE -
Ms. Huang Huangzz + - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: B IEHTEE -
Mr. Liu Da Bz 207 - - 207
Dr. Liu Qiao L 207 - - 207
Mr. Ma Yuntao BEXREE 207 - - 207
621 859 81 1,561

*

Mr. Zhang is also the chief executive of the Company.

ke

Mr. Eric Jackson Chang resigned as executive director on
1 April 2017.

There was no arrangement under which the directors waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the reporting
period (2017: Nil).

REEMBARRITHAH -

REBEENR-_T—+FMA-—BRERTES -

HEPHAMEESRELA KR ERCTAFHOLH
ZE—tFE)
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10.

168

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year were neither
director nor chief executive of the Company (2017: Nil),
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the five (2017: five)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

e RRREDREA

1,000,001/ 7% 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001/ 7C 22,000,000/ 7T
2,000,001/ 7T % 2,500,000/ 7T
2,500,001 7T %£3,000,000% 7T

10. EEEREHF AL

FRARGERHFALTEUFERARRERTHEIETRAE(Z
T—tFB) AURSHFMZFBERN EXHE - B
FRARA(ZE—tF: A)EBBEIHFALT(LEFEARREEN
FERTHABFMZFBENT

2018 2017
—E-NF —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F R AR¥FR
(Restated)

(E5))

8,592 6,707

BeNF TRz ZeH AT GEESRIEEBTHRAS)
ZANET

2018 2017
—B-N% S
- 3

3 2

1 —

1 —

5 5
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE FriSHiBa X
2018 2017
—E-N\% —E—tf
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
(Restated)
(E31)
Current tax — change for the year REARITE — F AR
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBNER - -
-PRC CIT — B EMEH 45,376 62,167
- PRC LAT — B T IS E R 38,343 44,301
— Overseas Corporate Income Tax —BINPEFRBHR 10,094 534
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR
— Overseas Corporate Income Tax — BN EEFTSHL 105 60
93,918 107,062
Deferred tax (note 28) IRIERL (Hat28) (63,896) (1,109)
Total tax charge for the year FABIEFZ A5 30,022 105,957

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group had no
assessable profits generated in Hong Kong for both years.

PRC CIT is calculated at the applicable income tax rate of
25% on the assessable profits for both years.

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of
sales of properties less deductible expenditures including cost
of land use rights and all property development expenditures.

The subsidiaries in the USA are generally subject to Federal
Income Tax Rate at 21% (2017: at a maximum tax rate of
35%) and State Income Tax ranging from 3% to 8.25%
(2017: 3% to 8.25%) on the taxable income. Certain of these
subsidiaries retained with undistributed income are also
entitled to an additional personal holding company tax at
20% on the taxable income. Certain subsidiaries are limited
liability companies which are by default disregarded entities
(i.e. viewed as divisions of the holding company) and would
be taxed as part of their holding company for federal tax
purposes.

HRAEERMEFERNGERTBELRRTUEHN - Bt
WERFA M BRRA BB RIE T -

Fh B 1 3 P 1S 156 R 18 4R FE 1R B AR 0 e ) 2 25% 38 R T 1S B o

B IR E M TR + B AR IR (A FEB0% £ 60% 1 RAETH
B BEBRHEY RSN LI EMREER LM
EMERRAZERINGRHINSBE

REBZIMBAT —RFRERBEBAL21%(ZF—+
F o REHWEIE%) ZBHAEHRBE RN F3%E8.25% (=
T—LF  3%E8.25%) ZIMNAEHRZNHRIE - FEARD K
WA ZE T 25K 8RR IR SRR B A Z 20% 3 B A
ZRABHI N - ETHEBRARNBAERRIA - KFTHEER
ER(AMRRERARZAM) - Bt B = EEERA
BB ERIA -
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11.

12.

170

B 5 ¥R R B

NE+=ZA=+—H

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

Income tax expense for the year is reconciled to the profit

1. FriSHia < ()

FARTSTHA X HER

before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as

follows:

Profit before tax

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25%
(2017: 25%)

Effect of different tax rates on operations in other
jurisdictions

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose

PRC LAT

Tax effect of PRC LAT

Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised

Under provision in prior years

Income tax expenses for the year

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend

in respect of the year (2017: Nil).

B T B )i 7

BT RIE25%
ZT—LF  25%)
FTE 2 HIE

EHMEEER S E
MERRRz FE

TTW%E&ZMﬁwE
BEZFHBAZHETE

ARt AT

R IR ER 2 SR

FEREREZEIMBETE

AERZBEBBHETE

BABARERCRIBEEE

BEFEREBTR

FAMREBR%

12- Hﬁ/%\

B RATURERB DR M S BRNT

2018 2017
—E-N\% —E-t%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®T T
(Restated)

(&%)

58,514 237,559
14,629 59,390
2,175 250
3,325 7,275
(17,509) (7,341)
38,343 44,301
(9,586) (11,075)
8,238 (779)
6,823 17,280
(16,521) (8,404)
105 60
30,022 105,957

BEETEEAANFE

BE(ZT—tF: &) -
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13. ZXAR#EEAELEEREF
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on: BRERBFIZATERGH
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
(Restated)
(E%1)
Earnings 2|
Profit attributable to owners of the Company used in the ZsA BB A (S F -
basic earnings per share calculation BRitEEIRERET] 29,971 131,709
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
’000 ’000
T T
Shares & 7
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue FREETEBRMNEFLSE -
during the year used in the basic earnings per share AR EERERAEF
calculation 6,176,820 6,176,820

No diluted earnings per share was presented for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 as the Group had no
potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during these years.

HRAEERBE_ - N\FR-_T—tF+_A=+—H

LR BREEREC BT E R -

ERBERF -

B MEFEHEZS)
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERR®

Furniture,

office

Land equipment

and Leasehold and motor
buildings Hotel improvement vehicles Total

HE &H BPLE
T REF BIE MERE BRERRE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TT AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR

Cost: B
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—-N\F—A—H 12,969 7,336 2,058 6,618 28,981
Additions NE - - - 6,573 6,573
Disposal HE - - - (947) (947)
Exchange realignment M 5 AR 710 605 103 208 1,626
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F

+=ZRA=+—8 13,679 7,941 2,161 12,452 36,233

Accumulated depreciation: Rt :

At 1 January 2018 RZZE—-)\&—H—H 3,516 1,098 1,652 2,891 9,157
Depreciation provided during & AT & B &
the year 263 920 72 3,525 3,950
Disposal HE - - - (495) (495)
Exchange realignment & 5 AR 202 95 79 119 495
At 31 December 2018 R-ZZ—N\F
+=ZA=+—H 3,981 1,283 1,803 6,040 13,107
Net carrying amount: BRTEFE ¢
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\F—A—H 9,453 6,238 406 3,727 19,824
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F

+ZA=+—H 9,698 6,658 358 6,412 23,126
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BMERREE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Furniture,
office
Land equipment
and Leasehold and motor
buildings Hotel improvement vehicles Total
HE &R -BAE
T REF iy MELE BRERRE met
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR ARBT R AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E751) (E5) (E5) (E751) (2751)
Cost: A
At 1 January 2017 RZE—tF—H—H 13,950 7,542 1,911 4,121 27,524
Additions NE - - 211 3,064 3,275
Disposal HE - - - (473) (473)
Exchange realignment [E 5, % (981) (206) (64) (94) (1,345)
At 31 December 2017 NZZE—+F
+-A=1+—8H 12,969 7,336 2,058 6,618 28,981
Accumulated depreciation: ZEiHiTE :
At 1 January 2017 R-ZE—t&—H—H 3,503 1,040 1,580 2,929 9,052
Depreciation provided during £ 47 & &%
the year 269 90 115 448 922
Disposal HE - - - (435) (435)
Exchange realignment N (256) (32 (43) (51) (382)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
+=-A=+—H 3,516 1,098 1,652 2,891 9,157
Net carrying amount: IR FE :
At 1 January 2017 RZE—tF—H—H 10,447 6,502 331 1,192 18,472
At 31 December 2017 RZZE—+t&F
+=-RA=+—H 9,453 6,238 406 3,727 19,824
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ¥ - BERRKRE(E)
(CONTINUED)

The carrying values of land and building and hotel held by the AEEFE L BFREEZEREBESITOT ¢
Group are analysed as follows:

2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —ZE—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥BT R
(Restated)
(E35)
Leasehold land and building in Hong Kong REBZHEL W NETF 9,698 9,453
Freehold land and building in Japan RBARZ KA REF 6,658 6,238
16,356 15,691
At 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s leasehold RZE-N\F+ZA=+—H AEEEREBESHHARE
land and buildings with an aggregate carrying value of 9,698,0007T( =& —+ 4 : AR¥9,453,0007T) 2 & THE
approximately RMB9,698,000 (2017: RMB9,453,000) have T REFEEBARGRER 2 B8 (MF27) -
been pledged to secure the Group’s borrowings (note 27).
15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REYH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARET T
(Restated)
(25)
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZERAE 662,332 521,630
Additions NE - 185,714
Disposals e (58,688) (38,916)
Transfer to investment properties classified as held HREESBRARFELEZ
for sale (note 22) REME M F22) (5,582) (2,359)
Net gain from a fair value adjustment AENTE W FE 17,865 10,703
Exchange realignment fE 55, 3 2 30,693 (14,440)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZA=+—RAZEmE 646,620 662,332
All of the Group’s property interests held under operating AEEMRENKCEHERBURNEASSIIEERNABZY
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes XREEBERATERAGE U0 BEAREMEAR -
are measured using the fair value model and are classified AEEAE L ARKB09,00500 L (ZFE—+F : AR
and accounted for as investment properties. The investment 564,987,000t ) Z AW HE D EIFABE AN EEEE (T
properties with an aggregate fair value of RMB609,005,000 36) °

(2017: RMB564,987,000) are under charge to secure the
Group’s borrowings (note 36).
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15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

The fair values of the investment properties situated in Hong
Kong, Singapore and the USA as at 31 December 2018 are
based on the valuations carried out by APAC Asset Valuation
and Consulting Limited (“APAC”). APAC is the member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and Valuers and
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Group.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the
highest and best use of the investment properties is the
current use. The fair values of the investment properties are
derived from the capitalisation of net income method with due
allowance for the reversionary income.

At the end of the reporting period, management of the
Group works with valuers to establish and determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level 3 fair
value measurements. Where there is a material change in the
fair value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations will be
reported to the directors of the Company.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

15.

REMEE)

REAE TMERERZREMER-_ZT—N\F+=A
ST —HZATEDEREREENHREMBR AR
(TR PTETHEREE © 2K AHong Kong Institute of
Surveyors and Valuers& B B AR EE W EEE 2 BILAE
BB ER -

B REVERATER  REVESRFARRERER/RE
R - WEMERXFEBRANFRENMDESL - XRER
WA VEHEE B -

RS ER  ASEERERGENAE REZR
ATE BRYAATEE 2 G ERFREARE - HAE
2 ATEAEAKE - LRBREGAALRE RS -

DNPEER
TRINRAEEEEYEZ A HEFHERER

31 December 31 December

2018 2017
e e
t=A=+-B +=A=+-8
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
(Restated)
(E31)
Fair value measurement using significant unobservable — (R EA T i B A £i1E.>
inputs (Level 3) NFEFE(E=R)
Recurring fair value measurement for investment MR TR ZIREYE L
properties located in EEERAFETE
- Hong Kong —&E 104,857 86,049
- Singapore — AN 310,332 299,601
- USA —%H 231,431 236,248
~ Japan ES - 40,434
646,620 662,332

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 (2017: Nil).

FR F-REEF-_PoMITEXEEAAFEFEEEZ
B A EEEEASBEEE =R 2BR(—T—+LF
&) -
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REWE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and TH ARNEESEAF =Lz T EREMEMGBERER 4
the key inputs to the valuation of the Group’s significant EEMREZEGABRIHME

investment properties categorised into Level 3:

Range or weighted average

&[5 = iR T 19 B
Properties Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs 2018 2017
L/E S Y= ERTUEERAHE —EBE-N\F ZEB—+tF
Offices located in Hong Kong  Income capitalisation Monthly market rent (HK$ per sq. ft.) 46 52 and 59
with a carrying value of approach FATHEES(BFEARET) 5259
RMB104,857,000 Term yield (per annum) 1.6%-2.0% 1.6%-2.0%
(2017: RMB84,093,000) FHIRERR(GE)
R BEBEEA W AB AR E Reversion yield (per annum) 1.9%-2.2% 2.6%
AR#104,857,0007T EHERER(EF)
—E—tF
AR %84,093,0007T)
ZHRE
Commercial and residential Income capitalisation Monthly market rent (SGD per sq. ft.) 3.7-9.0 3.7-9.0
unites located in Singapore approach FAMSHEE (BFHRI I IT)
with a carrying value of Term yield (per annum) 3.0%-3.4% 3.2%-3.4%
RMB310,332,000 FHRHE(FF)
(2017: RMB299,601,000) Reversion yield (per annum) 3.2%-3.6% 3.2%-3.6%
AT I AR TENA WA E A% EHENEE(EF)
AR #310,332,0007C
(Z2—+F:
AR #299,601,0007T)
Z A REEERN
Senior housing communities  Income capitalisation Annual market rent (USD per sqg. ft.) 20.2-29.8 20.0-29.6
located in the USA approach BEMSEHES(BFFRERL)
with a carrying value of Term yield (per annum) 8.0% 8.0%
RMB193,816,000 FHIWERR(GE)
(2017: RMB181,293,000) Reversion yield (per annum) 8.5% 8.5%
AEBIEREE WAB A EEkEE(EF)
AR #193,816,0007T
—E—tF
AK#181,293,0007T)
ZREXERS
Residential single homes Income capitalisation Monthly Market rent (USD per sq. ft.) 0.56-0.86 0.56-0.87
located in the USA approach FATBHEE(EFHRET)
with a carrying value of Term yield (per annum) 12%-14% 12%-14%
RMB9,828,000 FHWRE(GF)
(2017: RMB28,730,000) Reversion yield (per annum) 12.5%-14.5% 12.5%-14.5%
IS BIBRE E WAB R A ERkEE(EF)
AR #9,828,0007T
2 —4F
AR %28,730,0007T)
ZEBREEBM
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15.

16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15.
(CONTINUED)
A significant increase (decrease) in the market rent in isolation
would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties. A significant increase
(decrease) in the term yield and reversion yield in isolation
would result in a significant decrease (increase) in the fair
value of the investment properties.
There has been no change from the valuation technique used
in the prior years.
PLEDGED DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED 16.
BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Pledged deposits BEEfZE
— Current — BN HA
— Non-current —3ERNER

Restricted bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents

Pledged deposits represent bank deposits of
RMB687,365,000 (2017: RMB29,229,000) and deposits
held with financial institutions of RMB27,000,000 (2017:
RMB70,000,000) pledged to banks and financial institutions
to secure the facilities granted to the Group and the mortgage
loan facilities granted by certain banks to certain property
buyers of the Group’s properties. The pledged deposits
will be released upon the settlement of relevant borrowings
and the expiry of the mortgage guarantees provided to the
property buyers. Bank deposits and deposits held with
financial institutions amounting to RMB33,915,000 (2017:
RMB52,772,000) have been pledged to secure the Group’s
non-current borrowings and are therefore classified as non-
current assets.

PRI IRTT A R

R MREFERAB

REMEE)

MSAEERARENOND) @EBIRENE R FEARE
MORD) - FHERXRERREXEFRBZMORD)E
BERREWERFERERD (EM) -

PR S ERIT LB FEAR -

CHEFRE IRBIBITERURRERR
EEEEHE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBTT
(Restated)

(235)

680,450 46,457
33,915 52,772
714,365 99,229
101,913 161,854
673,412 685,710

EHRIFIRSECEFFRITLEMEE ZRITERARE
687,365,000 ( Z T —+F : AR 29,229,00070) & &
R T TF A R 27,000,000 (—FE—+F : AR
70,000,0007T) * MEIEE FAEBE 2 @E KA THRITET
AEBYEZETOEBER 2 ZBER@ME - CHEARS B
RIERAEREERMNEETYEER 2 RIBERIPERE
b oo RITF AR S BEEMFETRARES3,915,0007T (=
T—+F: AR¥52,772,00070) BT - NESAEEIE
BEAE R - At DB AERBEE -
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16. PLEDGED DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED

178

BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

Restricted bank balances are required, pursuant to the
relevant regulations in the PRC, that certain amount of
presale proceeds of properties be placed as guarantee
deposits in designated bank accounts for the constructions
of the relevant properties. The deposits can only be used for
payments for construction costs of the relevant properties
with approval.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating or fixed rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate
to their fair values.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB1,367,476,000 (2017: RMB823,168,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

16.

CEFRE IRBIBITERURRERR
EEEEE ()

R EIIRITAE R IERIER BAEEARD] - AR EEESH
HzETeRFEARBERITPOEREEMEZETRZR
BRZHIA - EHER - BRRESD AR NEREDE
ZIREERR

RITR SRR AT RITE KA X ZRF 8 3 B E F = BRER A
B RITERCFEAOHAL B ARCHEAERARE ZRIT
e MReFEEE ZREEEELAFERE

RREHEEER  AEEUAARBEFEZR S RRTT
EH B ANR®E1867,476000T(ZF —+HF : ARE
823,168,0007T) - AR EE A AEMER - A -
R E Rz OMEBT RG] RAEE - EEARNES
WIRTE) - AN EEfEBEREETINEEBHRITHA
REE S IEEMER -
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17.

18.

19.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE

Completed properties held for sale are all situated in the PRC.
The Group carried out assessment on net realisable value
at the end of the reporting period and compared to the cost
and there was no written-down to the net realisable value of
completed properties held for sale for both years.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are all situated in the PRC and
RMB8,602,149,000 (2017: Nil) are expected to be realised
within twelve months and the remaining RMB21,175,696,000
(2017: RMB12,038,415,000) are expected to be realised
after twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
The Group carried out assessment on net realisable value
at the end of the reporting period and compared to the cost
and there was no written-down to the net realisable value of
properties under development for both years.

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS PAID
FOR LAND ACQUISITIONS

The amount represented deposits and prepayments paid
for land acquisitions arising from the acquisition of land use
rights in the PRC. These deposits will be converted into
properties under development upon completion of the land
acquisition process and fully refundable if the acquisition is
not successful.

17.

18.

19.

FEHEZETIME

FELEZERIMEDBURTE - REENREHARE
HAHT R FEETHE T EK AL - SEYRESE
FER & 20 e TR 2 I 23S EETTHUR -

BEPUE

BEAWE2IUAFERARKS602,149,000 7T ( =
T—tF E)BHEARESHMAEERRT_@EARE
WA T ARE21,175,696,000T (T —+% : ARK
12,088,415,0007T) BIFE B M sR S i AA B HR+ =@ A
% AEBENREPEAE AH SR FEETTGHL
R ARLLE - BB WEAFEERPYWE L AR FEET

BNt ERERBENKE

FRcEERNPERE L nEREMES Z BN R
SRENKIE - ZEREER IR BREFTREERSE
ERmE - MBI ARRD - BIRBCRE -
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20.

180

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

20. FEWERN - HBWREREMEE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®T R

(Restated)

(25)

Accounts receivable FEUR X 22,218 68,681
Less: Impairment o RE - -
22,218 68,681

Debt investment at amortised cost (note) LB EK AT E 2 B E (Mi7) 323,257 -
Prepaid value-added taxes and other taxes TERHIEER R EMFIE 606,006 103,970
Deposits and prepayments e RFERMRIE 150,413 12,247
Costs of obtaining contracts WMEEHZ KA 61,094 -
Other receivables H b FEYGRIE 13,101 14,436
Amounts due from an investee FEUIS & ¥R I8 - 5,284
1,153,871 135,937
Less: Impairment A ORE (650) (5,284)
1,153,221 130,653

1,175,439 199,334

Note: Debt investment of approximately RMB323,257,000
(2017: Nil) subscribed during the year in the principal
amount of USD47,000,000 was unsecured, interest
bearing at 9.7% per annum and would be redeemed at
the principal amount at maturity on the date mutually
agreed with the issuer in writing, which fall on or before
31 January 2019. The debt investment was subsequently
settled in January 2019.

AT ENRE AL 547,000,000 L2 EHIRENARE
323,257,000 ( =T —+F : ) REEHR - RFFNEK7E
PR BEARSHEERESETALRAEERERB(EAZST
—NE—A=+— B A HERER - EHIRERERZ
T-NF-AB#HHE -
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20. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, OTHER 20. FEWERF - HttEWREREMEE (&)
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS
(CONTINUED)
Accounts receivable represent receivables from sales of EWERRIEM R HE  DETREE KRS  HERAEEEME
properties, property management fee receivables, dividend YA FEFRIE
receivables, rental receivables and hotel room revenue
receivables.
Receivable arising from sales of properties are due for REWRIEE 2 BUGRRTHIRE S B & {2 R34
settlement in accordance with the terms of the related sale Ho WS R MEERE 2 EF RS L R EFB A
and purchase agreements. The settlement terms of rental ERGEE - BEEHBA-—RARESRERFEE - KBS
receivables and property management fee receivables are HIR  PrE BURFIZ s R B R E R AR 2 Rk E
upon presentation of demand notes. Hotel room revenue RBEA(ZF—tF - ER3EH) -
is normally settled by cash or credit card. All accounts
receivable was aged less than 3 months as at the end of the
reporting period (2017: less than 3 months), based on the
revenue recognition date or invoice date.
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of JEMS B R N Eo At PR W R IR (B < ISR 2 Z 3han T
accounts and other receivables are as follows:
2018 2017
—E-NF —E—-tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT
(Restated)
(E35)
At beginning of year REFEF) 5,284 5,684
Impairment losses BERE 779 580
Amount written off i EE KR (5,413) (580)
Exchange realignment [ o, 5 2 - (400)
At end of year RER 650 5,284
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20.

182

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns.
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

No provision for impairment of accounts receivable was
provided for as at 31 December 2018 as the directors of the
Company consider the expected credit loss is insignificant.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s financial assets included in other receivables
and other assets using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2018 RZE—-N\&F
+=HB=+—8

Expected credit loss rate TEHEEBEX

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) FREBE(AREFIT)

Expected credit losses (RMB’000) EHEEBEAREFIL)

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017

Accounts receivable that were neither past due nor impaired
of RMB11,001,000 related to a wide range of customers
for whom there was no recent history of default. Accounts
receivable of RMB57,680,000 past due but not impaired
were overdue less than 1 month at the end of year. Based on
past experience, the directors of the Company were of the
opinion that no provision for impairment under HKAS 39 was
necessary in respect of these balances as there had not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances were
still considered fully recoverable.

20. BEWERN - HiBURERHLMEER)

BE-Z2-/\F+-A=Z+-HLEFEFTBUKERSE
FERIFRE T HRE

WMEDM IR E&&wE B MERBEREETT - At 8BHE
BER - BEEDEANZEAREUBERANEF 5 A
REBERBETE - ZtERMIAXNEER - BERRHE
BEARNRE RIS ERBERS - Z AR FORRE
RN EE R AT SEEHR -

HRARAESARABEHEEBRLTER  HR_2F—N
FHZA=1—BXEREYERREHRERE - TXHET
ERBERESHASE AR EFEIEMEEZS
MAEEBNERERRNER

Past due
Current within 1 year Total
BN BE—-FUR st
0% 1% - 5% 4.96%
- 13,101 13,101
- 650 650

HE-B—tF+-A=+-ALFEEERHER
#3030 E T MR

REHF IR A 2 U AR A R 11,001,0007T 34 R K £ 30
W EBRCIRZES - DEBRERREZERERARE
57,680,000C R ERBHATEEA - RIEBAELR - @R
EEEXVES A RERDESR AR BERE - AR
RIEERABARBEESGTENEIRM S EHIEL R
[EE -
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21. BAVEFABGZZERMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2018 2017
—=-N\F —B—tf
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
(Restated)
(E31)
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REB LM ZBRAES 46 53
Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong REBEIN LT 2 RAE S 5,300 6,884
5,346 6,937
REIT securities listed outside Hong Kong REBBINET Z
B EREETES 227,186 138,976
232,532 145,913
22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES CLASSIFIED 22. 2 EARBEHEZREYE

AS HELD FOR SALE

In 2018, the Group has entered into agreements with
independent third parties for the disposal of certain
investment properties for an aggregate cash consideration of
approximately RMB5,582,000 (2017: RMB2,359,000). The
directors of the Company assessed and concluded that the
held-for-sale criteria set out in HKFRS 5 Non-Current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations for the disposal
are met. Therefore, these contracted investment properties
are classified as investment properties classified as held for
sale as at 31 December 2018. The fair value of investment
properties classified as held for sale is determined with
reference to their contracted selling price. The disposals of
both years have been completed subsequent to the end of
the respective reporting period.

RZE—N\F AEBEEBIE=FEI R 0 WERS
REHARKES5582,000L(=ZF—+F : AR2,359,000
TIHEETRENME - ARRESZTHRBEZLEDH
EEBMBEREENESHFIELEERDEERERIEL
BEBIBIFELERE - At RZT—\F+=A
—t+—HB ZECINRAVERSBEASBEABELEY
BEYE - DEARBELEZREMEZ AFENZEZEHES
HHEEMETE - MEFEZHEHERREHRELEEAR
FEAK e
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23. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, DEPOSITS 23. BB EWEERESER
RECEIVED AND ACCRUALS
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E-tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®TT
(Restated)
(E31)
Accounts payable FERTBRFX 173 210
Accrued construction costs (Note) FERTIEER A (A 7E) 1,030,214 1,765,938
Rental deposits received cWHEERS 7,827 6,676
Retention deposits and payable REAS LIEMNZIE 30,073 11,054
Real estate and other taxes payable ENEERMEMEIE 15,185 18,439
Other payables and accruals HEh N RIERESER 194,805 56,105
1,278,277 1,858,422
Less: Rental deposits received — non-current B BREERS - IER (7,128) (5,588)
1,271,149 1,852,834
The average credit period of accounts payable ranges from EMIERZ FHEEHN TI0BE0H(ZZ—+CF : 30H
30 to 90 days (2017: 30 to 90 days). All accounts payable Z90H) - RIFEBEZAE  2IEMEREKRA—FR -
were aged within one year, based on invoice date.
Note: Included in accrued construction costs is amounts Biat - FERTEZEMK AN LA RHEES96,609,0007t(ZF—+HF ¢ A
due to a related company controlled by the ultimate R#242,359,0007T) At B E TR MEN —BEERQR
controlling shareholder of the Company and together with (AR BRI RAR R E R AR BT ) 2 FH -

her spouse of approximately RMB396,699,000 (2017:
RMB242,359,000) for its construction work.
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24.

25.

26.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group receives advanced payments from customers
based on schedules as established in the property sales
contracts. As explained in the note 2.3 to the consolidated
financial statements, before the adoption of HKFRS 15,
the Group recognised proceeds from customers of pre-
sold properties as deposits and prepayments received and
receipts in advance from property buyers. Under HKFRS 15,
the amount is classified as contract liabilities.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of contract
liabilities was RMB11,304,291,000 (1 January 2018:
RMB2,637,757,000). Increase in contract liabilities as at 31
December 2018 was due to more property projects started
pre-sale during the current year.

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED
COMPANIES

The amounts due to related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. Ms. Huang and her
spouse Mr. Zhang have the controlling interests over these
related companies.

LOANS FROM A RELATED COMPANY

The Group has entered into loan agreements with a related
company, Henan Zensun Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Zensun”),
which was ultimately controlled by Ms. Huang, pursuant to
which Zensun will provide unsecured loans.

As at 31 December 2018, loans amounting to approximately
RMB12,867,310,000 (2017: RMB2,624,998,000) were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Those
amounts were shown under the current liabilities as Zensun
had the discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.

As at 31 December 2017, loans amounting to approximately
RMB25,864,000 were unsecured, and interest-bearing at the
lower of (i) 4% per annum and (i) such other interest rate the
Group is able to borrow in an amount equal to the relevant
loan from a bank or a financial institution at the date of
drawdown. The amounts were repayable within one year and
repaid during the current year.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the carrying
amounts of the loans approximate their fair values at initial
recognition.

24.

25.

26.

BHEE

FEEREMEHES O ENRERBEEPRIIFAN R
B o PN E MR 2.3 - SRAEEW B IMEAER
E165%R - ARBHERRAEEMERT P ZMEFTEREW
LIEWMEER 2B RIANKIA - RIBEEM B #REER
F16% - BREFALBRANERE -

RZE-NFE+-_A=+—HB AHNEGBEZEEEAA
R #11,304,291,000t(ZE—N\F—H—H : AR
2,637,757,0007L) - RZE— N\F+_A=+—HEHEE
IR EZMERE RAFERBRBEMR -

P BAE A R RIE

FENBERRFRIASEER - % BAIRBRER ° HuangX
TRERGRLENZEMEQTRA LB EE -

RE-—EEEQXTZEN

AEFEBEEARIEEREEERAT(ER] - BAHuang
T HEEHI AR ETER HE - Bt - ERBREHEE
EIRER -

RZZ—\F+-A=+—H  HARE12,867,310,0007T
(ZZT—+tF : ARM2,624,998,0007T) 7 &7 A EELIF -
R B NBREREE - AR IERBWIBER ZRENEFER -
MZEFEEINWERS AR -

R-ZZ—+tF+—A=+—H  HARE25864,0002E
FAERR - LR THEEESE  ()VFFR4E LiH RSN
R BAEEENABRTRSHEEEAGHERSE
ZHMFR - ZEREARN—FAREETERAFEEE -

RABEERR
RFERE -

C ZEERZREEERERTIGERR Z
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27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

186

Current
Bank loans - secured

Other loans - secured
Other loans - unsecured

Bonds - unsecured (Note a)

Non-current
Bank loans - secured

Asset backed securities
- unsecured (Note b)
Other loans - secured

Other loans - unsecured

I
ROTER-FER

At ER-FER
HbER—BER

{5 — EEM(HTa)

ek
ROER-FER

AEXRES
— BRI ED)
EER-HER

A ER—BEA

Effective

interest rate
per annum

(%)

BRERE%)

3.02-7.94

7.08-7.43

7.50

3.02-8.50

7.25

7.08-7.43

2,00

27. RITREMEE

2018
—B-N\F

Maturity
ZIHA

2019 or

on demand*

—E-nE

REER

2019
—E-NF

2019
—E-NE

2020-2030
—E-EFE
—E=-EF
2021
—EC--F
2020
“ECEF

2020
—g-%%

RMB’000
ARBTR

1,565,050

718,118

1,375,228

3,658,396

3,253,404

996,314

1,492,611

3,000,000

8,742,329

12,400,725

Effective
interest rate
per annum
(%)
BREFIR(%)

2.04-5.70

5.48-7.43

4.35

2.76-5.48

5.48-7.43

2017 (Restated)
“E-tE(E)
Maturity RMB’000
HHE AR%®TR
2018 or 446,652
on demand*
—Z-)N\E
FRE R
2018 414,817
—E-N\F
2018 3,000,000
—T)N\E
3,861,469
2020-2030 654,871
i S Y
“E=ZF
2019-2020 3,214,278
“ZT-NEFE
g 33
3,869,149
7,730,618
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27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 27. RITRHMEE(E)
(CONTINUED)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBTT
(Restated)
(E7%)
Analysed into: =1
Bank and other borrowings repayable: AR THIHHEEZ
RITREMEE :
Within one year or on demand* —FRIRE K 3,658,396 3,861,469
In the second year F_F 7,104,552 3,742,179
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FoEFRAF(BEEEME) 1,620,490 105,802
Beyond five years HiBAF 17,287 21,168
12,400,725 7,730,618
* The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings include an * RITESFEEERIEARK473,000T(ZE—+F : AR

amount of RMB473,000 (2017: RMB3,519,000) which
is not repayable within one year based on scheduled
repayment date but has been classified as current
liabilities as the counterparty has discretionary rights to

demand immediate repayment.

8,519,0007) + RFEREFRRAAN—FAEE - BhR

BB HEZRAE

1+ sem

SEET /N

BEDBRRBAR -
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27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

188

(CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of bank and other borrowings at the
end of the reporting period were denominated in the following
currencies.

HKS B
SGD T
USD ESM
RMB AR
Notes:

(@) On 14 February 2018, Company completed the issuance

of bonds at principal amount of USD200 million (at
carrying amount of approximately RMB1,375,228,000
as at 31 December 2018) carrying interest of 7.5% per
annum due on 31 January 2019 in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the subscription agreement.
The bonds were unsecured but guaranteed by a related
company, in which ultimately controlled by Ms. Huang.
The bonds proceeds were used for general corporate
purposes of the Group. The bonds were subsequently
redeemed in January 2019.

(b) On 31 July 2018, a wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of the
Company engaged in property development completed
the issuance of assets-backed securities at carrying
coupon rate of 7.2% per annum. The asset-backed
securities were unsecured but guaranteed by a related
company, in which ultimately controlled by Ms. Huang.

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are
secured by the Group’s pledged deposits, investment
properties, property, plant and equipment, properties under
development and completed properties held for sale with
the total carrying amount of RMB15,539,435,000 (2017:
RMB10,476,765,000). In additions, shares of certain
subsidiaries are pledged as securities to obtain certain
bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as at 31
December 2018 and 2017. Details of which are disclosed in
note 36 to the financial statements.

In additions, as at 31 December 2018, borrowings, excluding
bonds and asset-backed securities, at carrying amount of
approximately RMB600,000,000 were guaranteed by related
companies which was controlled by the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company.

27. RITREMEE(HE)

RREHREER  RITREMEE ZREETDIA TG
BIfE -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥TR
(Restated)

(E%)

3,720 6,502
80,662 81,963
1,529,367 147,153
10,786,976 7,495,000
12,400,725 7,730,618

Hret

(a) RZZ—N\FZA+WMB  ARAIRERE G2 KR
HHEERETR_TE-—NAF—A=1+—REMBMZASHE
200,000,000 (R =F—N\F+_A=+—HERHAEHA
R#1,375,228,00070) &% * BEFMEKISEFTL - EFHA
AR - (BB HuangZ TR 2 BE@ R RIEIR o EHFT
BRECREAEERZ —REEASE - UEFEEERZ-Z
—hF—AEE -

(b) RIB-NFLA=+—8B ARAREHNEZRZE2ED
BMEARTRBETEEHES  FREERT2E - 5
BEEXHHESAEER  BhHuangX THREER 2 BER
AR -

AEBETRITMEMBEENRAEEEEABEARE
15,539,435,0007T( = —+4F : AR#¥10,476,765,0007T)
ZEERBIES REME  WE BELEE  BERTPUE
MEEHEZETIYMEMERR - fbih RZT—NFRZ
T—+F+-fF=+—08 BTWEBREZBRHDERR
LS ARE@MTER 2 E TRITREMES - BEFBERH
THIREMI TE36IHE -

o R-ZE—-NE+-_A=+—0 BEEEHARE
600,000,000t 2 fE B (BEH R EELFHELFRIN AR R F]
BRI IR AR BRI 6 2 BEE A B ER o
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28. DEFERRED TAX 28. EIERIA
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities arising wRtEmEL YRIEBEESERAB I EEHNT ¢
from temporary differences are as follows:
N 53
Deferred tax assets BEHAAE
Provision
Tax loss for LAT Total
BEEE LB ERRE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥TR AR®TR
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 and RA—_Z—+&F—A—H -
1 January 2018 —E—tF+=A
Zt+—BR-Z—-N\fF
— H — E — —_ —_
Credited to profit or loss during the year FRRIBRIEFTA
(note 11) (Bzt11) 57,299 5,869 63,168
Deferred tax assets at 31 December 2018 R-ZT—N\E+_- A
=S+ —HZIEERBEEE 57,299 5,869 63,168
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEEE
Revaluation
of properties
acquired
Accelerated Revaluation under
tax of investment business
depreciation properties  combination Total
£Ba0
hn&E RE BTWREZ
BENE MES L MES HEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR¥ TR AR¥TR AR¥TR
At 1 January 2017 (Restated) RZZ—+F—A—H(E) 61) (3,897) (6,392) (10,350)
Charged to profit or loss during the year FARERFEMR
(note 11) (Restated) (Hiz£11)(EF)) - 1,105 - 1,105
Transfer to LAT payables (Restated) BE IS ERENRIE
(£7) - - 1,896 1,896
Exchange realignment (Restated) EHAR(E7)) 6 209 - 215
Deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+F+_-_F=+—H
and 1 January 2018 (Restated) k_F-NF—A—HZ
EEREEE(E7) (55) (2,583) (4,496) (7,134)
Charged to profit or loss during the year FRRIERENR
(note 11) (H1aE11) - 728 - 728
Transfer to LAT payables BRI ERER B - - 1,206 1,206
Exchange realignment M 5 @) (121) - (124)
Deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2018 R=—ZE—N\&FE+=A
=t+-RZEEFEEE (58) (1,976) (3,290) (5,324)
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28. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 28. EERIE(E)
During the year ended 31 December 2018, deferred tax assets HE-_Z—N\F+_A=+—HLLFE WAL HX
were recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is KIERFTORA IR e ASBHEEEBRZELTH
probable that relevant future taxable profits will be available BEEAE(ZZE—+F :8|) ZEARAHHEFEEBERIASE T+
against for utilisation (2017: Nil). These unused tax losses BREBEATIR -_ZE— \FEAERE  RARATEEFTRE -
were in respect of certain PRC subsidiaries carried forward ZEATHENBARIBELETHZ RRERTEF
at the end of 2018 and the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that these certain PRC subsidiaries will generate
sufficient future taxable profits.
At 31 December 2018, the Group had total unrecognised RZE-—NF+_A=1+—8 AEEREZREBAEHRE
unused tax losses of RMB542,436,000 (2017: BiEE%E A ARK542436,000L( —FE—+F : AR
RMB570,493,000), which were subject to agreement with 570,493,0007T)  BHA MG HEIBRI L2 e - A AIEEH
respective tax authorities, available to offset against future KRFE - ERMIBEBIHEEEB—BREEZMBAT R
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect AABEERTRAIGEH ERBUE A A B KT EEE -
of these unused tax losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries W ERZEAANIESERREEHIBEEE - BRH
and the Company that have been loss-making for some ELECBIEREEARKE45,961,000T0 (2 —+F : ARK
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits 61,155,000 S B #HEH R AFAREMIN - ZERER
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised. REEMIEEER EERAE  HATES TIEESRA -
Except for tax losses incurred in the PRC amounting to
RMB45,961,000 (2017: RMB61,155,000) will expire within
five years since the date of carryforward, these unrecognised
unused tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely, subject
to fulfilment of certain conditions or rules.
At 31 December 2018, no deferred tax has been recognised RZE—N\E+_A=+—8 TERAEERPRANBK
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted 32 MY B N RIZE S AN TE B A AR BE & R FE AT 9 TR B 1 2R
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s TE‘EH?EL?HIE RATEERAE  ZEWMBLATRNAEERK
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion of AEEEBEBEEF  c R—ZTE—N\E+=-_A=+—H ' #HR
the directors of the Company, it is not probable that these IEEEEWLk%RIEEEE’\MJ N BATMNRERB S
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable REEAEA LN AARK232,684,0000( —F—+HF : A
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences R #140,160,0007T) °
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately RMB232,684,000 at 31 December
2018 (2017: RMB140,160,000).
29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. R
Amount
Number of -}
ordinary shares RMB’000
ZEREE AR¥T
(Restated)
(&%)
Ordinary shares with no par value: mEHECEBER
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 and RZE—+F—HA—8 "
31 December 2018 Z—tHF+A=+T—HRK
—N\EFE+=-_A=+—8H 6,176,819,969 587,529
There was no movement of the Company’s share capital RAFRARBE S \ELR-_ZE—+F+=-_F=1+—8
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. \FEEHEES) o
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30. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the year ended 31 December 2018 are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(a)

(b)

(c)

PRC statutory reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the
articles of association of the subsidiaries established
in the PRC, these entities are required to appropriate
10% of their net profits after tax, as determined under
the Chinese Accounting Standards, to the statutory
surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50%
of its registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions
set out in the relevant PRC regulations and in the
articles of association of the entities, the statutory
surplus reserves may be used either to offset losses,
or to be converted to increase share capital provided
that the balance after such conversion is not less
than 25% of the registered capital of the Group. The
reserve cannot be used for purposes other than those
for which it is created and is not distributable as cash
dividends.

Property revaluation reserve

Property revaluation reserve represents the gain on
revaluation of the property, plant and equipment upon
transfer to investment properties.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of group entities. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 2.5.

30.

e

AEBzFHEEBRAANBE T —

NE+ZA=+—AI

FEZEYP2IINGERETERA -

(a)

(b)

(c)

HEDEERE

REPERBERNF BRSO B A RNABER
MR ZEERARNEENFEZ10%RIVEER
ﬁﬁﬁ TR EBEPESHERNETE AR EHRE

EREZMEAROR AL - FEETEER LR ERA

ﬁak%%%ﬁ%?@ﬁZﬁ@ EEREBRFER A
R SR B IR S I A BB AR ﬁ%ﬁ&%ﬁ%%T

BLORAEBEEMEARZ225% - EHEIEHREER
B SN EA s - I RHERREREDIK

VIRE M

MEELREEDE  BERR
B -

REERERAEMEL

SNEREE

SNERBERERESEEREYBRRMELNAEIN
HEERE - ARRFREN T2 MBS BREE -
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31.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. In view of the
Group’s expansion strategy, the Group has sourced funding
from banks, financial institutions, asset backed securities
and its related companies in which Ms. Huang has beneficial
interests and continued to look for other external financing
sources. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior period.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
an annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with the share capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues, raising of new borrowings or redemption of debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings, amounts due to related
companies and loans from a related company, net of cash
and cash equivalents, restricted bank balances and pledged
deposits. The gearing ratio as at the end of the reporting
period was as follows:

Amounts due to related companies

31.

EXERER

AEEEREADRAERAEETRBEAFELE Rk
ERECEBEEETEHR/BREREAMA - ENAE
B2 EERREE - AEBEHRT  SREE  BEXRES
KHuangZ + i BEH R CBERRSEES KRS
SREMIMPRMERE - AREBEREABEHARRIT T

ARABEEFHERHEARE - REEAZAEMN - AR
RAEER/EAKRALRARERARRE - REARFESE
F o ARERERINBE  BITHRD  BRFEERE
CIERS @ FEHBEERERE -

FEEEARBEEREFE  NEEROTREMEES &
NEBERRRERKE —MEEARER  BREIESSE
BIEHE XBHRTESRLEERRE - RREMRZEE
BELEMT :

Loans from a related company

Bank and other borrowings

Less: Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted bank balances
Pledged deposits

Net debt

Total assets

Gearing ratio

192

2018 2017

—E2-N\F —E—tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETT

(Restated)

(E%)

FEf @ A RIFRIE 473,199 2,408,436
RE—HBEEARIZER 12,876,310 2,650,862
BITRAMBES 12,400,725 7,730,618
W BeEhBESEHEES (673,412) (685,710)
IR IR TAE B4 (101,913) (161,854)
[REEwiit e (714,365) (99,229)
BEFE 24,260,544 11,843,123
BEE 39,569,259 18,542,750
BEABLE 61% 64%
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 32. RERE Pz IA
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RREPR - SHEERMIAZREENT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
2018 —E-N\F
Financial assets THEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Financial Financial
assets Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets at at fair value assets at
through amortised through amortised
profit or loss cost profit or loss cost
BAFEFA REBHRAE BATE R
BEz fTEZ FPABEZ KA E 2
SREE SREE TREE TREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥TR ARBFT ARBFT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&51) (&51)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or #Z A FEzF Az 2
loss TREE 232,532 - 145,913 -
Accounts receivable e - 22,218 - 68,681
Financial assets included in other receivables 5t A E 4 fE UL F0IE 2
and other assets EMEEZSREE - 12,451 - 14,436
Debt investment at amortised cost BB E 2 BFIRE - 323,257 - -
Pledged deposits [REEbr e - 714,365 - 99,229
Restricted bank balances X FIBITES - 101,913 - 161,854
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRE&EEAR - 673,412 - 685,710

232,532 1,847,616 145,913 1,029,910

193



ZH International Holdings Limited

EEREERERAE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

e AR MR

—E-N\F+=ZA=+—H

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 32. RENEszeMIA(E)
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
2018 (continued) —E-NF(#)
Financial liabilities THEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
278 £)2 %N 78 FicIDWN
STEzERmAE HEZEmAE
RMB’000 RMB 000
ARETR AREFTT
(Restated)
(&%)
Accounts payables FEATRRRR 173 210
Financial liabilities included in other payables, FIAEMBERTIE - EE2 &
deposits and accruals ExAEAZSRAR 1,262,919 1,839,773
Amounts due to a related company e —RE A RFIE 473,199 2,408,436
Loans from a related company RE—HBEEARIZER 12,876,310 2,650,862
Bank and other borrowings WITRAMEE 12,400,725 7,730,618
27,013,326 14,629,899
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33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 33. ERITAZAFERAFERER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEPR  FEEBMIAZREENT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
Carrying amounts Fair values
REAE AFE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF —E-N\F kRl ok ;S
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TF R AR®TR AR TR AR¥TR
(Restated) (Restated)
(E3) (E3)
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFABRZEREE
profit or loss 232,532 145,913 232,532 145,913
Financial liabilities SHEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B R1T R EAb(EE 12,400,725 7,730,618 12,274,960 7,770,527

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, restricted bank balances, pledged deposits,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, financial assets
included in other receivables and other assets, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, amounts
due to related companies and loans from a related company
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the
chief financial officer. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
chief financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

EREENEREeRREEEEAR  XRBIRITES  BE
Mike BRI - BRI T ARMEUGRIEREME
EZeREE SAHMEBNFEREAERZERAE
ENEEARZRELRRE —RBEQARZERAFEERLE
HERBIEE - DRNZSTATPAREMHK -

AEERMBEETENHBR  BERESRTARTE
AEZHELER WBKREEEAEREVBERS - X
BERH FMBHoMeRIANBEEBWETEET
ERZzEE2RAE - HEMEFEUEEEHRIE -

CMEENBENATEDEENTHERENERRZSH
BMTAZSHE WARBFRHEZEREERABERN -
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33.
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of bank and other borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2018

Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEREZ
profit or loss TREE

As at 31 December 2017

Financial assets at fair value BATERF A ABRZ
through profit or loss TREE

33. SRMITAZAFERATFEER(E)

RITEEMEEZ A FETVBBAEMRARBESRERRE
AARABLER  FEERR RSB TRIHEE 2 TR ZHX
EITREIATE -

DNFEER

TRIIMAEBEeMTAZ A TEASER -

BRAFHEHIABZEE -
R-FB-NF+ZA=1—H

Fair value measurement using

ERUTEEHEZATE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SERT IS EXTEHE EXTUBE
ZHE WA WABE
(B—#) (£=#) (£=#) @gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥T R ARMTF T
232,532 - - 232,532
R-ZE—+F+HA=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ERAUNTHENEZATE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SERMIEZ EATEBRE EBEATUER
BE WA BABE
(B—#) (B=#) (B=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥TR AR¥TR ARMTF T
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E5)) (E51) (E5)) (E%))
145,913 - - 145,913
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33.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Group had no financial liabilities measured at fair value as
at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2017: Nil).

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 December 2018

Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE

33. SRMITAZAFERATFEER(E)

DN ERER(E)

RZZ-N\F+-A=+—8 AEELEFEAIZLFER
EzeRmAE(ZT—tF 8)-

FR eRMEERERABES RRE_QZRALERTF
EfEzE#E  TEEEEREREFE=N(ZZ—1F:
&) -

BEATFEZEE:

R-FB-NF+ZA=1—H

Fair value measurement using

ERUTEEHEZATE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
TERMSZ EXTEHE EXTUBE
BE WA WABE
(B—#) (£=#) (£=#) @gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥T R ARMTF T
- 12,274,960 - 12,274,960
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33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 33. ERMIAZAFERAFEHER(E)
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NFEERE)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: KEXAFEZEE (F)
(continued)
As at 31 December 2017 R-F—tF+=A=1—F
Fair value measurement using
ERANTEEAEZAFE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SERMIEZ EATERE EATUER
®E BARE WAHE
(E—#) (=) (£=#4) @gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AR®TR AR®BTR AR®BTR
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E351) (E351) (E%) (E31)
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE - 7,770,527 - 7,770,527
34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. BREREEEERKE

198

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly include
cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank balances,
accounts receivable, other receivables, accounts payable,
other payables and accruals and amounts due to related
companies, which arise directly from its operations. The
Group has other financial assets and liabilities such as
pledged deposits, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, bank and other borrowings and loans from a related
company. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, other price risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group introduces
conservative strategies on its risk management. The Group
does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

FEENTIZERTATEEREMASEEER KR

HIERTTAEER © EURARSR - b EUCGRIAE - EAIRRR - H A&
NHRELREFEARENBEARNE ZSERTARA
RemMERESL AKERAHGEREERAE  EH

ZeREE  RITREMEER
ZEERMTANIZANERR

ARe BLOFEAAERS
KA —HBEERBRZER -
FEEZEERE -

AEBSBMIEEFENTZARAFRAR - EMEKE
ﬁ‘mﬁﬂ’* FERRBREABESCER - —MmE @ A%
EEHRREEFIRTEE - REBRBARBEITAHI
SRTESRTA FEEERIVAEZSARERBUR
HBfamamnT o
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rate set out in note 27. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge
interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest cost using a
mix of fixed and variable rate borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a

reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.

2018

—B-N\&

34.

Mu+i

Loans and borrowings denominated in ATEE
HK$ /%7'5
HK$ BIT
Usb ETT
usD xETT
SGD ¥Thni oo
SGD N T

2017 (Restated)

—E2-tF(EH)

Loans and borrowings denominated in

HK$ HBIT
HK$ BT
usD ESM
Usb ETLT
SGD AN T
SGD AN T

Z’SE.EEWE,J mt’ﬁ?lj
SRITEEMEEHRRE -
FIE A -

MEEREREERRBEE(E)

FRERE

S EE e T EEM 27 TE AR BT
AREBEIWEFERITET R T AL

AEBEAERRIRMEEBTRENSHKA -

TRIREMERMATZRRRBILOBERT  FEHE

AJREESHBRENITHARERR RN ZE -

Increase/
(decrease) in
basis points
H2EEtH
(&)

ERREE
100
(100)
100
(100)
100
(100)

Increase/
(decrease) in
basis points
2B R
(Tr)

ARSNGB 2 BER NG

100
(100)
100
(100)
100
(100)

Increase/
(decrease) in
profit before tax
BB AR
B,/ GEA)
RMB’000
AR®TR

(34)

34
(1,538)
1,538
(800)
800

Increase/
(decrease) in
profit before tax
BB AR R
#h, CEd)
RMB’000
AR¥TR

(65)

65
(1,478)
1,478
(822)
822
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34.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. HIEEREREEERBER(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Other price risk HinE%E B
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity A B AR IR AR AR A 1 UK R B Y38 5 (B 2 ) G BUR AR
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of Eﬁ%ﬁ¥1ﬁfﬁ%2@ﬁﬁ ° ?%@EKﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁi%?E/A?@?ﬂ\
equity indices and the value of individual securities. The TE%Z@@%EZLW&QW$E%@@ - B EF BT
Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from listed EHERRIEE L RAR
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss. The management manages this exposure by
regular review of price fluctuation.
Price sensitivity ERSRE
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based L‘AT@(,@&FQ%M NBmERARBATFEAABRZEREER
on the exposure to price risks of financial assets at fair value TRPAK R EEE ©
through profit or loss at the end of the reporting period.
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
market price profit before tax
mELHA BB AR R
(T~B8) #gm,/ Ch)
% RMB’000
% AR¥T
31 December 2018 - N\F+-_HA=+—H 10 23,253
(10) (23,253)
31 December 2017 (Restated) —E—+F+=-A=1+—HE) 10 14,591
(10) (14,591)
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. BMEREREBERBEK(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Foreign currency risk hiE R B
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such FEBEEHRHEKRR - ZZRBIEARLEELIAE

exposures arise from transactions by operating units in
currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the HK$, USD SGD and JPY exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(due to changes in the fair values of monetary assets and
liabilities).

UL ERE AN BTG MES -

TRIREMBEMAERRFRETENBERT - BRE

TR MR AEERNAIER A E B H AEER

i&iﬁﬁimﬁ%%ﬁﬁWﬁﬂZ@ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁ(EEB(‘?’? tEERARE
RNHEZBFTE)

Increase/
(decrease) in Increase/
exchange (decrease)
rate of foreign in profit
currency before tax
SNEE R BRBE A5 R
LA (THE) #gm,/ )
% RMB’000
% AR®T
2018 —E-N\EF
If the HK$ strengthens against the RMB WETHAREHE 5 (68)
If the HK$ weakens against the RMB ST H ARKERE (5) 68
If the USD strengthens against the RMB WETHAREAE 5 (2,463)
If the USD weakens against the RMB fMETHARBRE (5) 2,463
If the SGD strengthens against the RMB B FT T A REHE 5 722
If the SGD weakens against the RMB fiw ¥ b3 oo A RS B2 E (5) (722)
If the JYP strengthens against the RMB i AE R AREFAE 5 159
If the JYP weakens against the RMB mBEYAREEE (5) (159)
2017 (Restated) ZE-tF(EH)
If the HK$ strengthens against the RMB ST H AREAE 5 (58)
If the HK$ weakens against the RMB BT AREEE (5) 58
If the USD strengthens against the RMB WMELEAREFE 5 (2,281)
If the USD weakens against the RMB METEARERE (6) 2,281
If the SGD strengthens against the RMB W ¥ T A REHE 5 1,918
If the SGD weakens against the RMB B ¥ N A REEZE (5) (1,913)
If the JYP strengthens against the RMB i HE R AREHAE 5 148
If the JYP weakens against the RMB i A E X AR E (5) (148)
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. BXEREEBERBEK(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Credit risk EERME

AEEERERUREERFZIFZNETRS - REBAE
EWEE  MAERREEGRFETRINEPHAKREER
RERRF o W ARESFAERBRFREEHRIER - M
REEZZRREARILTERX -

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is
not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at R-E-NE+-A=F+—HESEBRRFAREER
31 December 2018

TRIIFERAEEEERRNEEE R MRAEERBR
A FEERBEAREN(EELENBERBZRARE
NEAB)ER - NF+_A=+—AZFERBESLE -

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December 2018.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for ENeEAEREELKREE -
financial assets.

31 December 2018 —E-NEFSZA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1288
HiEEEE ZHEHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E ] EOMER SRR A% st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETR ARETR AR®TR AR®TR
Accounts receivable* FEUER R - - - 8,694 8,694
Accounts receivable FEUBR IR
— Normal** — & 13,524 - - - 13,524
Financial assets included in other &+ A ftb fEU 2B &
receivables and other assets HibEEZERMEE
— Normal** —EF* 13,101 - - - 13,101
Debt investment at RESERAGTE 2
amortised cost BERE 323,257 - - - 323,257
Pledged deposits BRI
— Not yet past due —REH 714,365 - - - 714,365
Restricted bank balances XIBEIRITEES
— Not yet past due —XREH 101,913 101,913
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEMEER
- Not yet past due — K@ 673,412 - - - 673,412
1,839,572 - - 8,694 1,848,266




34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at
31 December 2018 (continued)

For accounts receivable to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment in note 20
to the financial statements, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk.

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in
accounts receivable, other receivables and other
assets is considered to be “normal” when they are not
past due and there is no information indicating that
the financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Maximum exposure as at 31 December 2017

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the inability or
unwillingness of a counterparty to meet its contractual
obligations. The Group has no concentrations of credit risk
in view of its large number of customers. The Group did not
record any significant bad debt losses during the year 2017.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
mainly comprise cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank
balances, pledged deposits, financial assets included in other
receivables and other assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, arises from default of the counterparty,
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of
these instruments.

Annual Report 2018
—B—\EEH

MEEREREERRBEE(E)

FERER(E)

REB-NFF+ZA=1—HRBEBR FHRER(F)

* 32 55 8] R B 7S R R PR R 200RL (B R 1 T VR e R U BR
BWME  ARELEEAEREREERR

- ERFAREIRR - EfRWFALEMEEZ /E
EXEaH AVBERBEReREENEERRE D
TR ARBEIRIE  SREENEELERHRER
[EF]-

R-B—tF+-A=1+—HAZREERE

EERBRERYF I EENTBEETESHEEMERNE
BRER - BREFPRE  BHAKEIEEFERERR - A%
ER Tt FUERSFSEMERREER -

rEBEmeREE(TZREREeRREFEERE  XR
BIERITAEE  DEMRE  StAHMBEBEFEREBEEZ
EWEENARRAFEFABREZ2EHEE)NEERR G
REFFHRFBEMESL - MAEYEZRERREENZE
TAZREE -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. HIEEREREEERBER(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk REBESERE
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between rEEZE T?}Z%iﬁi@ﬂﬁﬁEﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ%%%%&%E —H
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of interest- MERRZENR  #REeRBEREREREZ FE - K&
bearing bank and other borrowings and loans from a related ERERYERBRIRE -
company. Cash flows are being closely monitored on an
ongoing basis.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at RBEHR  AEEeRBERBEAORMBEMNKIELNE
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual oA
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
As at 31 December 2018 R-E-NE+=ZA=+—H
On demand
or within 1to2 3to5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
EZERR
—FR —ZWF =ZEhE BRAE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR AR¥TR AR TR AR¥ETR AR®TR
Accounts payable FERTBRK 173 - - - 173
Financial liabilities included in 5 AE 2 Wiz & &%
other deposits received BFTERzcRBE
and accruals 1,262,919 - - - 1,262,919
Amounts due to related FERBEEA RIFIE
companies 473,199 - - - 473,199
Loans from RE—EEERARZER
a related company
— Non-interest bearing -8 12,876,310 - - - 12,876,310
Bank and other borrowings  $#17 R E A EE 4,262,003 7,446,424 1,735,804 19,000 13,463,231
18,874,604 7,446,424 1,735,804 19,000 28,075,832
Financial guarantee BISERE (M)
contracts (Note) 3,699,022 - - - 3,699,022
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. HIEEREREEERBER(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESE(E)
As at 31 December 2017 R-E—tF+=F=+—H
On demand
or within 1to2 3to5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
EER®
—FR —ZEWE =ZERF BRAF st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR®T R AR®FR AR¥TR AR®BTR
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E31) (E351) (6=27)) (E5) (E31)
Accounts payable JEMEER 210 - - - 210
Financial liabilities included in 5t A E A8 2 UiE 4 &
other deposits received A ERzemERE
and accruals 1,839,773 - - - 1,839,773
Amounts due to related ENRERRIRIE
companies 2,408,436 - - - 2,408,436
Loans from RE—HMBERARZER
a related company
— Non-interest bearing —%28 2,624,999 - - - 2,624,999
- Interest bearing —itE 26,898 - - - 26,898
Bank and other borrowings ~ $R17 R E A {EE 4,305,297 4,068,137 110,797 23,089 8,507,320
11,205,613 4,068,137 110,797 23,089 15,407,636
Financial guarantee contracts Ef 5 #&/RA 4
(Note) (H7:t) 986,319 - - - 986,319

Note: The amounts included above for financial guarantee

contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on the expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the guaranteed financial
receivables held by the counterparty suffer credit losses.

B BERE OFRRERE T 5 RIUER AR - K&
BERBEZHAEASENZHBERRAZRS LR - ANWE
PRBERAZES - K& BIR YRR R B X (AR R
BZARIETA « AT - AR TFHFIREBERREZ
ATREMET A - ML R BB T H T 07 PR R B TS IR

RAROEXEEBRME -
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34.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause but not repayable within one year are
classified under “on demand or within 1 year” time band
in the maturity analysis. Taking into account the Group’s
financial position and the fair value of the pledged assets,
the directors of the Company believe that it is not probable
that the banks will exercise its discretionary right to demand
immediate repayment and such term borrowings will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements. On this basis, the interest and
principal cash flows for the bank and other borrowings would
be as follows:

As at 31 December 2018

MR ERERIET
BITREMEE

Bank and other borrowings with
a repayment on demand clause

As at 31 December 2017 (Restated)

iR ERER RN
RITRAMEE

Bank and other borrowings with
a repayment on demand clause

34.

HEEREEEERBE(E)
nEBESEK(E)
$Elwﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂ FREBZRITREM
BERIMESTHEAIEE KK — iWMﬁﬁio%&$
%l%%#ﬂ&eﬁﬁﬁFz ANEE - AARIESEE -
I KRAIEITEH BB B 2 5 - ﬁﬁ%m%ﬁ
HERER RS TEEER A BHER - R REE - RITRE
fEEZMERAEREREFHAT ¢
R-FE-NFE+=-A=1+—H
On demand
or within 1to 2 2to5
1 year years years Total
BERK—FR —EMF —REE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET R AR®TR AR TR AR®BTR
92 476 - 568
R-BE—tF+=FA=1+—H(EZ)
On demand
or within 1to2 2to5
1 year years years Total
EER
—FR —EMF —EEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
156 3,139 448 3,743
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35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

35. MERB2EEHK

ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Company’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows

as cash flows from financing activities.

At 1 January 2018 RZE—-\E—HA—H

Financing cash flows (note) ~RIEIRE R E (H:t)

Interest expenses FERX

Foreign exchange translation 4h\&# &

At 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F
+=-A=+—"H

At 1 January 2017 RZE—+&—H—H

Financing cash flows (note) ~ BER &R 8 (H/3t)

Interest expenses FERZ

Foreign exchange translation 4MN&#a &

At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF
+ZA=+—H

Note:

o

D)

== w24

TRFAVNARFBE R 2 B

B =

CBERERIEREE
METHELZ AFENEEARSREIRIRSRER

FEFFARENERTORRARETYREREZALE -

Amounts Loans from Bank and
due to related a related Accrued other
companies company interest* borrowings Total
ERE *E—ME RITR
DRFRE HELREN EHEiy Hitfg & met
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBT R AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
2,408,436 2,650,862 13,303 7,730,618 12,803,219
(1,935,237) 10,224,802 (541,269) 4,574,555 12,322,851
- 646 546,308 - 546,954
- - - 95,552 95,552
473,199 12,876,310 18,342 12,400,725 25,768,576
Amounts Loans from Bank and
due to related a related Accrued other
companies company interest* borrowings Total
EmE *E—MHE RITR
DRFRIE BELREN EH Y Hitfg & @gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR¥TR AR®T R AR¥ET R AR®TR
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E351) (E751) (E351) (E%) (E31)
69,402 1,040,338 2,850 183,525 1,296,115
2,339,034 1,603,794 (75,1398) 7,553,025 11,420,715
- 6,730 85,591 - 92,321
- - - (5,932) (5,932)
2,408,436 2,650,862 13,303 7,730,618 12,803,219
Mt BMERESRERGERERERANZINERTREAMBEE -

The financing cash flows are made up of the net amounts

of new bank and other borrowings raised, repayment of
bank and other borrowings, interest paid, advance from/
repayment to related companies, loans received from/
repaid to a related company in the consolidated statement

of cash flows.

accruals.

Included in accounts payable, deposits received and

BERTRAMES BNFE  BEARNBRER B
W MEE—RERRERZFE -

. SEAJEERR - EUIRS MR E -
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36. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 36.

The following assets are pledged to certain banks and
financial institutions for banking facilities granted to the Group

EERM

RBEHR - UTEEEBERTETRITREREBERE
SEERRTRENARENEZ ETHEERERIZER

and mortgage loan facilities granted to certain property B7EM
buyers of the Group’s properties at the end of the reporting
period:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBT T
(Restated)
(E31)
Property under development BERPYE 14,206,367 9,302,902
Completed properties held for sale HIEHE BT IYWE - 500,192
Investment properties "EYHE 609,005 564,989
Property, plant and equipment W - BRE K& 9,698 9,453
Pledged deposits BHEFES 714,365 99,229
15,539,435 10,476,765

In addition, shares of certain subsidiaries were pledged as
securities to obtain certain banking facilities granted to the
Group as at 31 December 2018.

208

s RZZE—-NF+ZRA=+—H BERETHEAF
2R MERAEEERE TRITRE ZHM -



Annual Report 2018
ZE—)\FEFER

37. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 37. REHEZRH
(a) Aslessor (a) fEREHBEA
Property rental income in respect of the investment HIEEMERBZWERS W ADBRIRARE
properties earned of RMB30,844,000 (2017: 30,844,0007t( = —+4F : ARM29,683,0007T)
RMB29,683,000), net of outgoings of RMB5,611,000 MBS HARKES611,000(ZFE—+HF : AR
(2017: RMB6,834,000), is RMB25,233,000 (2017: 6,834,0007T ) % A& A R #25,233,0007T (=T —+
RMB22,849,000). The investment properties held F: AR®22,849,0007T) - HIEREMECHHF
have committed tenants for the next one to ten years ZEEHEAERE  HHBAEAET FEEZT+FT
at fixed rentals. %o
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has REEER  AEEEBFTAUTRMESEZA%
contracted with tenants for the following future HEBEERK
minimum lease payments which fall due as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZE—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBT T
(Restated)
(E31)
Within one year —FR 24,103 24,337
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFAF(BIEEREMF) 69,432 64,775
Over five years BiEAF 98,102 106,192
191,637 195,304
(b) Aslessee (b) EBEBA

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due
as follows:

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain offices located in overseas
and those leases are negotiated for an average term
of two to four years.

—&FR
F_EFLF(BEEEMF)

RBEHR - REE A HHELEEHERIA TRRE
Az AREEEENRMEL A

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR®T T
(Restated)

(&%)

1,853 984
6,226 887
8,079 1,871

REHENKEARBREGR BN ZETHAER
ZERBEVFHFEMANF A MFE2HEZEMNE
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38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. EBAREKIE
2018 2017
—2-N\F —B—tf
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
(Restated)
(E31)

Contracted for but not provided in respect of BERT#E R B R

Acquisitions of land use rights LA - b {50 FA - 1,052,271
Property development expenditures MEZERFAL 20,012,792 2,327,305
20,012,792 3,379,576

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 39. HAREE

210

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had contingent
liabilities relating to guarantees amounting to approximately
RMB3,699,022,000 (2017: RMB986,319,000) in respect
of mortgage loan facilities provided by certain banks in
connection with the mortgage loans entered into by property
buyers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of
the guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by these
property buyers, the Group would be responsible for repaying
the outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued
interest thereon and any penalties owed by the defaulted
buyers to the banks. The Group would be entitled to take
over the legal title to and possession of the related properties.
These guarantees will be released upon the earlier of (i) the
satisfaction of the mortgage loan by the buyer of the property;
and (ii) the issuance of the property ownership certificate
for the mortgage property and the completion of the
deregistration of the mortgage. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, no provision for the guarantee contracts
was recognised in the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil) as the default
risk is low.

R_ZE—N\F+_A=+—8 rEERBEAEEDEZ
MEBRLZIEBERMBE TRITRERZIZBER#ME
ZHERBEBERABENHARYS,699,022,000T(=—F—+

F : AR%986,319,0007T)  RIBEFRIFH - WEFWEE
RERRIBHE - AEERGHEERKLE T@f%ﬁ(ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁk

BEIRIBASBRE RGNS RAEREFR - REEHAEE
HEMEREEERREERE - EZ%%E%H@ECMT?E%%
LR (MEEFREERBER  RMRBYEHEL
MEPMAERBUTHKIRIBOTUEER - ARAEFRAL - A
RENRRIA B ERBEREONBE-_ZT-N\F+=
A=+—BLFE(ZZ—tF : 8) 2EEUBRKER
1o
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had the following transactions with
related parties during the reporting period:

Related companies BEAT
(Note (i)) (Hizt(i)) Transactions
Zensun N Interest expenses

(capitalised in properties
under development)

(Note (i)
Relevant members of AR EEEE Construction costs
Henan Zensun Corporate BERAREMT (capitalised in properties
Development Company NAIZER under development)
Limited (the “Zensun KERNE([IERE  (Note (i)
Development Group”) BREE])
Notes:
(i) Zensun and Zensun Development Group are

the entities controlled by the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company and together with her
spouse.

(i) The interest expenses were charged according to
agreements mutually agreed by both parties.

(ii) The construction costs were based on terms
mutually agreed by both parties. These
transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Certain bank and financial institutions facilities to the
Group were guaranteed by related companies in which
controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder of
the Company together with her spouse. No asset of
the Group was pledged to these related companies in
respect of these guarantees.

The Group is licensed by Zensun to use the trademark
of “Zensun”, “IEf”, on a royalty-free basis until July
2020.

40. BEALRS

REEMBERRAMBIF ARSI F&E
BERBEHRRNEREALETTIRS :

R5 2018 2017
—E-N\E§ —E—-t5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®T
(Restated)
(E31)
FIBREX
(REgRF
MEERL)
(Hizti) 646 6,730
BRI
(RERF
YEELLE)
(i)
1,050,611 354,960
Htat -

0] FRAREREREERSAAATKKERERERE
PRI 2 B8 -

(ii) TSR DR IRRE S A T 75 E 3 5E 2 s KR o

(i) FREERA IR BEA TS RFGE 2 HEE -
HERSMA DRI UASE T R 82 BERE
%5 -

AEEETRITLRSMEERERARBREIERR
RER AR MBI 2 BBELRER - REBMERLZ
SRRAZSHERRBIPEFMEE -

AEEE FATaiReBFR & EEFA Zensun] &
[EREEE—Z_FF+AH -
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BEALTRS (E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) EEHEEATZREELL:

Details of the Group’s balances with related parties
as at the end of the reporting period are included
in notes 23, 25 and 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(c) Compensation of key management (c)
personnel of the Group:

Short term employee benefits EHEEREF
Post-employment benefits B EET

RIEER  NEBEBEA L2 EHFBIERES
B SRR B FE23 « 25826 °

Total compensation paid to key management MEEEEAEZNH

personnel L aaE

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial
statements.

Save as above, no transaction has been entered into
with the directors of the Company (being the key
management personnel) during the year other than
the emoluments paid to them (being key management
personnel compensation) (2017: Nil).
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TEBTEEEASHMH :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
(Restated)
(E5))
1,357 1,480
25 81
1,382 1,561

EERIBTRAEME 2 E—SFBRARIBERE
B FEQ -

B EXPrat &SN REALBEARREE(ANEE
EEAB)ETERNRS  EARSEXNERTEE
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41.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 28 August 2013, a new share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate eligible persons
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
The Share Option Scheme remains in force for 10 years
from that date, unless otherwise cancelled or amended.
Eligible persons of the Share Option Scheme include (i) a
director or proposed director (including an independent non-
executive director) of any member of the Group; (i) a direct
or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group; (iii) a
supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group;
(iv) a customer, consultant, business or joint venture partner,
franchisee, contractor, agent or representative of any member
of the Group; (v) a person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional services to any member of the
Group; and (vi) a landlord or tenant (including a sub-tenant) of
any member of the Group. Subject to the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme, the Board shall be entitled at any time
during the life of the New Share Option Scheme to offer the
grant of any option to any eligible person as the Board may
in its absolute discretion select and the basis of eligibility shall
be determined by the Board from time to time.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the maximum number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted is
such number of shares which, when aggregated with shares
subject to any other share option scheme(s), must not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time. The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible person in the Share Option Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to the shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

41.

BRETE

RZZE—=FA\AZ+N\B  ARERMNBIREAS(HE
MeHEEtEl]) - BB B S EA B AR EEBRAEAE
BlzaBBAL - BRIESETHIER - BRIEAER 2 H
ZHE-BEEMTF  BEREAIZAERALRIE(NASE
EEMKERARZESHEEEE(BREBUIIFNTES)
(WAEBEEAKE AR Z B S EEBER (i) ASE(ER
KEBLRZEmKRBFEHER  (VAERETAKEATRZ
B HAER  EBRREELEKE  BHEEA AR
B REBHARR  (VAREEEME QR H KM
Bl Fr eI RER - AR EXRB 2 ALTHER
RVIAREEEMKE AR ZEETHEL(BEAMER) < RIF
BT 8 2 R - NI S S AT E
EESAENEZENBERZEINAEBALREZRHE
Wt MAEREETRMESSET -

RIEEARERTE - TR RE 2 BRES R 2 RIDEE LR -
SR E M B ST B R 2 B 1IN - RETSBBAR
AN E BEITHRAZ10% « RER+ (B A SR 5 iEE
ARBEETESAERALTETZROBEE LR - UAR
AEMBHEEETRMDI%AR - L - FREBAZRE
ZBBREAGBRRNBERASIER - A BT -
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41.

214

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
respective associates, are subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive directors (excluding any
independent non-executive director who is the grantee of
the options). In addition, any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director, or to any of their respective associates, in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time and
with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000,
within any 12-month period, are subject to the shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

The amount payable upon the acceptance of an option
is HK$1.00. The period within which an option must be
exercised shall be such period as the Board may in its
absolute discretion determine at the time of grant, save that
such period shall not be more than 10 years commencing on
the date of grant of an option.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
Board, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the grant,
which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price
of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer of the grant; and (i) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be issued
in respect of which options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
Options vested immediately and may be exercised at any time
not exceeding a period of 5 years from the date on which the
share options are accepted.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no
options have been granted under the above-mentioned
scheme.

41.
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42, X&ATBMERRBR
OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the ARBRRERRZ MR BRERAT ¢
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR® TR
(Restated)
(E31)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BRE R 85 101
Investment properties REYZE - 1,957
Investments in subsidiaries R ERARZZRE 336,131 336,231
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSBH B A R 5RIE 323,777 305,964
Total non-current assets FEMBEELTE 659,993 644,253
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Be - TBT I8 K& H W GRIE 1,798 1,205
Debt investment at amortised cost REHEN AT E 2 BERHIRE 323,257 -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BATEFABZZ SREE 5,240 6,813
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSBH B A R 3R IE 1,391,744 379,731
Cash and cash equivalents BehkReEEEE 22,234 29,829
1,744,273 417,578
Investment properties classified as held for sale DHERFHELEZREME 1,317 -
Total current assets MENVEELBRE 1,745,590 417,578
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals HEhENRIERESER 724 1,886
Bonds =0 1,375,228 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries R BB R RIRIE 214,587 211,483
Total current liabilities MEAERTE 1,590,539 213,369
NET CURRENT ASSETS REVEEFE 155,051 204,209
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEABRABEE 815,044 848,462
EQUITY ER
Share capital [N 587,529 587,529
Reserves (note) EEH ) 227,515 260,933
Total equity AR 815,044 848,462
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42, AR THMBEARREK (F)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note: Hiat -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: APz EERRIT
Capital
reduction Exchange Other Retained
reserves reserve reserve earning Total
EAREH
RER HNERE Hito RERH st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TR ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR

At 1 January 2017 (Restated) W=—T—+F—A—H (&) 119,330 24,204 82,591 42,037 268,162
Total comprehensive (loss) ~ ERZ2HE(EIE),/

income for the year (Restated) Uiz %8 (E751]) - (27,037) - 19,725 (7,312)
Deemed contribution froma ~ —RIFIB A 72 R 1E

subsidiary (Restated) H&(EY) - - 83 - 83

At 31 December 2017 and RZZE—+F+=A

1 January 2018 (Restated) “t+—BRZZ-N\F
—A—H(&F%) 119,330 (2,833) 82,674 61,762 260,933
Total comprehensive income/  ERX2HE U/ (&8 @%E
(loss) for the year - 30,553 - (63,971) (33,418)
At 31 December 2018 RZE—-N\FE+=-—A=+—H 119,330 27,720 82,674 (2,209) 227,515
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31
December 2018 are as follows:

Name

=

75 Wall Street, LLC

Aizuya Limited

American Housing REIT, Inc.

AHR First Borrower, LLC

AHR Second Borrower, LLC

American Senior Housing
REIT, LLC

ASHR McKinney, LLC

ASHR First, LLC

China Credit Singapore Pte. Ltd.

43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

Place incorporation/

registration and
place of business
MR,

REf iR R

=E S

USA
ESE

Japan

B

USA
ESE

USA
ESE

USA
ESE
USA
ESE
USA
ESE

USA
9=

Singapore

# N

43. MIBRARME

m -

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

share capital

CRTEE
SMRAEE

Note (i)
F 3 )

Common stock
JPY30,000,000
gl
30,000,000H [&]

Common stock
USD6,256
TR
6,256 7T

Note (i)
()

Note (i)
F 3 ()

Note (i)
Ff 5 )

Note (i)
()

Note (i)
FH5E()

Ordinary shares
SGD13,417,282
EER
13,417,282 M3 7T

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

AT EGEER
ZADL
Direct Indirect
B B
- 100
- 81.8
- 99.8
- 99.8
- 99.8
- 99.8
- 99.8
- 99.8
100 -

Annual Report 2018
ZE—)\FEFER

RZZE-NE+ZA=+—8 ARAETEMNBRAZER

Principal activities

TEER

Property investment

MEHRE

Hotel operations

B IE % 7%

Property investment

MEHRE

Loan financing and
property investment
ERmERMERE

Loan financing
ERmE
Property investment
and investment holding

MEREMREER

Property investment

MEHRE

Property investment

MERE

Investment holding

wEER
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43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

43. MEBLAHE(E)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31

RZZB-N\F+ZA=+—08 ARAEEMNBRAZER
mr ()

218

December 2018 are as follows: (continued)

Place incorporation/
registration and

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name place of business share capital to the Company Principal activities
EMmRL
o ith 26 % ERITEE AN T EERER
=18 i 2 HEMRAEE ZEDL FEEK
Direct Indirect
HiE Sk
Expats Residences Pte. Ltd. Singapore Ordinary shares - 100  Property investment
Fhns SGD25,002 WERE
25,0025 I3 7T
Heng Fung Capital Company Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 —  Property investment
Limited Fys> HK$2 and securities trading
EEMEFRAR LimiR MERERBHER
27T
Inter-American Management, LLC USA Note (i) - 85  Provision of property
EJE FEEG) management services
R EEE RS
Keng Fong Foreign Investment USA Common stock - 100  Property investment
Co., Ltd. EH USD250,000 MERE
gl
250,0003 7T
Sansui Limited Japan Common stock - 81.8 Hotel operations
SN JPY10,000 ML
gl
10,000H
Sapporo Holdings Limited Japan Common stock - 81.8 Hotel operations
H 7% JPY3,000,000 P
3,000,000H
Singapore Service Residence Singapore Ordinary shares - 100  Property investment
Pte. Ltd. i SGD1,250,000 MERE

1,250,000 N3 7T
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43.

PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31

December 2018 are as follows: (continued)

Name

=L

Xpress Credit Limited
FRIEEBRAA

ZH USA, LLC

AEEECRERAAARAT

(Note (i) (H17% (i)

EIEREHEERR AR
(Note (i) (H17(ii))

R EZEEEmEERRAA
(Note (if)) (7))

AESRHEERRAR
(Note (ii)) (Ha(ii)

B ¥ BR AR
(Note (i) (H17L(ii))

Place incorporation/

registration and
place of business
MR,
i B R
M

Hong Kong
e

USA
ESEN

PRC
HE

PRC
F

PRC
+

PRC
+

PRC
F

43. MEARABE(R)

T ()

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

share capital

BRTEE
MR AEE

Ordinary shares
HK$1,260,000
TER
1,260,000/ 7T

Note (i)
()

Registered capital
RMB1,000,000
ERIlIE=EN
AR1,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB300,000,000
FEME A

AR #300,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB50,000,000
FEER

AR #50,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB50,000,000
GRIIE=Z

AR #50,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB50,000,000
AR

AR #50,000,0007T

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

QBB RER
ZEDL
Direct Indirect
=% Sk
- 100
100 -
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100

RZZB-N\F+ZA=+—08 ARAEEMNBRAZER

Principal activities

ETBREY

Securities trading

Securities trading
and investment holding
BHFEELREER

Investment holding

AR

Property development

MEER

Property development

MEER

Property development
MERRE

Property development

MR
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43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 43. WEARBE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 RZZ—N\FE+_A=+—8 ARQXRETEHBEAFZEH
December 2018 are as follows: (continued) W (88D
Nominal value of
Place incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name place of business share capital to the Company Principal activities
3ty v
o it B R ERITEE QBB RER
=18 & EEh B = AR A TE B ZEDL FEEK
Direct Indirect
=% Sk
EIEREREXERAF PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (i) (H17%(i)) H RMB100,000,000 MERR
M E AR
AR #100,000,0007T
A IERET SR E X AR AT PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (ii)) (Ha(ii) A RMB 100,000,000 MEER
T E AR
AR#100,000,0007T
R EEFMEEAR AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (if)) (H17(i) A Ed RMB50,000,000 MR
&R
AR #50,000,0007C
R EEEREXAR AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (i) (H17% (i) H RMB100,000,000 MEERE
RN
AR#100,000,0007T
bR EEEEERAA PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (if)) (7)) FE RMB300,000,000 MEERE
EERIIE= PN
AR #300,000,0007T
IR EGEEERAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (i) (K132 (i) F RMB200,000,000 E %3
FEfER
AR ¥200,000,0007T
A IER SRR B X ER AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (i) (H17% (i) H RMB100,000,000 MERR
M E AR
AR #100,000,0007T
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43.

PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31

December 2018 are as follows: (continued)

Name

=L

A EREBHEEERAQR

(Note (ii)) (Ha(ii)

TR EEBRAR
(Note (i) (H17L(ii))

AMEETEEXERAR

(Note (i) (K772 i)

RSB EREXRARAT

(Note (i) (H17% (i)

ABERATSERARAF

(Note (if)) (F77E(i))

AEERMLEERRAF

(Note (if)) (7))

AEERSREXERAR

(Note (ii)) (Ha(ii))

Place incorporation/
registration and
place of business
MR,
i B R
M

PRC
+

PRC
T

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
+

PRC
+

PRC
+

43. MEARABE(R)

T ()

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

share capital

BRTEE
MR AEE

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
M E AR

AR #100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB50,000,000
ERIIE-ZN

AR #50,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
ERIIE-ZN
AR#100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB50,000,000
ERllIE=EN

AR #50,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
FEME A

AR #100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
FEfER

AR #100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
M E AR

AR #100,000,0007T

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

RO A LR
ZEDH

Direct Indirect

HE &

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

Principal activities

ETREY

Property development
MERR

Property development

MEER

Property development

MEER

Property development

MEER

Property development

MEER

Property development

MEER

Property development
MERR

RZZB-N\F+ZA=+—08 ARAEEMNBRAZER
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43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 43. WEARBE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 RZZ—N\FE+_A=+—8 ARQXRETEHBEAFZEH
December 2018 are as follows: (continued) W (88D
Nominal value of
Place incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name place of business share capital to the Company Principal activities
3ty
o i it B R ERITELE AN E G RER
=18 & EEh B =X AR A TE B ZEDL FEEK
Direct Indirect
=K i
R EEBEKBEEARAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (i) (H17% (i) H RMB100,000,000 MERR
M E AR
AR #100,000,0007T
R IERET B X ER AT PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (ii)) (Ha(ii) A RMB 100,000,000 MEER
T E AR
AR#100,000,0007T
HEEEFEEEARARA PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (if)) (H17(i) A RMB 100,000,000 MR
RN
AR#100,000,0007C
AEEEFNEXAER AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (i) (H17% (i) H RMB100,000,000 MEERE
RN
AER#100,000,0007T
TAEARBEEERAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (if)) (7)) FE RMB20,000,000 MEER
EERIIE= PN
AR #20,000,0007T
HEEEFEEEEARAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (i) (Hz(i) i RMB100,000,000 MERER
FEfER
AR #100,000,0007T
EIERBEEEGRAF PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
(Note (i) (H17% (i) H RMB100,000,000 MERR
M E AR
AR #100,000,0007T
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43.

PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31

December 2018 are as follows: (continued)

Name

=L

FMTEEIEEEARAR
(Note (i) (H17E(ii))

AR ERENEZRAEERAF

(Note (i) (H17L(ii))

AHEEEEEEXAERAR
(Note (if)) (H17(i)

TEEBEXARAR
(Note (if)) (H17(ii))

AHEEENEXARAR
(Note (i) (H17(ii))

R R TIRER AR
(Note (if)) (7))

B EREHEERRAA
(Note (ii)) (Ha(ii))

Place incorporation/
registration and
place of business
MR,
i B R
M

PRC
+

PRC
T

PRC
i

PRC
HE

PRC
+

PRC
+

PRC
+

43. MEARABE(R)

T ()

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

share capital

BRTEE
MR AEE

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
GRIIE=ZN
AE#100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
AR

AR #100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
ERIIE-ZN
AR#100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB200,000,000
ERIlIE=EN

AR #200,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
FEME A

AR #100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
FEfER

AR #100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
ERIIE=Z
AE#100,000,0007T

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

RO A LR
ZEDH

Direct Indirect

HE &

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

Principal activities

ETREY

Property development
MERR

Property development

MEER

Property development

MEER

Property development

MEER

Property development

MEER

Property development

MEER

Property development
MERR

RZZB-N\F+ZA=+—08 ARAEEMNBRAZER
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43.
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31

PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

December 2018 are as follows: (continued)

Name

=L

ERREEEEARAA
(Note (ii)) (Ha(ii)

EERSBERNHERDT
(Note (i) (7% (i)

FEMBEERERAR
(Note (i) (K772 i)

HEREEXBRAR
(Note (i) (H17% (i)

KB EERRAF
(Note (if)) (F77E(i))

MEEESHEERR AR
(Note (if)) (7))

224

Place incorporation/
registration and
place of business
MR,
i B R
M

PRC
+

PRC
T

PRC
e

PRC
a2

PRC
+

PRC
+

43. MEBLAHE(E)

T ()

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

share capital

BRTER
MR AEE

Registered capital
RMB300,000,000
GRIIE=ZN

AR #300,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
AR

AR #100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB20,000,000
ERIIE-ZN

AR #20,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
ERIlIE=EN

AR #100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB50,000,000
FEME A

AR #50,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB100,000,000
FEfER

AR #100,000,0007T

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

AN E G RER
ZEDL
Direct Indirect
=K i
- 60
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100

RZZB-N\F+ZA=+—08 ARAEEMNBRAZER

Principal activities

ETREY

Property development
MERR

Property development

MEER

Property development
MEERE

Property development
MEER

Property development
MEER

Property development
MR
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43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 n=—F—)
December 2018 are as follows: (continued) LUNNENE |

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

Place incorporation/
registration and

43. MEARABE(R)

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name place of business share capital to the Company
EMmRL
o i it B R BRITEE AN E G RER
=18 M =X AR A TE B ZEDL
Direct Indirect
=K i
HEEEFTHEEARAA PRC Registered capital - 80
(Note (in)) (#72% (i) F RMB100,000,000
&R
AR #100,000,0007T
AHEREMEEAR AR PRC Registered capital - 100
(Note (in)) (H75%(ii)) m RMB100,000,000
T E AR
AR#100,000,0007T
AEREREERNERAR PRC Registered capital - 100
(Note (if)) (H17(i) s RMB100,000,000
RN
AR#100,000,0007C
R EEREEERRA PRC Registered capital - 100
(Note (i) (H17% (i) H RMB100,000,000
RN
AR#100,000,0007T
Notes: Wjﬁ}r -
(i) No capital contribution is required from the member 0] MRIEERBITHRE -
unless otherwise required by law. Al e
(ii) Entities established in the PRC are limited liability (ii) AR B X L
companies and no English names have been registered or EES €1

available upon establishment.

ERRERDA - BRKLE

Principal activities

ETREY

Property development
MERR

Property development

MEER

Property development

MEER

Property development

MEER

\E+ZA=+—H0  ARRXENBLRZER
)

BRITEREEARRMBAREKER

B E DR
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e AR MR

—F2-NF+=ZA=+—H

44. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

(@)

In January 2019, the Group acquired land use rights of
two separate land parcels each located in Zhengzhou
City, Henan Province, the PRC through listing for
sale process in its respective public auction held by
Land and Resources Bureau of Zhengzhou City and
Land and Resources Bureau of Shangjie District,
Zhengzhou City for transfer of state-owned land use
rights (i) with site area of approximately 51,395.4
sg.m. at a consideration of RMB672,600,000; and
(i) with site area of approximately 93,643.23 sqg.m.
at a consideration of RMB216,700,000, respectively.
These two land parcels are designated for residential
and commercial usages, with the term of 70 years
for residential usage and the term of 40 years for
commercial usage. The handover of the land parcel is
expected to be completed respectively no later than
the second and third quarter of 2019.

In January 2019, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement and thereafter issued USD100,000,000 8%
bonds due in 2020. The Group intended to use the
gross proceeds from the bonds for general corporate
purpose.

In January 2019, the Group entered into a share
transfer agreement to acquire a land parcel by way
of acquisition of the entire equity interest of the
company holding the land parcel at a consideration
of RMB50,000,000. The land parcel is located in
Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, the PRC with site
area of approximately 13,442.23 sqg. m, designated for
commercial usage with the term of use of 40 years.
The acquisition was completed in February 2019.

45. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

226

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2019.

45.

(@)

44, HEWEERE

RZZ—NF—F  AEESFRBNHTELER
BREMNT FEHERLERSMEERE LHFER
BARRF s ARBNERELERFPEIEMRFEH
T E AN WIBB IR 8 2 i A
EEERERED B ANL51,3054F T KEAR
¥ 672,600,0007T : K (ii)#193,643.23F F K K AR
#216,700,0007T ° 7% M 1& th 38 5 7E 1EF £ R E 15 A
®o FEFERFRATOF  WBFEAFRABI0F - %
Mg IR B IR S —NFE_FTERE=ZF
B2 AR -

T—NEF—F AEEFTY—HRERE - IR
TR ZZ -ZF 5|52 100,000,000% T8 % &
REEBBESFHITMGIEBAEE—BEER

RZZT—NFE—F  KEBEF L —HRDEERE
LAUBB IR A bR 2 A R 2 2 PR 2 7 SUE —
gt - REAARES50,000,0007T © &R
B A BN - (EHEFE4913,442.23F 5K © 38
EEREERE - FRFRAL0F - WEFEEN T
—NEZARK o

RER I R

MBBRRERZZE-NFZR T\ REE=GIERIKE

SUES



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

PBHME

Results

Revenue

Profit (loss) for the
year/period

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Profit (loss) for the
year/period

Assets and liabilities
Total assets

Total liabilities
Non-controlling interests

Equity attributable to

owners of the Company

FEHE
A (ER)

FEAG -
RRBERA
FEFER R

FE B
R (B8

BERARE

HEE
#wAaE

JEFER R

RATEAA
PEiL RE R

For the nine

Annual Report 2018
“E-)N\EER

For the year

months ended ended
31 December 31 March
2015 2015
For the year ended 31 December BZE Bz
BE+t-—A=+—HLEFE —E-AEF —E-FF
2018 2017 2016 +=HA=+—H =A=+—8H
—E-N\F —E—+tF —E-XKF IENER IEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ARETT AR®T T ARBT T FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (E35)

601,470 1,100,419 67,960 43,960 60,661
28,492 131,602 (54,214) (19,193) (55,330)
29,971 131,709 (54,200) (19,655) (54,920)

(1,479) (107) (14) 462 (410)
28,492 131,602 (54,214) (19,193) (565,330)
As at
As at 31 December 31 March
B+=A=+—8 2015
2018 2017 2016 2015 RH=T—FHEF
—E-NF —E—tF —E—-RE —E-HF =HA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AR¥TR ARBT T ARBTT FET FHET
(Restated) (Restated)
(231) (E%1)
39,569,259 18,542,750 3,311,955 2,186,089 1,168,869
(38,447,747) (17,398,865) (2,275,634) (1,094,486) (429,577)
7,053 9,581 10,704 7,178 7,568
1,128,565 1,153,466 1,047,025 1,098,781 746,860
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

FTEREYFHME
As at 31 December 2018
RZZE-N\F+_A=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location

e

No.883 North Bridge Road, Shop on 1/F. and
27 Home Office Units on various floors,
Southbank, Singapore 198785

5 Residential Units, Dakota Residences,
34-42 Dakota Crescent, Singapore 399939

30/F and Carpark No. C8 on 2nd Carparking Floor,
Wyndham Place, No.44 Wyndham Street,
Central, Hong Kong

BEEPREFHMREREER L
3018 K2k (5 5 C85R B fi

Portion B of 24/F, Wyndham Place,
No. 44 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong
BEBPREFA44RER R E P O241EBH R

Glen Carr House, 1433 North Hamilton Drive,
Derby, Kansas, 67037, USA

Glen Carr House i A= B A BEET M LT
North Hamilton Drive 14335

Oxford Grand McKinney, 2851 Orchid Drive,
McKinney, Texas, 75070, USA

Oxford Grand McKinney iz Sk Bl i By i X B fE
Orchid Drive 28515

16 Single-family rentals located in the metropolitan regions
of Texas, Florida and Georgia, USA

fIASEBB AT - fR2E M R Ea M
TR 2 1678 B AR 1 B AL

Land parcels located at 671-180-012,
013, 014, 015,016, 017,018
Desert Hot Springs, County of Riverside,
State of California, 92503, USA

i 54 SE B N1 7 /& % Desert Hot Springs 2
#38671-180-012 + 013 * 014+ 015
016017 - 018

228

REW=
Gross area
(approximately)  Effective % held
HEE EREERE
(%) (%)
28,732 sq. ft. 100%
28,732 /5 R
9,128 sq. ft. 100%
9,128 HFR
3,480 sq. ft. 100%
3,480 AR
1,680 sq. ft. 100%
1,680F 5 R
29,000 sq. ft. 99.8%
29,000 5 R
69,700 sq. ft. 99.8%
69,700 5 R
32,004 sq. ft. 99.8%
32,004F 5 R
67.5 acres/ 100%

273,200 sq. m./
2,940,300 sg. ft.

67.58,
273,200 5%/
2,940,300 75

Type
5l

Home Office
REWAE

Apartment
B

Office premises and
Car Parking space

MAEMEREM

Office premises
WREYE

Senior house
communities

REAEES

Senior house
communities

REAEES

Residential
=2

Vacant land
ZEE T

Lease term

=Ry

Long-term lease

RHEEY

Long-term lease
REBEH

Long-term lease

RHEL

Long-term lease

RHEL

Freehold
KAZERE

Freehold
KA FERE

Freehold
KA FERE

Freehold
KA FERE



CHINA

No. 1 Gangwan Road
Guancheng District
Zhengzhou City
Henan Province

PRC

FREl

FRE

AN ERE
AER 1 5%

I : EPNIERHK LR

HONG KONG

24th Floor

Wyndham Place

40-44 Wyndham Street
Central, Hong Kong

JAPAN

1-5-6 Kudan-Minami
Chiyoda-ku

Tokyo 102-0074
Japan

&E

&A

FRIRERAT 40-44 5%
ERIEERD 24 18

B&

T 102-0074
RmER
THHEHRANERE
1-5-6
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